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UNITED STATES
SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION

Washington, D.C. 20549

FORM 10-K

(Mark One)

ANNUAL REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT
OF 1934

For the fiscal year ended December 31, 2012
Or

OO0 TRANSITION REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE
ACT OF 1934
For the transition period from to
Commission file number: 001-34180
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(Exact name of registrant as specified in its chaefr)

Delaware 77-051319C
(State or other jurisdiction of (I.R.S. Employer
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South San Francisco, California 94080
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(650) 266-6000
Registrant’s telephone number, including area code
Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(b) d¢fie Act:

Title of each class Name of each exchange on which registere
Common Stock, $0.001 Par Value per St The NASDAQ Global Marke
Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(g) diie Act:
None

Indicate by check mark if the registrant is a welbwn seasoned issuer, as defined in Rule 40508 #dcurities Act of 1933, as
amended. YesO No

Indicate by check mark if the registrant is notuieed to file reports pursuant to Section 13 ort®ecl5(d) of the Securities Exchange Act
of 1934, as amended. Y€ No

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant €l filed all reports required to be filed by Sewcti® or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange
Act of 1934 during the preceding 12 months (ordiach shorter period that the registrant was reduodile such reports), and (2) has been
subject to such filing requirements for the pastia@s. Yes[x] No [

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant lnasmtted electronically and posted on its corpokdtb site, if any, every Interactive
Data File required to be submitted and posted puntsto Rule 405 of RegulationBduring the preceding 12 months (or for such grgrérioc
that the registrant was required to submit and poash files). Yes[Xl No [

Indicate by check mark if disclosure of delinquilers pursuant to Item 405 of Regulation S-K i¢ ocontained herein, and will not be
contained, to the best of the registrant’s knowtedig definitive proxy or information statementsamporated by reference in Part Il of this
Form 10-K or any amendment to this Form 10-KU

Indicate by check mark whether the registrantlezge accelerated filer, an accelerated filer, a-accelerated filer, or a smaller reporting
company. See the definitions of “large accelerdited” “accelerated filer” and “smaller reportirmmpany” in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange
Act.:

Large accelerated fil O Accelerated filel

Non-accelerated file 0 (Do not check if a smaller reporting compa Smaller reporting compa O
Indicate by check mark whether the registrantshell company (as defined in Rule 12b-2 of the Bxgje Act). Yes[Ol No
As of June 29, 2012, the last business day ofdbistrant’s most recently completed second fisoaligr, the aggregate market value of
voting and non-voting common equity held by nornliates of the registrant was approximately $28&,781 (based on a closing sale price of
$15.04 per share as reported for the NASDAQ Gldadket on June 29, 2012). For purposes of thisutation, shares of common stock
beneficially owned by the registrant’s officers aticectors as of June 29, 2012 and shares of consteak held by persons who held more
than 10% of the outstanding common stock of thesteant as of June 29, 2012 (based solely upondithd 3G filings made with the SE



have been excluded from this calculation becausk parsons may be deemed to be affiliates. Theriehkation of executive officer or
affiliate status is not necessarily a conclusivieedrination for other purposes.

The number of shares of the registrant's commockst$0.001 par value per share, outstanding aelfuary 28, 2013 was 25,274,351.

DOCUMENTS INCORPORATED BY REFERENCE
Portions of the registrant’s definitive Proxy Sta@nt relating to its 2013 Annual Meeting of Stodkless are incorporated by reference
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Special Note Regarding Forward-looking Statementsral Industry Data

This Form 10-K contains forward-looking statemehts are based on our management’s beliefs andnasisins and on information
currently available to our management. The forwianking statements are contained principally ingketions entitled “Business,” “Risk
factors,” and “Management’s discussion and analysfsancial condition and results of operationsdrward-looking statements include
information concerning our possible or assumedréutasults of operations, business strategies)ding plans, competitive position, industry
environment, potential growth opportunities, anel ¢ffects of competition. Forward-looking statersantlude statements that are not
historical facts and can be identified by termshsag “anticipates,” “believes,” “could,” “seeks 8stimates,” “expects,” “intends,” “may,”
“plans,” “potential,” “predicts, “projects,” “shod|” “will,” “would,” or similar expressions and theegatives of those terms.

” w ” o« ” o«

Forward-looking statements involve known and unknaisks, uncertainties, and other factors that weyse our actual results,
performance, or achievements to be materially diffefrom any future results, performance, or agieents expressed or implied by the
forward-looking statements. We discuss these iiskgeater detail in the section entitled “Riskttas” and elsewhere in this Form K0-Given
these uncertainties, you should not place undigned on these forward-looking statements.

Forward-looking statements represent our managésnaeiliefs and assumptions only as of the datéisfRorm 10K. Except as require
by law, we assume no obligation to update thesgdt-looking statements, or to update the reasosbresults could differ materially from
those anticipated in these forward-looking statesyesven if new information becomes available mftiture. You should read this Form 10-K
completely and with the understanding that ouradtuture results may be materially different frevhat we expect.

“Access Array,” “BioMark,” “C, ,” “DELTAgene,” “Dynanic Array,” “Digital Array,” “EP1,” “FC1,” “FLEXsix,” “Fluidigm,” the
Fluidigm logo, “MSL,” “NanoFlex,” “qdPCR,” “SINGULAR,” and “SNPtype’are trademarks or registered trademarks of Fluidigrporation
Other service marks, trademarks and trade namesedfto in this Form -K are the property of their respective owni
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PART |

ITEM 1. BUSINESS
Overview

We develop, manufacture, and market microfluidistesns for growth markets, such as single-cell gécmmapplied genotyping, and
sample preparation for targeted resequencing gtifénscience and agricultural biotechnology, @-Bio, industries. Our proprietary
microfluidic systems consist of instruments andstonables, including integrated fluidic circuits,IBCs, assays, and other reagents. These
systems are designed to significantly simplify ekpental workflow, increase throughput, and redoests, while providing the excellent data
quality demanded by customers. In addition, ouppetary technology enables genetic analysis thatany instances was previously
impractical. We actively market four microfluidigstems, including thirteen different commercial #6r nucleic acid analysis, as well as
three families of assay chemistries, to leadinglawdc institutions, clinical laboratories, and phaceutical, biotechnology, and Ag-Bio
companies. We have sold approximately 685 systeragstomers in over 30 countries worldwide.

To achieve and exploit advances in life scienceaesh, Ag-Bio, pharmaceutical and biotechnologygdtavelopment, and clinical
research, laboratories need robust systems thaedalgh-throughput and simpler workflows at dexsed costs. Our microfluidic systems are
designed to overcome many of the limitations ofuggtiional laboratory systems by integrating a washber of fluidic components on a single
microfabricated IFC. Our technology enables outamers to perform and measure thousands of sopdtisti biochemical reactions on
samples smaller than the content of a single walile utilizing minute volumes of reagents and skwpOur scalable systems enable rapid
preparation of multiple samples in parallel for taggneration DNA sequencing, as well as the ismhatprocessing, and gene expression
profiling of individual cells at low cost.

We have successfully commercialized our BioMarlgNark HD, and EP1 systems for genetic analysis@usingle-Cell Auto Prep
system for single-cell sample preparation for tledegjene expression and mRNA sequencing, and ates&dArray system for sample
preparation for targeted next-generation DNA sequmgn Researchers and clinicians have successmilyloyed our products to help achieve
breakthroughs in a variety of fields, includingglgrcell gene expression, gene regulation, gewatiation, cellular function, and applied
genetics. These include using our microfluidic syt to help detect life-threatening mutations imcea cells, discover cancer associated
biomarkers, analyze the genetic composition ofviiddial stem cells, and assess the quality of aljui@al products, such as seeds or livestock.
We believe our Access Array system resolves ecafitivorkflow bottleneck that exists in all commailaiext-generation DNA sequencing
platforms and provides fast, simple, low-cost prapan of samples for targeted resequencing. Intiatd our C, SingleCell Auto Prep systel
provides an easy and highly reproducible samplpgyegion workflow, enabling rapid exploration ofigure attributes of individual cells
without the technical variability and costs of mahworkflows. We expect that the versatility of auicrofluidic technology will enable us to
develop additional applications across a wide waoé markets.

We have grown our total revenue from $33.6 millior2010 to $52.3 million in 2012. Our product mardas increased from 62% in
2010 to 70% in 2012. We have incurred significattlasses since our inception, including net logge 9.0 million in 2012.

Our Target Markets
The current markets for our products include lf@sce research, clinical research, and Ag-Bio.

Life Science Research

Our primary area of focus within life science re@sbads genetic analysis, the study of genes and filmections. The sum total of the
hereditary material of an organism is known agésome, which is commonly
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organized into functional units known as genes.lysis of variations in genomes, genes, and geneitgdh and between organisms can
provide tremendous insight into their health anttfioning. There are several forms of genetic asiglin use today, including gene expressior
analysis, genotyping, and DNA sequencing.

Gene expression and genotyping are studied thrawgimbination of various technology platforms ttizracterize gene function and
genetic variation. These platforms often rely otyp®rase chain reaction, or PCR, amplificationeéoerate exponential copies of a DNA
sample to provide sufficient signal to facilitatetelction. Real-time quantitative PCR, or real-tgfRCR, is a more advanced form of PCR that
makes it possible to identify the number of comEBNA present in a sample.

The scale of genetic research varies widely. Atemd researchers sometimes examine a limited nuofilgenetic variations in a
relatively small population. At the other end, mehers may perform genomgde association studies where hundreds of thowsahpossibl
genetic variations are examined across thousan@msiof thousands of samples. Researchers ahg abie to discover scientifically relevant
information by examining just a few genetic vanas because of the inherent complexity of bioldgigatems. In contrast, the result of many
genome-wide association studies is simply the ifieation of a more limited set of genetic variat®that need to be examined in a larger
population. As a result, some of the most prodedife science research is done at a mid-multipteade, where tens or hundreds of genetic
variations are examined in hundreds or thousandamples.

We target the following specific areas of life saie research, and our products are used for mitiplex research or applications of a
similar scale:

Gene Expression Analysis and Genotypifigpically, the process of gene expression inv@hlie generation of ribonucleic acid copies,
or RNA copies, of specific regions of the genometprocess known as transcription. Such RNA camieknown as messenger RNASs, or
MmRNAs. mRNAs may then be translated by the cell amprotein which may affect the activity of thdl ce the larger organism. One prevalent
form of gene expression analysis measures thesl@fehRNA in an individual cell to determine hovethctivity of particular genes or sets of
genes affect the cell or the organism.

Genotyping involves the analysis of DNA variati@tsoss individual genomes. There are multiple foofngriants, including single
nucleotide polymorphism, or SNPs, insertion-delegicand copy number variation. A common applicatibgenotyping focuses on analyzing
SNPs. In SNP genotyping studies, statistical aealgse performed to determine whether a SNP opgsb&NPs are associated with a
particular genetic trait, such as propensity fdisease. Haplotyping is an application of genotgpmwhich SNPs located at different loci on
the same chromosome are studied simultaneously.

Our BioMark HD system performs, among other funtsichigh-throughput gene expression analysis, dwetutargeted single-cell gene
expression analysis, and SNP genotyping, and olirsiggtem performs, among other functions, SNP genaj. Competing technologies, st
as pre-formatted arrays, bead arrays, and micrgmraae limited and inflexible because they requireleic acid sequences on the device to be
pre-specified when the chip or other consumabtedaufactured. In contrast, our microfluidic systeatisw researchers to utilize and easily
tailor their assays to meet their experimental sgethich can shorten the analytical cycle for aegigtudy to hours instead of weeks. We
believe our systems also offer meaningful costregaszbecause they operate on nanoliter volumesagerdas and samples, which represents a
small percentage of the amount required by conoratisystems.

Single-Cell GenomicsSingle€ell genomics is a rapidly emerging area of gemesearch that requires specialized tools and tgabs tc
harvest and process individual cells with suffitisensitivity and reproducibility. Genetic reseatgpically involves the analysis of samples
containing thousands of cells and many differefittgpes. When such samples are studied usingtivadi gene expression analysis, the re:
obtained reflect a rough average of the activitplbdf the cells in the sample. Recently, researsihave
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demonstrated that this approach often masks dritifarences in gene expression levels betwederdift cell types and even between
individual cells of the same type. In additiontte fields of in-vitro fertilization and stem cedlsearch, researchers are often required to
examine single cells because the number of cefldadble for analysis is inherently limited. The pef this research has often been
constrained because the small amount of genetierrabin a single cell prevents conventional methfsxdm analyzing the activity of more th
a few genes. Furthermore, large numbers of sanapéerequired to confidently determine the hetereges signatures of sub-populations of
cells and large research studies like these camdebitively expensive or impractical when perfaunon conventional platforms. Single-cell
genomic researchers need to conduct a high nunfilbests on a large volume of individual cells, whin combination translates into thousa
of experiments that must be accurate, fast, singpid,low cost.

The integrated workflow and precision of our systemable researchers to perform gene expressitysanan single cells on a scale t
is impractical with conventional systems due todbst, experimental variability, and the large anmtaf biological sample required to initiate
the study. We launched our,C Single-Cell Auto Rgstem in June 2012, which applies our technologgiong other things, rapidly and
reliably isolate, process, and profile individuells for genomic analysis. Together, ouf C and BiovHD systems improve single-cell
analytic workflow for expression analysis by allogyiresearchers to extract, reverse transcribe,ifgmghd ultimately detect and analyze cell
activity using just one technology, reducing theataility caused by multi-platform technical errors

In addition, our systems are able to precisely @pahe limited amount of sample material extialetédrom a biological specimen into
individual cells, and then accurately assay each sudividual cell. The higlthroughput of our systems allows researchers ttyamghousanc
of cells in this manner. For example, our BioMarR Blystem can deliver over 46,000 single cell datatp in one day and high-throughput
configurations of our system can generate overQ0data points per day. Providing the combinatibhnigh-throughput and data quality
necessary for targeted single-cell gene expressiatysis presents significant challenges that viev®most conventional systems are unable
to address in a practical manner.

Sample Preparation for Next-Generation DNA Sequencihrough a process known as nucleic acid sequgnasearchers are able to
determine the particular order of nucleotide basascomprise all or a portion of a particular geeo For example, in the last few years,
researchers have begun to use next-generation @desicers to rapidly and cost-effectively sequ@actons of genomes and identify
genetic variations that correlate with particulaaacteristics. Next-generation DNA sequencingrietdgies have dramatically reduced the
cost and processing time for genetic sequencingiodoe utilized effectively, require large numbefsinique samples.

Next-generation DNA sequencing requires new samg@paration methodologies, including adding idéedifon tags to each segment of
each individual sample that is to be sequenceds&kample preparation and tagging processes, kaswarget enrichment, are complex and
require precise measurement and manipulation ofitmiquantities of DNA and reagents. Using conveationethods, this preparation and
tagging must be done separately for each individaaiple being processed, a laborious processdhit take several days or more for a
typical validation study. The streamlined workflawd flexibility of our Access Array system addréss critical workflow bottleneck by
allowing samples from up to 48 individuals to begared and tagged in approximately four hours.

In addition, researchers are increasingly analyttiegtranscriptome at greater depth to uncovermeghanisms of cell development,
metabolism, and disease using a technique calledAgequencing. Most standard methods for analythiegranscriptome, such as
microarrays and next-generation DNA sequencinginapeactical for single-cell analysis because thes@nologies require large numbers of
cells for analysis and are based on complex wonldlthat are low-throughput and variable. The mRN4uencing workflow on our €
Single-Cell Auto Prep system was specifically ofitizd for high-throughput single-cell analysis amdvides an easy, end-to-end workflow for
detailed transcriptome analysis of up to 96 singls to rapidly study differential transcriptomefiles of diverse cell populations.
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Digital PCR. Digital PCR allows researchers to detect nuaeid sequences that are present in sample contiensr¢hat are too small
to be accurately measured by conventional methdigial PCR typically relies on standard PCR tecfuas, but increases their sensitivity by
dividing a sample into hundreds or thousands oflemsamples and then performing a PCR assay dmssh sample. The ability to count the
presence or absence of amplification in this agsagat allows for absolute quantitative measurencapgbilities. As a result, digital PCR can
perform more precise detection of rare mutationgpopy number measurements, as compared to realei?CR.

We were the first to introduce and successfully mmntialize a digital PCR system. With our BioMarRldnd EP1 systems, digital PCR
has been used for a number of different applicatiorcluding absolute quantification, determinatidrgenomic copy number variation, and
detection of rare mutations. We were also the forstommercialize a qdPCR system that combinesallignd quantitative real-time PCR to
provide real-time analysis of digital PCR reactianh high levels of throughput and precision.

Agricultural Biotechnology

Genetic analysis technigues, such as SNP genotypémptyping by sequencing, and genotyping by tieed-PCR analysis, have become
increasingly useful in Ag-Bio applications, incladiwildlife population studies, agricultural quglitontrol, and commercial genetic
engineering and identification. Ag-Bio customerguiee systems that can quickly and accurately aeadylarge number of samples, such as
tissue from livestock populations or seeds fromaapction lot, in a cost-efficient manner. Dueliese demands, commercially viable genetic
analysis tools in Ag-Bio must be inexpensive, éasyse, and able to provide extremely high-throughp

The high-throughput, streamlined, and flexible wiak of our systems allows customers to genotypeteof samples in less time and
cost than with traditional systems. Our platformparsthe breadth of Ag-Bio applications, from lowrtid SNP genotyping for parentage
identification and marker-assisted selection onERt and BioMark HD systems, to targeted resequgrfor novel SNP discovery and
validation of our Access Array system.

Clinical Research

Recent advances in genetic analysis technologinhareasingly being used for clinical applicatiomechniques such as SNP genotyping,
gene expression analysis, and other genetic ctarlstudies are used to identify disease susaktibnd to diagnose, classify, and monitor
disease progression. Research relating to moledidgnostic tests based on measuring these genetlers have the potential to be much
more accurate and robust than conventional diagsoMalidating these research findings and traimglahem into clinically available tests
often requires life science automation systemsaragble to measure multiple biomarkers efficieintla large number of patient samples.

Our existing microfluidic systems are able to measertain nucleic acid biomarkers that are comgnaekd in these tests, and in the
future, we expect to develop additional systemsm¢éasure other relevant biomarkers. We believetitahigh-throughput, flexibility, and
simplified workflow of our microfluidic systems ctibmake them an attractive solution for validatargd commercializing a wide range of
molecular diagnostic tests being developed by rekeas. Our microfluidic systems have not beenrekar approved by the U.S. Food and
Drug Administration, or FDA, for use in any moleautiagnostic tests and we cannot currently mahesh for the purpose of performing
molecular diagnostic tests.
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Products

We actively market four microfluidic systems, inding thirteen different commercial IFCs for nuclaitd analysis, as well as three
families of assay chemistries. Our systems aredoas®ne or more IFCs designed for particular @pgibns and include specialized reagents,
instrumentation, and software. All of our systemdude IFC controllers (either stand-alone or endieel)l that control the activation of valves
and loading of reagents onto the IFC. Each IFCrotiat comes with software to control IFC and instient operations for particular
applications. We further provide an extensive $gtrotocols and application notes with all of oystems to support specific scientific
applications. All of our systems are designed tadmpatible with standard laboratory automationigment.

Our primary product offerings are summarized intdige below:

Product

Instruments
BioMark HD System

C 1 Single-Cell Auto Prep System

EP1 System

Access Array System

Consumables

Dynamic Array IFCs
48.48 Dynamic Array IFC

96.96 Dynamic Array IFC

High Precision 96.96 Genotyping IFC

Product Description

Applications

Realtime PCR instrument, bundled analy
software, and chip loading platforms

Sample preparation system for single-cell
genomics that facilitates the isolation,
processing, and profiling of individual cells

Endypoint PCR instrument, bundled analy
software, and chip loading platforms

Sample preparation system for targeted
resequencing that facilitates parallel
amplification of up to 48 amplicons across
48 unique sample

IFC based on matrix architecture, allowing
users to individually assay 48 samples
against 48 reagents, generating up to 2,304
real-time gPCR reactions simultaneously

IFC based on matrix architecture, allowing
users to individually assay 96 samples
against 96 reagents, generating up to 9,216
real-time gPCR reactions simultaneously

IFC that enables high sample throughput
which can deliver more than 36,000 data
points in a day with a minimum call rate of
99.9%, a level of precision that is vital to
production and human genomics
laboratories

5

SNP Genotyping, Digital
PCR

and Gene Expression,
including

Targeted Single-Cell
Gene

Expressior

Gene Expression,
including

Targeted Single-Cell
Gene

Expression, and Single-
Cell

mRNA Sequencini

SNP Genotyping and
Digital
PCR

Targeted Resequencing
with

Next-Generation DNA
Sequencing

Real-time gPCR, SNP
Genotyping and Gene
Expression, including
Targeted

Single-Cell Gene
Expressior

Real-time gPCR, SNP
Genotyping and Gene
Expression, including
Targeted

Single-Cell Gene
Expressior

SNP Genotyping
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Product

192.24 Dynamic Array IFC for Genotyping

192.24 Dynamic Array IFC for Gene
Expression (expected to be commercially
available in March 2013

FLEXsix Gene Expression IFC (expected to
be commercially available in May 2013)

Digital Array IFCs
12.765 Digital Array IFC

48.770 Digital Array IFC

qdPCR 37K IFCs

C 1 Single-Cell Auto Prep Array IFCs

Access Array IFCs

Product Description

Applications

IFC that allows users to genotype 192
samples against 24 assays in a single run,
generating up to 4,608 parallel reacti

IFC that enables high sample throughput of
576 samples across 24 genes in an 8-hour
day

IFC that utilizes a new architecture which
incorporates six 12 X 12 partitions that can
be organized in any configuration, in up to
six separate experimental rL

IFC based on partitioning architecture,
allowing users to divide samples into up to
765 chambers in each of the 12 panels fc
to 9,180 reactions per IFC

IFC based on partitioning architecture,
allowing users to divide samples into up to
770 chambers in each of the 48 panels fc
to 36,960 reactions per IFC

IFC that combines digital and quantitative
real-time PCR to provide real-time analysis
of up to 36,960 digital PCR reactions per
IFC with high-throughput and precision,
performing at a 99.9% success rate, whic
critical in high-sensitivity applications, such
as rare mutation detection, GMO testing,
and aneuploidy detectic

IFC that captures and prepares individuals
cells for genomic analysis, and uses
integrated thermal and pneumatic control
nanoliter scale to enable the performance of
all steps of the single-cell gene expression
without intervention workflow

IFC that facilitates parallel amplification,
barcoding, and tagging of 48 unique sam
and is designed to enable recovery of
reaction products from the IFC for
sequencing

6

SNP Genotyping

Gene Expression

Gene Expression

Digital PCR, Gene
Expression,

Copy Number Variation
and

Mutation Detectior

Digital PCR, Gene
Expression,

Copy Number Variation
and

Mutation Detectior

Digital PCR

Sample Preparation for
Targeted

Single-Cell Gene
Expression

Targeted Resequencing
with

Nexi-Generation DNA
Sequencing
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Product Product Description Applications
DELTAgene and SNPtype Assays Custom designed assays for specific nucleic  Gene Expression and
acid regions of interest, providing optimized  SNP
assays, content, and services to users of Genotyping

BioMark systems at lower costs as
compared to other commercially available

chemistries

Access Array Target-Specific Primers Allows for fast, simple and inexpensive Targeted Resequencing
preparation of up to 480 amplicons per with
sample at a time Nexl-Generation DNA

Sequencing

The BioMark HD System

Our BioMark HD system performs high-throughput gerpression analysis, targeted single-cell geneesspon analysis, SNP
genotyping, and digital PCR using Fluidigm DELTAgesnd SNPtype assays, other chemistries, and iflynamic Array and Digital
Array IFCs.

The BioMark HD system includes retilre PCR device components that comprise a fastdiecycler for PCR and a fluorescence rei
that can detect the results of reactions over titne.IFC controllers for the BioMark HD system fuliutomate the setup of Dynamic Array
Digital Array IFCs for real-time gPCR-based expents and include software for implementing andkirag experiments. Our BioMark HD
reader controls the PCR process and detects thefloent signals generated using a white lightcep@mission and excitation filters, precis
lenses, a fast thermal cycler and a digital cam&i@also offer various software packages that pledata analysis, annotation, and archival
following data collection. Our analysis software@eals data as a color-coded map of every positiothenFC, such as for amplification curves,
and as numeric tabular data.

The C ; Single-Cell Auto Prep System

Our C; Single€ell Auto Prep system enables rapid and relialdai®n, processing, and profiling of individuallsgor genomic analys
for key applications, such as targeted singlegetie expression and single-cell MRNA analysis,gusim C; Single-Cell Auto Prep Array
IFCs and G reagent kit. OurC Single-Cell Auto Psggtem includes software that features pipetengpiates, easy import/export
functionality, predefined experiment layouts, arsk&ection of data viewing options. Coupled with BioMark HD system, the C Single-Cell
Auto Prep system streamlines gene expression asiatysupport up to 96 individual cells across i@®scripts for candidate gene studies or
quality control of complementary DNA, or cDNA, ldmies prior to mRNA sequencing.

The EP1 System

The EP1 system performs SNP genotyping using FJoidsNPtype assays or TagMan assays, and end-pgital #CR using TagMan
assays, and Fluidigm Dynamic Array and Digital ArtBCs. Because of its high-throughput and focu$hbif® genotyping, the EP1 system is &
preferred choice by our Ag-Bio customers for figtgplementation.

The IFC controllers for the EP1 system fully autterthe setup of IFCs for end-point SNP genotypind digital PCR experiments, and
include software for implementing and tracking expents. Our EP1 reader detects fluorescent siggaisrated in our IFCs using a light
source, emission and excitation filters, precidemses, and a digital camera. Our FC1 cycler perddast thermal cycling for IFCs and enable:
up to 12 Dynamic Array IFCs to be run per day. Wse affer various software packages that provida daalysis, annotation, and archival
following data collection. Our analysis softwar@ais data as color-coded map of every position ercttip, cluster maps showing results for
every assay, and as numeric tabular data.
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The Access Array System

The Access Array system is used with the AccesayAlffC to enable automated sample preparationpbarg, and tagging of targeted
resequencing libraries, at a cost of $10 per sampless. The Access Array system can be usednjuection with our BioMark HD system to
provide real-time monitoring of amplification steps

The Access Array system is comprised of two IFCtiadiers and a single stand-alone thermal cyclais Bystem can load Access Array
IFCs, amplify and tag the regions of interest, esmbver the sample for loading into a next-genemadNA sequencer. We provide optimized
barcoding primers, or Access Array Barcode Libarfer use with Roche, Life Technologies, and llimasequencing platforms. When used
with the Access Array IFC, the barcode library dealthe user to pool products of different sampdesform amplification of all samples in
parallel, and then sequence the pooled samplesiagla sample. We also offer the Access Array €anService to provide validated custom
primer sets for users.

Technology

Our products are based on a tiered set of relatgutiptary technologies that we have either dewedadpternally or licensed from third
parties.

Multi-Layer Soft Lithography

Our IFCs are manufactured using a technology knasvmulti-layer soft lithography, or MSL technolodysing MSL technology, we are
able to create valves, chambers, channels, and ftufdic components on our IFCs at high densitye Wémbine these components in complex
arrangements that allow nanoliter quantities atifor drops to be precisely manipulated withinl#h@. Unlike most prior microfluidic
technologies, our IFCs do not rely on electricityggnetism, or similar approaches to control fluovement. Rather, they control fluid flow
with valves. The most important components on &@d are our NanoFlex valves, which are createdibéyrttersection of two channels on
adjacent layers. When the valve is open, fluichig o flow through the lower or “flow” channel. Wh the upper or “control” channel is
pressurized, the material separating the two cHanmeeflected into the lower channel, closingthbe and stopping fluid flow. If pressure is
removed from the control channel, the channelgmetutheir original form, and the valve is agapea. The elastomeric properties of
microfluidic IFC cores allow our NanoFlex valvesftom a reliable seal and cycle through millionsopgnings and closings.

The elastomer we currently use for our commerdaiatipcts is a form of silicone rubber known as pohethylsiloxane, or PDMS, but v
have researched other materials with different @rigs for specific purposes. PDMS is transpamghich allows the fluids and their contents
to be easily monitored with a variety of existirgfioal technologies, such as bright field, phasarest, or fluorescence microscopy. The gas
permeability of PDMS allows the reliable meterirfdloids with near picoliter precision by eliminag the bubble problems encountered by
most other microfluidic technologies. In essence ane able to pump fluids into closed reaction diens at sufficient pressure to drive any air
out of the chamber directly through the chambetsvahis gas permeability also supports maintenaficells in cell culture conditions.
PDMS offers a favorable environment for many biguolwl reactions, including PCR and cell culture.

We have developed commercial manufacturing prosdssfabricate valves, channels, vias, and chambighsdimensions in the ten to
100 micron range, at high density and with highdgeFor research purposes, we have created dewitteboth substantially smaller and lar
features. Although our manufacturing is based anddrd semiconductor manufacturing technologiedectthiques, we have also developed
novel processes for mold fabrication that enablesnpoduction of high density IFCs with nanolitetume features. These processes are
sufficiently robust such that new microfluidic dgrss can often be built using existing fabricatiechniques, allowing for rapid innovation of
new IFC designs without needing manufacturing pseae equipment changes.
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I ntegrated Fluidic Circuits

Our IFCs incorporate several different types ohtestogy that together enable us to use MSL teclyyolo rapidly design and deploy
new microfluidic applications.

Microfluidic Components The first level of our IFC technology is a libyasf components that perform basic microfluidicdtians. We
have proven designs for numerous elements, suptraps, mixers, separation columns, control logicl, seaction chambers. These are readil
integrated to create circuits capable of perforn@ngide range of biochemical reactions. Even whénniecessary to integrate multiple
elements to perform a particularly complex reacttbe area taken up on a circuit for a single ieads small compared to our typical overall
IFC core size of three centimeters by three certéirseAs a result, we are routinely able to devékips that perform thousands of reactions
square centimeter.

Architectures The second level of our IFC technology compribesarchitectures we have designed to exploit bilityato conduct
thousands of reactions on a single IFC. The firshese is the Dynamic Array IFC, a matrix architee that allows multiple different samples
and multiple different reagents to be loaded ordmgle IFC and then combined so that there isalaied reaction between each sample and
each reagent. The primary advantage of this athite is that each sample and reagent is only bdrig} a pipette once per IFC rather than
once per reaction, as is the case with conventichologies. For example, a single 96.96 Dynakniay IFC can perform a total of 9,216
unique reactions between 96 samples and 96 reagithtenly 192 pipetting steps, compared to apprately 18,432 pipetting steps with
conventional technologies. In addition, the confidion of the IFC can be changed. For instance18@r24 Dynamic Array IFC for
genotyping allows reactions between 192 sample4rabssays. Our targeted next-generation DNA sadugisample preparation architecture
allows us to bring similar benefits to reactiondaktrequire export of the reaction product and nam@plex (multi-step) reactions. For
example, our Access Array IFC amplifies 48 gened@ions on each of 48 samples and exports eachnaegample. Our Digital Array IFC
architecture allows a sample to be split into heddrto hundreds of thousands of salaples. Separate reactions can then be condutieait
of the smaller sub-samples. Our cell processoiitaathre automates cell seeding, culture, combitetdosing with multiple reagents, and
export for further analysis. For example, our C gBrCell Auto Prep Array IFC enables the capture of ynsingle cells from a flow stream,
well as the execution of molecular biology protecoh each individual cell in parallel.

Interface and Handling CarriersThe third level of our IFC technology involvegtimteraction of our IFCs with the actual laborgtor
environment. Our IFCs are built on specially des@jimput frames that are compatible with most comignased laboratory systems, including
existing robatic pipetting systems, bar code resdaate handling systems, and other equipmentcoheelastomeric block at the center of
IFC is surrounded by the frame, that delivers sasiphd reagents to the blocks. The frames, olecgralso transmit the pressure and control
signals from our instruments to the IFC.

Technological Advancedn our research and development laboratory, we bailt and tested fully functional Digital ArrdifCs capabl
of performing 200,000 assays, over five-fold mdvant our 48.770 Digital Array IFC. We also desigaedFC architecture and built a system
to automate laboratory protocols that require anmare column chromatography steps. The IFC caermgés high quality sequencing libraries
for bacterial and human DNA samples using a comialéravailable sequencing library preparation Kkit.

Software and | nstrumentation

We have developed instrumentation technology td kzmples and reagents onto our IFCs and to caritbmonitor reactions within ¢
IFCs. Our line of IFC controllers consists of connai@ pneumatic components and both custom and egial electronics. They apply
precise control of multiple pressures to move flandl control valve states in a microfluidic IFC.r@®ioMark HD system consists of a custom
fast thermal cycler packaged with a sophisticakeor&scence imaging system. Our FC1 cycler is tooushermal cycler capable of very rapid
cycling: 45 cycles in 30 minutes. Our EP1 instrutrisem fluorescence reader designed for end-
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point imaging, suitable for genotyping and digR&R applications. All of these instruments aregtesil to be easily introduced into standard
automated lab environments.

We have developed specialized software to managj@malyze the unusually large amounts of data medilby our systems. Our
BioMark HD system’s gene expression analysis safveaitomatically measures individual real-time gR€&ttions from fluorescent images
and generates amplification threshold crossingeslallowing researchers to readily perform conephetrmalized comparative gene
expression analysis across large numbers of sarapteassays. Similarly, our SNP genotyping anablitsvare automatically clusters
fluorescent intensities from individual genotypaatons and makes genotype calls across indivigugimultiple IFC runs. Our digital PCR
analysis software automatically calculates absalamy number and copy number ratios from digitaRR&Xperiments. Our melting curve
analysis software supports genotyping from datkectdd on the BioMark HD system.

More recently, we developed bioinformatic tools $orgle-cell genomics for our £ Single-Cell Auteeprand BioMark HD systems,
called the SINGULAR Analysis Toolset, to facilitdtee analysis and visualization of single-cell gerpression data.

Assays Design and Protocols

Our DELTAgene and SNPtype assay products consessdy design and custom content delivery systengehe expression and
genotyping, respectively. We believe our assaygiheand content delivery systems represent an ingonewt over conventional pre-defined
panels by allowing customization based on cellplthways or biological areas of interest while lang up-front costs of experiments. These
offerings provide low-cost alternatives to cheniéstisuch as TagMan, and allow customers to use ilF@®re flexible ways. By specifying
genes or SNP sites of interest and matching themgion specific primers, customers using our &gssystems are able to amplify specific
genetic regions of interest at reduced cost witlsaugtificing data quality.

PCR assay reagents need to be specific to thetgageds of interest. Since our systems analyze rgang targets at once, the process of
designing a set of assays may delay the implementexperiments or require the use of expensivedpsigned assays. To address this issue,
we developed a computational method for rapid-R@R assay design. This process allows us to pravis®mers with validated assays for
their targets of interest. We have commercialitasi $ervice for our BioMark HD, EP1, and Accessafrsystem customers through our
DELTAgene and SNPtype assays and our Access Arieyet-Specific primers.

We also provide protocols to guide our custometiénuse of our products with commonly availabldeuolar biology reagents for the
analysis of their specific sample types.

Sales and Marketing

We distribute our microfluidic systems through direct sales force and support organizations lacetéorth America, Europe, and
Asia-Pacific, and through distributors or salesragn several European, Latin American, MiddletBas and Asia-Pacific countries. Our
domestic and international sales force informsaourent and potential customers of current prodtferings, new product introductions,
technological advances in our microfluidic systeand workflows, and notable research being perforlbnyedur customers or ourselves. As our
primary point of contact in the marketplace, olesdorce focuses on delivering a consistent margehessage and high level of customer
service, while also attempting to help us bettetaustand our customer needs. As of December 32, 284 had 82 people employed in sales,
sales and technical support, and marketing, inolydP sales representatives and technicasples specialists located in the field. We intey
significantly expand our sales, support, and mangetfforts in the future.

Our sales and marketing efforts are targeted at#bry directors and principal investigators aidi@g companies and institutions who
need reliable life science automation solutionglieir business or commercial purposes. We sekictease awareness of our products amon
our target customers through regular contact,
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participation in tradeshows, customer site semjrezademic conferences, and dedicated companyrgab@ttended by prominent users and
prospective customers from various institutions.

Our systems are relatively new to the market ptawkrequire a capital investment. As a result,salgs process often involves numerou:
interactions and demonstrations with multiple peapithin an organization. Some potential custoncersluct in-depth evaluations of the
system including running experiments on our systechcompeting systems. In addition, in most coastrsales to academic or governmental
institutions require participation in a tender psg involving preparation of extensive documentiadiod a lengthy review process. As a result
of these factors and the budget cycles of our awsts, our sales cycle, the time from initial cohtaith a customer to our receipt of a purchast
order, can often be 12 months or longer.

Single-Cell Genomics Collaborations

In May 2012, in collaboration with the Broad Insti&, we announced the launch of the Single-Cello@gcs initiative, or SCGi, a new
research center dedicated to accelerating the al@weint of research methods and discoveries in méiamsngle-cell genomics. The SCGi is
expected to facilitate collaborative developmensimgle-cell genomics researchers of novel single-microfluidic approaches for gene
expression profiling, RNA/DNA sequencing, and epigtic analysis, and to develop and disseminateapplication workflows, reagents,
bioinformatics tools, and data sets to the grestemtific community. The SCGi is located at the&t Institute in Cambridge, Massachusetts,
and will feature a complete suite of our singld-tmbls, protocols, and technologies, most notalhéyBioMark HD system.

In December 2012, in collaboration with the Gendnstitute of Singapore, or GIS, an institute uniher umbrella of the Agency for
Science, Technology and Research, we announcesbthielishment of the Single-Celmics Center, or SCOC, the first research centésia
exclusively dedicated to accelerating the undedstenof how individual cells work, and how diagr®and treatment might be enhanced
through insight derived from single cells. The SCi®@xpected to provide integrated analytics fogk-cell genomic applications to the
region’s single-cell genomics researchers. The S@ated in dedicated laboratory space at Géffitias in Biopolis, Singapore, and will
feature the full capabilities of our C Single-Cailito Prep and BioMark HD systems for targeted siragll gene expression analytics and
validation.

Customers

We have sold our € Single-Cell Auto Prep, BioM@lgMark HD, EP1, and Access Array systems to leg@icademic institutions,
clinical laboratories, and pharmaceutical, biotextbgy and Ag-Bio companies. We have sold approxayad85 systems to customers in over
30 countries. No single customer represented ninanme 10% of our total revenue for 2012, 2011, o201

Manufacturing

Our microfluidic systems and instrumentation fomroercial sale, as well as for internal researchdmatlopment purposes, are
manufactured at our facilities in Singapore. We aenufacture IFCs for research and developmenbandssay chemistries at our
headquarters in South San Francisco, California.

We established our primary manufacturing facilitySingapore to take advantage of the skilled waddpsupplier and partner network,
lower operating costs, and government support aviglthere. Our microfluidic system manufacturinggess includes photolithography and
fabrication technologies that are very similaritose used in the fabrication of semiconductor chiyssa result, we are able to hire from a pool
of skilled manpower created by the existing semilcmtor industry in Singapore. Similarly, the Singapsemiconductor industry has created
broad network of potential suppliers and partnerofir manufacturing operations. We are able tallpsource a large proportion of the raw
materials required in our processes and have Hdaeriacollaborate with local engineering companéedevelop enabling technologies chip
fabrication.
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Our manufacturing operations in Singapore have Bapported by grants from the Singapore Economic@ment Board, or EDB,
which provides incentive grant payments for redeadevelopment and manufacturing activity in Sirggap Our arrangements with EDB
require us to maintain manufacturing and reseandhdevelopment presence in Singapore.

We expect that our existing manufacturing capdoaitynstrumentation and IFCs is sufficient to meet needs at least through the third
quarter of 2013 and, with anticipated modificatibmsadditional capacity, through 2014. However,ave considering developing additional
capacity to ensure that all or most of our prodactsproduced by at least two different facilitige believe that having dual sources for our
products would help mitigate the potential impdca @roduction disruption at any one of our fahtand that such redundancy may be
required by our customers in the future. We havedetermined the timing or location of any addiibmanufacturing capacity.

We rely on a limited number of suppliers for carteomponents and materials used in our productdieWile are in the process of
qualifying additional sources of supply, we canpi@dict how long that qualification process wiktalf we were to lose one or more of our
limited source suppliers, it would take significéimie and effort to qualify alternative supplieik®y components in our products that are
supplied by sole or limited source suppliers ineladspecialized polymer from which our IFC coresfabricated, specialized custom camera
lenses, fiber light guides, and other componergsired for the reader of our BioMark system, spéemd pneumatic and electronic
components for our € Single-Cell Auto Prep systend certain raw materials for our DELTAgene and i€ assays and Access Array
Target-Specific primers. With respect to many aof suppliers, we are neither a major customer, norve have long term supply contracts.
These suppliers may therefore give other custonmexstls higher priority than ours, and we may nailile to obtain adequate supply in a
timely manner or on commercially reasonable terms.

Research and Development

We have assembled experienced research and deerioprams at our South San Francisco, Califormid,Singapore locations with the
scientific, engineering, software, bioinformatiaodaprocess talent that we believe is required davgrur business.

New Product and Application Development
The largest component of our current research amdldpment effort is in the areas of new produntsgew applications.

Cell Culture SystemWith the support of a grant from the Californiestitute of Regenerative Medicine, or CIRM, in ggreegate amoul
of $750,000, we have developed a prototype micidifficell culture system that enables researchtersdependently control the conditions for
multiple cell cultures, allowing sequential dosofga variety of factors and then extraction of tiedls for further analysis. In 2011, CIRM
awarded us with an additional $1.9 million granéothree years to further advance research iratkis and to deliver useable prototypes to a
limited number of stem cell research laboratories.

Assay and Reagent Developme¥ife intend to enhance our SNPtype genotyping as€dyl TAgene gene expression assays, and A
Array Target-Specific primer sets with improvedfpemance and features. For genotyping, we plamfréve our SNPtype bioinformatic
pipelines to support additional types of mutatiangrove assay design rates for difficult areathefgenome, and offer it in additional
formats. For gene expression, we intend to lowensda preparation reagents with lower costs anddoease the multiplexing to enable
analysis of larger sets of genes. We currently sttppost major third party commercial sequenciragfpifms, and we plan to provide reagents
necessary to support Access Array Target-Spediiingy sets for new major platforms as they are bipes.
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Integrated Fluidic Circuit and Instrument Architeces. We intend to develop additional products to sithan the capabilities of our
existing Dynamic Array, Digital Array and € Sing&ell Auto Prep Array IFC product families. We intkto design IFC architectures that are
more flexible and cost effective for researcherhwimaller numbers of assays or smaller numbesamples. We also plan to evaluate next-
generation instruments architectures supportingetmew IFC formats for our existing markets andhviéatures potentially suitable for clinical
markets. With respect to IFCs for use with our Ghg&-Cell Auto Prep system, we are developing tdditeonal IFCs that are optimized for
the capture of small cells, such as embryonic stelts, to support targeted single-cell gene exjwasanalysis for up to 96 gene targets and
whole transcriptome analysis, respectively. We glao to support diverse staining solutions to émahstomers to monitor cell viability, cell
type, and cell cycles on our,C Single-Cell AutofPferay IFCs.

Single-Cell Genomics Applications. In December 2042 introduced the mMRNA sequencing applicatiomonC; SingleCell Auto Prej
system, which provides researchers with an easi¢f@end workflow for detailed transcriptome anaysf up to 96 single cells to rapidly
study differential expression profiles of diversdl populations. We intend to expand the menu rflstcell applications available on our, C
Single-Cell Auto Prep system to include, among thmicro RNA and DNA analysis protocols. Our mi&NA analysis protocol is expected
to allow scientists to quantify micro RNA expressio better understand the regulation of gene aespya. Our DNA analysis protocol, with
related reagent kit and analysis tools, is expettetipport whole genome amplification from indivéd cells for DNA analysis. We also intend
to introduce a suite of software tools, includinmeo source and fully integrated software packagespecifically support single-cell analysis.
We are developing gene expression reference detafsidividual cells from diverse cell populat®that will be made to the broader scien
community and will be used to support new useningj, develop new analysis tools, and assist iregtablishment of applicable quality
standards.

Process Devel opment

The second component of our research and develdpeffert is process development. We continuouskettsp new manufacturing
processes and test methods to drive down manuiiagtoost, increase manufacturing throughput, widdmication process capability, and
support new microfluidic devices and designs. Qotqgiype fabrication facility at our Singapore méauiurer fabricates prototype IFCs
working closely with product development teams @utB San Francisco, California. This process dgmknt team’s focus is to improve
fabrication processes for the production line. Wbt in manufacturing automation, process charagesdesign modifications which
historically have significantly improved yields almivered the manufacturing costs of our IFCs.

Our research and development expenses were $1lidnh$13.9 million, and $13.0 million in 2012, 20, and 2010, respectively. As of
December 31, 2012, 58 of our employees were engagedearch and development activities.

Competition

We compete with both established and developmagedife science companies that design, manufaauaemarket instruments for
gene expression analysis, genotyping, other nuakdat detection, and additional applications. B@ameple, companies such as Affymetrix, |
Agilent Technologies, Inc., Bio-Rad Laboratories;.| lllumina, Inc., Life Technologies Corporatid&tGC Limited, Luminex Corporation,
NanoString Technologies, Inc., PerkinElmer, Inkrqugh its acquisition of Caliper Life Sciences;.)nRainDance Technologies, Inc., Ror
Applied Science (a division of Roche Diagnosticsfgoration), Sequenom, Inc., and WaferGen Biystems, Inc. have products that compe
certain segments of the market in which we sellproducts. In addition, a number of other compaaig$ academic groups are in the process
of developing novel technologies for life sciencarkets.

The life science automation industry is highly catifive and expected to grow more competitive il increasing knowledge gained
from ongoing research and development. Many ofcounpetitors are either
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publicly traded or are divisions of publicly tradesimpanies and enjoy several competitive advantagesus, including:
» significantly greater name recognitic
» greater financial and human resourc
» broader product lines and product packa
e larger sales forces and eCommerce chan
» larger and more geographically dispersed custoopgrat organizatior
» substantial intellectual property portfolic
» larger and more established customer bases anbnskaips;
» greater resources dedicated to marketing eff
» better established and larger scale manufactuapglility; anc
» greater resources and longer experience in reseactdevelopmen

We believe that the principal competitive factorour target markets include:
» cost of capital equipment and suppli
* reputation among custome
e innovation in product offering:
» flexibility and ease of us¢
» accuracy and reproducibility of results; ¢
» compatibility with existing laboratory processesmls, and method:

To successfully compete with existing products fartdre technologies, we need to demonstrate tonpiatecustomers that the cost
savings and performance of our technologies andyats, as well as our customer support capabiliéiessuperior to those of our competitors
The regular introduction of new and innovative dffgs is necessary to continue to differentiateaampany from other, larger enterprises.
Additionally, a well staffed commercial team “iretfield” is required to successfully communicate #uvantages of our products and
overcome potential obstacles to acceptance of maugts. In addition, ongoing collaborations anderships with key opinion leaders in the
genetics fields are desirable to demonstrate bwtbvation and applicability of our products. Theslationships create the need for retention ¢
a large and talented specialized staff, and ocoabjorequire the placement of products or supmies temporary basis at a customer facility
to demonstrate applicability of our tool to a sfiedgcientific application.

Intellectual Property
Strategy and Position

Our core technology originated at the Californistitiite of Technology, or Caltech, in the laboratof Professor Stephen Quake, who is
a co-founder of Fluidigm. Dr. Quake, his studeaty] their collaborators pioneered the applicatiolM 8L technology in the field of
microfluidics. In particular, Dr. Quake’s laboragateveloped technologies that enabled the productiGpecialized valves and pumps capabl
of controlling fluid flow at nanoliter volumes. bnseries of transactions, we exclusively licensethfCaltech the relevant patent filings rela
to these developments. We have also entered imlitiauhl exclusive and non-exclusive licenses #ated technologies from various
companies and academic institutions.

Our patent strategy is to seek broad patent pioteon new developments in microfluidic technol@md then later file patent
applications covering new implementations of thehtelogy and new microfluidic circuit architecturgdlizing the technology. As these
technologies are implemented and tested, we filke patent applications covering scientific methodgi@nabled by our technology.
Additionally, where appropriate, we file
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new patent applications covering instrumentatioth software that are used in conjunction with ouecnafluidic systems.

We have developed our own portfolio of issued patand patent applications directed to commerciadipcts and technologies in
development. Our portfolio covers methods and devfor isolating, culturing, and analyzing singidis; technologies for processing and
preparing DNA samples for next-generation DNA segirey; high-density and reusable IFCs for perfogrgenotyping and measuring gene
expression with massive multiplexing, and techngiee using these IFCs; and associated instrurmientahd software for controlling and
reading our IFCs and analyzing the data obtainea them. We also have over 35 patents and patefitafions pending relating to devices,
techniques, and applications for digital PCR, idalg methodologies for measuring copy number viarigand noninvasively diagnosing
prenatal genetic abnormalities.

As of February 28, 2013, we owned or licensed @& patents, most of which issued in the UnitedeStaand we had approximately .
pending patent applications worldwide, includingagximately 100 in the United States. Our pateatgehexpiration dates ranging from 2018
to 2030. The U.S. issued patents we have licensed €altech expire between 2017 and 2031 and tBeissued patents we have licensed
from other parties expire between 2019 and 2030.

The patent positions of companies like ours aregdly uncertain and involve complex legal anddatguestions. Our patents may not
enable us to obtain or keep any competitive adgent@ur pending U.S. and foreign patent applicatimay not issue as patents or may not
issue in a form that will be advantageous to ug; patents we have obtained or do obtain may bderiged by re-examination, opposition, or
other administrative proceeding, or may be chakenig litigation, and such challenges could reisuét determination that the patent is invalid.
In addition, competitors may be able to desigrra#tive methods or devices that avoid infringenafrdur patents. To the extent our
intellectual property protection offers inadequattetection, or is found to be invalid, we are exgubfo a greater risk of direct competition. If
our intellectual property does not provide adeqpatéection against our competitors’ products, @ampetitive position could be adversely
affected, as could our business. Both the pateplicapion process and the process of managing pdisputes can be time consuming and
expensive. Furthermore, the laws of some foreigmtrées may not protect our intellectual propeights to the same extent as do the laws of
the United States.

In addition to pursuing patents on our technolagy have taken steps to protect our intellectugb@ry and proprietary technology by
entering into confidentiality agreements and iietlial property assignment agreements with our @epk, consultants, corporate partners,
and, when needed, our advisors. Such agreementaohé&g enforceable or may not provide meaningfotgetion for our trade secrets or ol
proprietary information in the event of unauthodzese or disclosure or other breaches of the agretsmand we may not be able to prevent
such unauthorized disclosure. Monitoring unauttemtidisclosure is difficult, and we do not know wiestthe steps we have taken to prevent
such disclosure are, or will be, adequate.

Our commercial success may depend in part on awinfingement of the patents or proprietary rightt$hird parties. Third parties ha
asserted and may assert in the future that wenapéoging their proprietary technology without autization. Competitors may assert that our
products infringe their intellectual property rigteis part of a business strategy to impede ouessftd entry into those markets. In addition,
our competitors and others may have patents orimthe future obtain patents and claim that useunfproducts infringes these patents. We
could incur substantial costs and divert the atterf our management and technical personnelfending against any of these claims. Pa
making claims against us may be able to obtaimutjue or other relief, which could block our atyilio develop, commercialize, and sell
products, and could result in the award of substbdamages against us. In the event of a sucdedafin of infringement against us, we may
be required to pay damages and obtain one or rie@mesks from third parties, or be prohibited fratlisg certain products. We may not be
able to obtain these licenses at a reasonableitasgll.
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License Agreements

We have entered into several significant exclusieeexclusive, and non-exclusive licenses to patantl patent applications owned by
various academic institutions, and have additiamallectual property agreements with a range sfitations and companies.

Our license agreement with Caltech provides us aiitlexclusive, worldwide license to certain patemts related intellectual property,
well as the right to prosecute licensed patentdsiworldwide at our expense and to initiate afiyrigement proceedings. Caltech retains the
right to use the licensed materials for noncomna¢exiucational and research purposes, as wellyasgrs necessary to comply with the
statutory rights of the U.S. government. We hasaesl shares of our common stock to Caltech andgved to pay to Caltech royalties based
on sales revenue of licensed products on a coloytgeuntry basis with a minimum annual royalty. Tieense agreement will terminate as to
each country and licensed product upon expiratidhelast-to-expire patent covering licensed paislin each country.

Our license agreements with Harvard Universityvalublicenses (i) provided we can demonstratevileattave added significant value
the patent rights to be sublicensed and that sufolicense also contains a substantial and esdgrdialultaneous license to intellectual
property owned by us, or (i) when such patenttsgire necessary to practice other Harvard Uniyepsitent rights exclusively licensed to us
which are also being licensed. We have issued sludireur common stock to Harvard and we agreedya@ Harvard royalties based on sales
revenue of licensed products on a country-by-cqupdisis with a minimum annual royalty. Harvardasponsible for filing and maintaining all
licensed patents, but we must reimburse Harvarddoshare of its related patent prosecution exgend'e have the right to prosecute any
infringement of our licensed patent rights. Theflise agreement will terminate with the last-to-expf the licensed patents.

On June 30, 2011, we settled certain litigation @migtred into a series of patent cross-licensesabdicense agreements with Life
Technologies Corporation and its Applied Biosystebi<C subsidiary, referred to as Life, relatingvarious patent rights of the two
companies. Specifically, the agreements involveoas:license concerning our imaging readers aner gisitent filings and certain of Life’'s
patent families relating to methods and instrumémtgonducting nucleic acid amplification, suchvéth PCR; a sub-license that provides us
access to certain of Life’s digital PCR patentg] arsublicense that provides Life access to cedfagur non-core technology patents licensed
from Caltech. The agreements provide for varioyslty payments by each of the parties, includimgyalty on certain Life instruments. In
July 2011, pursuant to the terms of the agreemesmtgaid Life $2.0 million in connection with ouxercise of an option to preclude Life from
initiating litigation under its patents existing@sJune 30, 2011 against our customer’s for twaryand against our company, with respect to
our current products and equivalent future proddotsfour years, subject to certain exceptions.

In May 2011, we entered into a license agreemettt Galiper Life Sciences, Inc., which subsequebflgame a PerkinElmer company,
referred to as Caliper, to license Caliper’'s ergipatent portfolio in certain fields, includingmovasive prenatal diagnostics, and obtained a
option to extend the license to cover additionglds. Under the agreement, we made an up-front eayof $0.6 million, which is subject to
adjustment, and will have royalty obligations conmeiag in January 2012. In August 2011, we enteméalan amendment to the agreement
with Caliper and made an additional frpat payment of $0.5 million. Pursuant to the adraant, the rates for royalties payable to Calipere
substantially reduced and the period for which veeabligated to make royalty payments was shortewéh the last payment due in mid-2018
for our existing products at the time of amendneard their future equivalents. If any of our futpreducts are determined to infringe Caliger’
patents, the same reduced royalty rates will apptil the respective patents expire.

Government Regulation

Pursuant to its authority under the Federal Foadgaind Cosmetic Act, or FFDCA, the FDA has juritidin over medical devices,
which are defined to include, among other thingsjiiro diagnostic products, or IVDs. Our produats currently labeled and sold for researct
purposes only, and we sell them to academic
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institutions, life sciences and clinical laboragésiiand pharmaceutical and biotechnology compémiesn-diagnostic purposes. Our products
are not intended for use in clinical practice ia thagnosis of disease or other conditions, ang dhe labeled for research use only.
Accordingly, they are subject only to limited, sifiecregulation with respect to labeling as I1VD nieal devices by the FDA. In particular,
while FDA regulations require that research usg pnbducts be labeled, “For Research Use Only.fblotise in diagnostic procedures,” or
RUO products, the regulations do not subject suoluycts to the FDA's broader pre- and post-marketrols for medical devices. In June
2011, the FDA issued a draft guidance documenhdd to clarify the types of in vitro diagnostiogucts that are properly labeled “for
research use only.” The draft guidance statestieaély including a labeling statement that the pobds for research purposes only will not
necessarily render the device exempt from the F2Rarance, approval, or other requirements itthmimstances surrounding the
distribution of the product indicate that the mamtfirer knows its product is being used by custsrferdiagnostic uses. These circumstance:
may include written or verbal marketing claims nelijag a product’s performance in clinical applicat and a manufacturer’s provision of
technical support for such activities. In the feturertain of our products or related applicatiomsld become subject to regulation as medical
devices by the FDA.

For example, if we wish to label and market ourdpicds for use in performing clinical diagnostidgsjg subjecting them to regulation by
the FDA under premarket and postmarket control edical devices, unless an exemption applies, wddnzeirequired to obtain either prior
510(k) clearance or prior pre-market approval ftbe FDA before commercializing the product. The FEldssifies medical devices into one
of three classes. Devices deemed to pose lowetaifle patient are placed in either class | owHich, unless an exemption applies, requires
the manufacturer to submit a pre-market notificatiequesting FDA clearance for commercial distitupursuant to Section 510(k) of the
FFDCA. This process, known as 510(k) clearancayireg that the manufacturer demonstrate that thieelés substantially equivalent to a
previously cleared and legally marketed 510(k) dewr a “pre-amendment” class Il device for whigh-market approval applications, or
PMAs, have not been required by the FDA. This psedgpically takes from four to twelve months, aligh it can take longer. Most class |
devices are exempted from this 510(k) premarketnisgion requirement. Devices deemed by the FDAosephe greatest risk, such as life-
sustaining, life-supporting, or implantable devicasthose deemed not substantially equivalentlémally marketed predicate device, are
placed in class Ill. Class Il devices typicallyjtere PMA approval. To obtain PMA approval, an aggoit must demonstrate the reasonable
safety and effectiveness of the device based,rin @a data obtained in clinical studies. PMA revsegenerally last between one and two year:
although they can take longer. Both the 510(k) thed®MA processes can be expensive and lengthynagdhot result in clearance or appro
If we are required to submit our products for prarket review by the FDA, we may be required to yefearketing while we obtain premarket
clearance or approval from the FDA. There woulchbeassurance that we could ever obtain such cleammapproval.

Changes to a device that have received PMA apptygpaally require a new PMA or PMA supplement. @bas to a device that recei
510(k) clearance which could significantly affest$afety or effectiveness, or that would consitutmajor change in its intended use, require
new 510(k) clearance or possibly PMA approval. FB requires each manufacturer to make this deteation initially, but the FDA can
review any of these decisions and may disagreabel~DA disagreed with our determination not tckse@ew 510(k) clearance for a change tc
a previously marketed product, the FDA could reguis to seek a new 510(k) clearance or pre-mapgebaal. The FDA also could require us
to cease manufacturing and/or recall the modifexdad until 510(k) clearance or pre-market approva obtained. Also, in these
circumstances, we could be subject to warningrigtedverse publicity, significant regulatory fireespenalties, seizure or injunctive action, or
criminal prosecution.

In some cases, our customers or collaborators m@yur RUO products in their own laboratory-devetbfests, or LDTSs, or in other
FDA-regulated products for clinical diagnostic uske FDA has historically exercised enforcementrdigon in not enforcing the medical
device regulations against LDTs. However, the FDAId assert jurisdiction over some or all LDTs, gfhinay impact our customers’ uses of
our products or the sale of our products for LD&usA significant change in the way that the FD@dulates our products or the
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LDTs that our customers develop may require uhitmge our business model in order to maintain ciamgé with these laws. The FDA hel
meeting in July 2010, during which it indicatedttiiantends to reconsider its policy of enforcemdiscretion and to begin drafting a new
oversight framework for LDTs.

If our products become subject to regulation aedioal device, we would become subject to additi&ilsA requirements, and we could
be subject to unannounced inspections by the FAo#imer governmental authorities, which could iaseeour costs of doing business.
Specifically, manufacturers of medical devices nuashply with various requirements of the FFDCA @sdmplementing regulations,
including:

» the Quality System Regulation, which covers thehmé$ and documentation of the design, testingrebmhanufacturing, labelin
quality assurance, packaging, storage, and shipdiogr product

* labeling regulations
» medical device reporting, or MDR, regulatio
» correction and removal regulations; ¢

* pos-market surveillance regulations, which includeniegbns on marketing and promotic

We would need to continue to invest significanteiemd other resources to ensure ongoing compliaitbd=-DA quality system
regulations and other post-market regulatory resménts.

Our failure to comply with applicable FDA regulataequirements, or our failure to timely and adeglyarespond to inspectional
observations, could result in enforcement actiothieyFDA, which may include the following sanctions
» fines, injunctions, and civil penaltie
» recall or seizure or our produc
» operating restrictions, partial suspension, orl ttatdown of productior
» delays in clearance or approval, or failure to wbégproval or clearance of future product candigatr product modification
» restrictions on labeling and promotic
» adverse publicity, warning letters, fines, or irgtians;
« withdrawal of previously granted clearances or apals; anc
e criminal prosecutior
International sales of medical devices are sulifefrireign government regulations, which vary sabsally from country to country. Tt
primary regulatory environment in Europe is thattef European Union, or EU, which includes moghefmajor countries in Europe.
Currently, 27 countries make up the EU. Other coesitsuch as Switzerland, have voluntarily adofdeds and regulations that mirror those
the EU with respect to medical devices. The EUdtlpted numerous directives and standards reguldtendesign, manufacture, clinical
trials, labeling, and adverse event reporting fedioal devices. Devices that comply with the reguients of a relevant directive will be
entitled to bear the CE conformity marking, indingtthat the device conforms to the essential requénts of the applicable directives and,
accordingly, can be commercially distributed thriooigt Europe. Outside of the EU, regulatory approrsds to be sought on a country-by-
country basis in order to market medical devicdthduigh there is a trend towards harmonizationuality system standards, regulations in

each country may vary substantially which can dffieeelines of introduction. Additionally, we undg¢and that RUO products, such as ours,
are not currently subject to regulation as medieadces in the EU or by agencies comparable t¢-Dw in other countries.

Property and Environmental Matters

We lease approximately 30,000 square feet of offitek laboratory space at our headquarters in Stauthrancisco, California under a
lease that expires in April 2015, and approxima8&0800 square feet of additional
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office space in South San Francisco, Californiaeuradlease that expires in September 2013. Wdedse approximately 28,000 square feet 0
manufacturing and office space at our facility indapore under leases with varying expiration détesugh October 2014; office space in
Paris, France under a lease that expires in Apfib2 office space in Tokyo, Japan under a leadeettres in November 2013; office space in
Osaka, Japan under a lease that expires in Sept@@bé; and office space in Shanghai, China undease that expires in March 2016. We
believe that our existing office, laboratory andnufacturing space, together with additional spamkfacilities available on commercially
reasonable terms, will be sufficient to meet owrdsethrough 2013.

Our research and development and manufacturingpses involve the controlled use of hazardous makeincluding flammables,
toxics, corrosives, and biologics. Our researchrandufacturing operations produce hazardous bicdédgind chemical waste products. We
seek to comply with applicable laws regarding thadiing and disposal of such materials. Given thellsvolume of such materials used or
generated at our facilities, we do not expect ampliance efforts to have a material effect onaapital expenditures, earnings, and
competitive position. However, we cannot elimingie risk of accidental contamination or discharge any resultant injury from these
materials. We do not currently maintain separatérenmental liability coverage and any such contzation or discharge could result in
significant cost to us in penalties, damages, asgension of our operations.

Geographic Information

During the last three years, a majority of our rm@was generated within North America and Eurapkeaamajority of our long-lived
assets are located within the United States angbpore. Product revenue received from customessdauthe United States totaled $24.2
million, or 47% of our total product revenue, in12Q compared to $18.9 million, or 47% of our tgiedduct revenue, in 2011, and $13.8
million, or 45% of our total product revenue, in120 Please see Note 14 of the notes to our auciitesblidated financial statements for
additional information for geographic areas.

Seasonality

In 2009, 2010, and 2011, our product revenue wgtsehiin the fourth quarter of the year than infttet quarter of the next year reflecti
numerous factors, including, among others, seas@mitions in customer operations and customegéuand capital spending cycles.

Employees

As of December 31, 2012, we had 278 employeeshafhws8 work in research and development, 52 woreineral and administrative,
86 work in manufacturing, and 82 work in salesesand technical support, and marketing. None oEmployees are represented by a labor
union or are the subject of a collective bargairaggeement.

Corporate and Available Information

We were incorporated in California in May 1999 agddmetrix Corporation, changed our name to Fluidi@omporation in April 2001,
and reincorporated in Delaware in July 2007. Ourgpal executive offices are located at 7000 SkweeCourt, Suite 100, South San
Francisco, California 94080. Our telephone numb€650) 266-6000. Our website address is www.ftpidcom. We make available on our
website, free of charge, our Annual Report on FbfsK, Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q, Current R&pon Form &, and any amendmer
to those reports, as soon as reasonably practiaétblewe electronically file such material with,farnish it to, the Securities and Exchange
Commission, or SEC. Our SEC reports can be accéissmafh the investor relations page of our wellsitated at
http://investors.fluidigm.com/sec.cfm. Additionaglly copy of this Annual Report on Form 10-K is liechat the SEC’s Public Reference Room
at 100 F Street, NE, Washington, D.C. 20549. Infitiam on the operation of the Public Reference Roambe obtained by calling the SEC at
1-800-SEC-0330.
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We webcast our earnings calls and certain evenigant&ipate in or host with members of the investinrcommunity on our investor
relations page of our website. Corporate governarfoemation, including our board committee chasterode of ethics, and corporate
governance principles, is also available on ouetor relations page of our website located at/fittpestors.fluidigm.com/governance.cfm.
The contents of our website are not incorporatetefgrence into this Annual Report on Form 10-Knoany other report or document we file
with the SEC, and any references to our websiténéeaded to be inactive textual references only.

Executive Officers
The following table sets forth the names, ages{&ebruary 28, 2013) and positions of our exeeutifficers:

Name Age Position

Gajus V. Worthington 43  President, Chief Executive Officer, and Direc

Vikram Jog 56 Chief Financial Office

Robert C. Jone 58 Executive Vice President, Research and Develop

William M. Smith 61 Executive Vice President, Legal Affairs, General@sel, and Secreta
Fredric Walde! 55 Chief Operating Office

Mai Chan (Grace) Yow 54  Executive Vice President, Worldwide Manufacturimgl&lanaging

Director of Fluidigm Singapore Pte. Li

Gajus V. Worthingtois a co-founder of Fluidigm and has served as oesifent, Chief Executive Officer and a directaicsi our
inception in June 1999. From May 1994 to April 1988. Worthington held various staff and managenpmtitions at Actel Corporation, a
public semiconductor corporation that was sold forbbsemi Corporation in 2010. Mr. Worthington rees a B.S. in Physics and an M.S. in
Electrical Engineering from Stanford University.

Vikram Joghas served as our Chief Financial Officer sincerraty 2008. From April 2005 to February 2008, Mrg $erved as Chief
Financial Officer for XDx, Inc., a molecular diagstits company. From March 2003 to April 2005, Mig dvas a Vice President of Applera
Corporation, a life science company that is now patife Technologies, Inc., and Vice PresidentFafance for its related businesses, Celera
Genomics and Celera Diagnostics. From April 200M&rch 2003, Mr. Jog was Vice President of Findioceelera Diagnostics and
Corporate Controller of Applera Corporation. Mrgteceived a Bachelor of Commerce degree from Didtiversity and an M.B.A. from
Temple University. Mr. Jog is a member of the Aroani Institute of Certified Public Accountants.

Robert C. Jonebas served as our Executive Vice President, Rdseat Development since August 2005. From Augu8t18 July
2005, Mr. Jones held various managerial and researd development positions at Applied Biosystearlaporatory equipment and supplies
manufacturer that was a division of Applera Corfiora including: Senior Vice President Research Badelopment from April 2001 to
August 2005; Vice President and General Managermmdtics Division from 1998 to 2001; and Vice Pdesit PCR Business Unit from 1994
to 1998. Mr. Jones received a BSEE in Electricali®ering and an MSEE in Computer Engineering ftoenUniversity of Washington.

William M. Smithhas served as our Executive Vice President, Leffalr since February 2012, and as General Cowarskbur
Secretary since May 2000. From May 2000 to Febr@@@?, Mr. Smith served as our Vice President, Lé&dfairs and served as a director
from May 2000 to April 2008. Mr. Smith served asamsociate and then as a partner at the law firfioainsend and Townsend and Crew, |
from 1985 through April 2008. Mr. Smith received.B®. and an M.P.A. from the University of South@alifornia and a B.A. in Biology from
the University of California, San Diego.
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Fredric Walderhas served as our Chief Operating Officer sinceebdxer 2012. From May 2010 to December 2012, Mr.défaderved
as our Chief Business Officer. From August 1992pail 2010, he served in various senior executigsifions at Thermo Fisher Scientific, a
laboratory equipment and supplies manufacturehidticg as Senior Vice President, Customer Excedldnam November 2006 to April 2010,
and Division President, Thermo Electron Corporafiom January 2000 to November 2006. Mr. Waldedbal B.S. in Chemistry from the
University of Massachusetts.

Mai Chan (Grace) Yowas served as Executive Vice President, WorldwidaWwacturing of Fluidigm Singapore Pte. Ltd., ourgapore
subsidiary, since February 2012, and as Managingckir of Fluidigm Singapore Pte. Ltd. since Ma2€®6. Ms. Yow served as Vice
President, Worldwide Manufacturing, from March 2@66-ebruary 2012. From June 2005 to March 2006,Y\dsv served as General Mana
of Fluidigm Singapore Pte. Ltd. From August 200Mtay 2005, Ms. Yow served as Vice President EnginggAsia) for Kulicke and Soffa,
public semiconductor equipment manufacturer. Froardid 1991 to July 2004, Ms. Yow served as Direddssembly Operations, Plant
Facilities and EHS, for National Semiconductor Sipgre, a semiconductor fabrication subsidiary afdwal Semiconductor Corporation.

Ms. Yow received a B.E. in Electronic Engineeringnfi Curtin University, a Certificate in Managem&tudies from the Singapore Institute of
Management, and a Diploma in Electrical Engineefingh Singapore Polytechnic.

ITEM 1A. RISK FACTORS

We operate in a rapidly changing environment th@blves numerous uncertainties and risks. Theuafig risks and uncertainties may
have a material and adverse effect on our busirfagmcial condition, or results of operations. Yshould consider these risks and
uncertainties carefully, together with all of thiher information included or incorporated by reface in this Form 10-K. If any of the risks or
uncertainties we face were to occur, the tradiniggiof our securities could decline, and you maglall or part of your investment.

Emerging market opportunities may not develop as gigkly as we expect, limiting our ability to succedslly market and sell our
products, or our product development and strategiglans relating to such markets may change and oumdry into these emerging
markets may be delayed, if it occurs at all.

The application of our technologies to single-gelhomics, digital polymerase chain reaction, oitalid°CR, and sample preparation for
next-generation DNA sequencing are emerging market appities. We believe these opportunities will talexeral years to develop or mat
and we cannot be certain that these market oppbesiwill develop as we expect. For example, watdned our G Single-Cell Auto Prep
system in June 2012, which applies our technologginong other things, improve single-cell analyarkflow for single-cell genomics. The
future growth of the single-cell genomics marked #me success of our new system depend on marorédweyond our control, including
recognition and acceptance by the scientific conmitypuand the growth, prevalence, and costs of camgenethods of genetic analysis. If the
market for single-cell genomics, digital PCR, aathple preparation for next-generation DNA sequendim not develop as we expect, our
business may be adversely affected. Additionally,success in these emerging markets may depemthtge extent on our ability to
successfully market and sell products using ourrtelogies. If we are not able to successfully measkel sell our products, or to achieve the
revenue or margins we expect, our operating resudis be harmed and we may not recover our prodaaldpment and marketing
expenditures. In addition, our product developnzemt strategic plans may change, which could dalamnpede our entry into emerging
markets.

Our financial results may vary significantly from quarter-to-quarter due to a number of factors, whichmay lead to volatility in our
stock price.

Our quarterly revenue and results of operatione vavied in the past and may continue to vary 8iartly from quarter-to-quarter. For
example, in 2009, 2010, and 2011, we experienagltEhisales in the fourth quarter than in the fjtsdrter of the next fiscal year. In addition,
revenue from sales of our instruments
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relative to sales of our consumables may fluctoatdeviate significantly from expectations. Theighility in our quarterly results of
operations, including revenue from sales of outrimaents relative to our consumables, may leadtatiity in our stock price as research
analysts and investors respond to these quartadjufitions. These fluctuations are due to numefacisrs that are difficult to forecast,
including: fluctuations in demand for our produatsanges in customer budget cycles and capitabépgnseasonal variations in customer
operations; tendencies among some customers toplafehase decisions to the end of the quartedatige unit value of our systems; changes
in our pricing and sales policies or the pricingl @ales policies of our competitors; our abilityd&sign, manufacture and deliver products to
our customers in a timely and cost-effective mangeality control or yield problems in our manufaihg operations; our ability to timely
obtain adequate quantities of the components usedriproducts; new product introductions and enbarents by us and our competitors;
unanticipated increases in costs or expenses;amaplex, variable and, at times, lengthy sales ¢ygitebal economic conditions; and
fluctuations in foreign currency exchange ratesdifidnally, we have certain customers who haveohistlly placed large orders in multiple
quarters during a calendar year. A significant oida in orders from one or more of these custornewdd adversely affect our revenue and
operating results, and if these customers defeancel purchases or otherwise alter their purchgsatterns, our quarter-to-quarter financial
results could be significantly impacted.

The foregoing factors, as well as other factorsjdomaterially and adversely affect our quartertg annual results of operations. In
addition, a significant amount of our operating exges are relatively fixed due to our manufactyniagearch and development, and sales an
general administrative efforts. Any failure to astjspending quickly enough to compensate for amgxshortfall could magnify the adverse
impact of such revenue shortfall on our resultspdrations. We expect that our sales will contittutuctuate on a quarterly basis and that oul
financial results for some periods may be belove¢hprojected by securities analysts, which cowdiicantly decrease the price of our
common stock.

We have incurred losses since inception, and we magntinue to incur substantial losses for the foresable future.

We have a limited operating history and have iredisignificant losses in each fiscal year sinceimegption, including net losses of
$19.0 million, $22.5 million, and $16.9 million dog the years 2012, 2011, and 2010, respectivedyoffDecember 31, 2012, we had an
accumulated deficit of $240.8 million. These lossasge resulted principally from costs incurred im cesearch and development programs,
from our manufacturing costs and selling, genenadl administrative expenses. We may continue tarisgbstantial operating and net losses
and negative cash flow from operations. We exgeattaur selling, general, and administrative expenaill continue to increase due to the
additional operational and reporting costs assediatith being a public company. We anticipate thatbusiness will generate operating losse
until we successfully implement our commercial depment strategy and generate significant additiomzenue to support our level of
operating expenses. Because of the numerous risksrecertainties associated with our commerciabmagfforts and future product
development, we are unable to predict when weheilome profitable, and we may never become prdditdven if we do achieve
profitability, we may not be able to sustain orresse our profitability.

If our research and product development efforts daot result in commercially viable products within anticipated timelines, if at all, our
business and results of operations will be adverseaffected.

Our business is dependent on the improvement oéxisting products, our development of new prodtmtserve existing markets, and
our development of new products to create new nisuded applications that were previously not pcattivith existing systems. We intend to
devote significant personnel and financial resasitoeresearch and development activities designadyance the capabilities of our
microfluidic systems technology. We have develogesign rules for the implementation of our techgglthat are frequently revised to reflect
new insights we have gained about the technoleggddition, we have discovered that biological leernical reactions sometimes behave
differently when implemented on our systems rathan in a standard
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laboratory environment. Furthermore, many suchtieas take place within the confines of single £elvhich have also demonstrated
unexpected behavior when grown and manipulatedmiitticrofluidic environments. As a result, reseaacid development efforts may be
required to transfer certain reactions and celtliag techniques to our systems. In the past, prbdevelopment projects have been
significantly delayed when we encountered unardigg difficulties in implementing a process on systems. We may have similar delays in
the future, and we may not obtain any benefits foumresearch and development activities. Any deldailure by us to develop new products
or enhance existing products would have a substadiverse effect on our business and results efatipns.

If our products fail to achieve and sustain sufficgnt market acceptance, our revenue will be adversehffected.

Our success depends, in part, on our ability teelbgvand market products that are recognized acepéed as reliable, enabling and cost
effective. Most of our potential customers alreadg expensive research systems in their laboratarié may be reluctant to replace those
systems. Market acceptance of our systems will tigp@ many factors, including our ability to corénpotential customers that our systems
are an attractive alternative to existing technielsgCompared to some competing technologies, @eroffuidic technology is relatively new,
and most potential customers have limited knowleafger experience with, our products. Prior to ptittg our microfluidic systems, some
potential customers may need to devote time armitetf testing and validating our systems. Anyuial of our systems to meet these custome
benchmarks could result in customers choosingttirréheir existing systems or to purchase systetmar than ours.

In addition, it is important that our systems becpe&ved as accurate and reliable by the scieraifit medical research community as a
whole. Historically, a significant part of our sslend marketing efforts has been directed at cemgnindustry leaders of the advantages of
systems and encouraging such leaders to publigtesent the results of their evaluation of oureystif we are unable to continue to induce
leading researchers to use our systems, or if @sgarchers are unable to achieve and publishesept significant experimental results using
our systems, acceptance and adoption of our systéii®e slowed and our ability to increase ourageue would be adversely affected.

Our future success is dependent upon our ability texpand our customer base and introduce new applitans.

Our customer base is primarily composed of académtitutions, clinical laboratories, and pharmaa=al, biotechnology and
agricultural biotechnology, or Ag-Bio, companieattperform analyses for research and commercigigses. Our success will depend, in part
upon our ability to increase our market share antbage customers, attract additional customersdeuts these markets, and market new
applications to existing and new customers as weldp such applications. Attracting new customes iatroducing new applications requi
substantial time and expense. For example, it neagifficult to identify, engage and market to cusérs who are unfamiliar with the current
applications of our systems. Any failure to expand existing customer base or launch new applinatiwould adversely affect our ability to
increase our revenue.

The life science research and Ag-Bio markets are giilly competitive and subject to rapid technologicathange, and we may not be able
to successfully compete.

The markets for our products are characterizedapidly changing technology, evolving industry stamt$, changes in customer needs,
emerging competition, new product introductionsy atrong price competition. We compete with botialeisshed and development stage life
science research companies that design, manufaanatenarket instruments and consumables for ggmession analysis, targeted single-cel
gene expression analysis, genotyping, PCR, diBitR, other nucleic acid detection, and additiopgliaations using well established
laboratory techniques, as well as newer technatoglieh as bead encoded arrays, microfluidics, rahnblogy, high-throughput DNA
sequencing, microdroplets and photolithographiayarMost of our current competitors have signiftbagreater name recognition, greater
financial and human resources, broader

23



Table of Contents

product lines and product packages, larger satesdplarger existing installed bases, largerletalal property portfolios, and greater
experience and scale in research and developmeanyfacturing, and marketing than we do. For exapggmpanies such as Affymetrix, Inc.,
Agilent Technologies, Inc., Bio-Rad Laboratories;.| lllumina, Inc., Life Technologies CorporatidtGC Limited, Luminex Corporation,
NanoString Technologies, Inc., PerkinElmer, Inbrdtigh its acquisition of Caliper Life Sciences;.)nRainDance Technologies, Inc., Roi
Applied Science (a division of Roche Diagnosticsfgoration), Sequenom, Inc., and WaferGen Bio-systdnt. have products that compete ir
certain segments of the market in which we sellgoducts. In addition, a number of other compaaies academic groups are in the process
of developing novel technologies for life sciencarkets.

Competitors may be able to respond more quicklyedffattively than we can to new or changing opputies, technologies, standards,
or customer requirements. In light of these advgegaeven if our technology is more effective ttr@nproduct or service offerings of our
competitors, current or potential customers migiceat competitive products and services in liepwthasing our technology. We anticipate
that we will face increased competition in the fetas existing companies and competitors develapanémproved products and as new
companies enter the market with new technologresehsed competition is likely to result in pricipgssures, which could reduce our profit
margins and increase our sales and marketing eepeAdditionally, we may be faced with false adigarg, unfair competition, or unlawful
trade practices from our competitors. For exammelNovember 6, 2012, we filed a complaint in fetidstrict court in the Northern District
California against NanoString Technologies, IncNanoString, alleging claims of false advertisingfair competition, and unlawful trade
practice in violation of the Lanham Act and cormsging sections of the California Business & Prsi@ss Code. Prosecuting the lawsuit may
be costly and can impose a significant burden onageament and employees, and there can be no asssithat a favorable outcome will be
obtained in the litigation. Such competitive pressicould cause harm to our business, operatingtsesd financial condition. Our failure to
compete effectively could materially and adversdfect our business, financial condition and resaftoperations.

Our business depends on research and developmentesiling levels of academic, clinical, and governmeaitresearch institutions, and
pharmaceutical, biotechnology, and Ag-Bio companies reduction in which could limit our ability to sell our products and adversely
affect our business.

We expect that our revenue in the foreseeabledwtill be derived primarily from sales of our mifiradic systems and IFCs to acadel
institutions, clinical laboratories, and pharmaézlt biotechnology, and Ag-Bio companies worldwi@ar success will depend upon their
demand for and use of our products. Accordinglg,shending policies of these customers could haigréficant effect on the demand for our
technology. These policies may be based on a wadety of factors, including concerns regarding fdgeral government budget sequestra
the availability of resources to make purchasesstfending priorities among various types of eqeipiypolicies regarding spending during
recessionary periods, and changes in the politicahte. In addition, academic, governmental, at@éioresearch institutions that fund researc
and development activities may be subject to sérmdpudgetary constraints that could result in dpenreductions, reduced allocations, or
budget cutbacks, which could jeopardize the abilitthese customers to purchase our products. @enating results may fluctuate
substantially due to reductions and delays in reteand development expenditures by these custoarexample, reductions in capital and
operating expenditures by these customers maytiliedower than expected sales of our microfluisystems and IFCs. These reductions and
delays may result from factors that are not withim control, such as:

e changes in economic conditior

* natural disaster:

» changes in government programs that provide funtlimgsearch institutions and compan

» changes in the regulatory environment affecting $i€ience and /Bio companies engaged in research and commerdiaitias;
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» differences in budget cycles across various gediga@mnd industrie:

* marke-driven pressures on companies to consolidate apesatnd reduce cos!
* mergers and acquisitions in the life science an-Bio industries; ant

» other factors affecting research and developmesndipg.

Any decrease in our customers’ budgets or experdifwr in the size, scope, or frequency of capitalperating expenditures, could
materially and adversely affect our operationsimarfcial condition.

We may not be able to develop new products or enhaa the capabilities of our existing microfluidic sgtems to keep pace with rapidly
changing technology and customer requirements, whiccould have a material adverse effect on our busass, revenue, financial
condition, and operating results.

Our success depends on our ability to develop medygts and applications for our technology in gxgsand new markets, while
improving the performance and cost-effectivenessuofsystems. New technologies, techniques, oryatsccould emerge that might offer
better combinations of price and performance tharcarrent or future product lines and systemssting markets for our products, including
single-cell genomics, gene expression analysisptgpimg, and digital PCR, as well as potential neéskor our products such as high-
throughput DNA sequencing and molecular diagnostpgdications, are characterized by rapid techricddg@hange and innovation. It is criti
to our success for us to anticipate changes imtdogy and customer requirements and to succegsftitbduce new, enhanced, and
competitive technology to meet our customers’ amsjpective customers’ needs on a timely and cdst#@fe basis. Developing and
implementing new technologies will require us tounsubstantial development costs and we may na hdequate resources available to be
able to successfully introduce new applicationsognhancements to, our systems. We cannot gear#mt we will be able to maintain
technological advantages over emerging technolagitee future. While we typically plan improvemsitb our systems, we may not be abl
successfully implement these improvements. If viledekeep pace with emerging technologies, denfandur systems will not grow and may
decline, and our business, revenue, financial ¢mmdiand operating results could suffer materidiyaddition, if we introduce enhanced
systems but fail to manage product transitionscéffely, customers may delay or forgo purchasesunfsystems and our operating results ma
be adversely affected by product obsolescence xaebs inventory. Even if we successfully implensmhe or all of these planned
improvements, we cannot guarantee that our cuarthpotential customers will find our enhancedesyst to be an attractive alternative to
existing technologies, including our current praguc

If one or more of our manufacturing facilities becane unavailable or inoperable, we will be unable toontinue manufacturing our
instruments, IFCs, and/or assays and, as a resutiur business will be harmed until we are able to seire a new facility.

We manufacture and assemble all of our instrumemdsiFCs for commercial sale at our facility in gipore and our assays for
commercial sale at our headquarters in South Samcksco, California. No other manufacturing or adslg facilities are currently available to
us, particularly facilities of the size and scopguired by our Singapore operations. Our faciliied the equipment we use to manufacture ou
instruments, IFCs, and assays would be costlygiace and could require substantial lead time paireor replace. Our facilities may be
harmed or rendered inoperable by natural or manendahsters, which may render it difficult or impitde for us to manufacture our products
for some period of time. The inability to manufaetour products, combined with our limited invegtof manufactured supplies, may resul
the loss of customers or harm our reputation, amdnay be unable to reestablish relationships wmitisé customers in the future. Although we
possess insurance for damage to our property andighuption of our business, this insurance mayaaufficient to cover all of our potential
losses and may not continue to be available touescoeptable terms, or at all.
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The current leases for our manufacturing facilitysingapore expire at various times through Oct@b4# and our current lease for off
and laboratory space at our headquarters in Sautti=gancisco expires in April 2015. If we are ueal secure new leases upon the expiratio
of our current leases or if either of our facilitieecomes otherwise unavailable to us, and wesgréred to move our operations to a new
manufacturing facility, we will incur significanixpense in connection with the establishment ofva faeility. A move would be
administratively and logistically challenging andwd delay and otherwise adversely affect our mactufing activities and business
operations. We cannot provide assurances that Weevable to secure new leases on our existingufiaaturing facilities or a new
manufacturing facility on acceptable terms, if lat a

We are dependent on single source suppliers for senof the components and materials used in our prods, and the loss of any of thes
suppliers could harm our business.

We rely on single source suppliers for certain congmts and materials used in our products. We tbane long term contracts with ¢
suppliers of these components and materials. T§®edbthe single source suppliers of any of thiefdhg components and/or materials would
require significant time and effort to locate analify an alternative source of supply:

e The IFCs used in our microfluidic systems are f@dted using a specialized polymer that is avail&bla a limited number of
sources. In the past, we have encountered qusdities that have reduced our manufacturing yietdaprired the use of additional
manufacturing processe

e The reader for our BioMark system requires spemdlicustom camera lenses, fiber light guides dmer @omponents that are
available from a limited number of sourc

e Specialized pneumatic and electronic componentedolC; Single-Cell Auto Prep system are availatdenfa limited number of
sources

e The raw materials for our DELTAgene and SNPtypagsand Access Array Tar-Specific primers

Our reliance on these suppliers also subjects ather risks that could harm our business, inclgdire following:
* we may be subject to increased component ¢
* we may not be able to obtain adequate supply im@&y manner or on commercially reasonable tei

» our suppliers may make errors in manufacturing camepts that could negatively affect the efficacyof products or cause delays
in shipment of our products; ai

» our suppliers may encounter financial hardshipglated to our demand for components, which couidbintheir ability to fulfill
our orders and meet our requireme

We have in the past experienced quality controlsumply problems with some of our suppliers, su’cmanufacturing errors, and may
again experience problems in the future. We maybeatble to quickly establish additional or reptaeat suppliers, particularly for our single
source components. Any interruption or delay inghpply of components or materials, or our inabtiit obtain components or materials from
alternate sources at acceptable prices in a timalyner, could impair our ability to meet the demahdur customers and cause them to canc
orders or switch to competitive products.

We may experience development or manufacturing prdems or delays that could limit the growth of our evenue or increase our losse

We may encounter unforeseen situations in the na@twfing and assembly of our products that wousdltén delays or shortfalls in our
production. In addition, our production processes assembly methods may have to change to accontenaaia significant future expansion
of our manufacturing capacity, which may increasemanufacturing costs, delay production of ourdpias, reduce our product margin, and
adversely impact our business. If we are unable&p up with demand for our products by succegsfuinufacturing and shipping our
products in a timely manner, our revenue couldygaired, market acceptance for our products coalddversely affected and our customers
might instead purchase our competitors’ products.
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All of our instruments and IFCs for commercial sate manufactured at our facility in Singapore.deiion of the elastomeric block tt
is at the core of our IFCs is a complex procesairemy advanced clean rooms, sophisticated equipraend strict adherence to procedures.
contamination of the clean room, equipment malfiomctor failure to strictly follow procedures cagmificantly reduce our yield in one or
more batches. We have in the past experiencedtieaisan yields due to such factors. A drop in gielin increase our cost to manufacture our
IFCs or, in more severe cases, require us toalttanufacture of our IFCs until the problem i®hesd. Identifying and resolving the cause of
a drop in yield can require substantial time armbueces.

In addition, developing an IFC for a new applicatinay require developing a specific production pescfor that type of IFC. While all
of our IFCs are produced using the same basic gsese significant variations may be required taenadequate yield of any particular typ
IFC. Developing such a process can be very timswoimg, and any unexpected difficulty in doing aa delay the introduction of a product.

Our products could become subject to regulation amedical devices by the U.S. Food and Drug Administtion, or FDA, or other
regulatory agencies in the future.

Our products are currently labeled and sold to eeadl institutions, life sciences laboratories, ahdrmaceutical, biotechnology, and Ag-
Bio companies for research purposes only, and sidtaggnostic tests or medical devices. As prodatisied for research use only, and used b
our customers for research purposes only, thegugect only to limited regulation as medical degidy the FDA under 21 Code of Federal
Regulations Section 809.10(c) with respect to tladieling. Research use only products are not otiyreubject to regulation as medical
devices by comparable agencies of other countdesever, if we change the labeling of our productthe future to include indications for
human diagnostic applications or medical uses,emhave knowledge that our customers are using rogtupts for diagnostic purposes, our
products or related applications could be subfeeidditional regulation as in vitro diagnostic d®g, such as under the FDA'’s pre- and post-
market regulations for medical devices. For exaiplee wish to label and market our products fee in performing clinical diagnostics, we
would first need to obtain FDA pre-market clearaocapproval (depending on any product’s specifiended use and any such modified
labeling claims), unless otherwise exempt fromrelaee or approval requirements. Obtaining FDA @lree or approval can be expensive anc
uncertain, and generally takes several monthsdosyte obtain, and may require detailed and congm&kie scientific and clinical data.
Notwithstanding the expense, these efforts maymesilt in FDA clearance or approval. Even if wergvto obtain regulatory approval
clearance, it may not be for the uses we beliegémaportant or commercially attractive.

Further, the FDA may expand its jurisdiction ovar products or the products of our customers, whamlld impose restrictions on our
ability to market and sell our products. For exagplur customers may elect to use our researconigdéabeled products in their own
laboratory developed tests, or LDTS, for cliniceghostic use. The FDA has historically exercisefbeement discretion in not enforcing the
medical device regulations against LDTs. Howewss,EDA could assert jurisdiction over some or &lTls, which may impact our customers’
uses of our products. A significant change in tlag that the FDA regulates our products or any LB¥Es our customers develop may require
us to change our business model in order to maict@inpliance with these laws. The FDA held a meetinJuly 2010, during which it
indicated that it intends to reconsider its polifyenforcement discretion and to begin draftingea mversight framework for LDTSs.
Additionally, in June 2011 the FDA issued a draftdgnce document intended to clarify the typesiafiiro diagnostic products that are
properly labeled “for research use only.” The dgafidance states that merely including a labeltagesent that the product is for research
purposes only will not necessarily render the deeixempt from the FDA'’s clearance, approval, oeotequirements if the circumstances
surrounding the distribution of the product indec#ttat the manufacturer knows its product is, terids for its product to be, offered for clini
diagnostic uses. These circumstances may incluiieemwor verbal marketing claims regarding a pratugerformance in clinical applications
and a manufacturer’s provision of technical supfmrtlinical applications. If the FDA imposes sifitant changes to the regulation of LDTSs,
or modifies its approach to our products labeled fo
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research use only, but which may be used by ouomes's for clinical use, it could reduce our reveou increase our costs and adversely ¢
our business, prospects, results of operationmandéial condition.

We may be required to proactively achieve compkanith certain FDA regulations and to conform owmufacturing operations to the
FDA’s good manufacturing practice regulations fardical devices, known as the Quality System Regulabr QSR, as part of our contracts
with customers or as part of our collaborationdwlitird parties. In addition, we may voluntarilyekgo conform our manufacturing operations
to the QSR. For clinical diagnostic products thratregulated as medical devices, the FDA enfoiloe€XSR through periodic unannounced
inspections of registered manufacturing facilitiésve are required to comply with the QSR, théuia to take satisfactory corrective action in
response to an adverse QSR inspection could riesefiforcement actions, including a public warnieiger, a shutdown of manufacturing
operations, a product recall, civil or criminal péiies or other sanctions, which could in turn eaosr sales and business to suffer.

If we are unable to recruit and retain key executies, scientists and technical support personnel, weay be unable to achieve our goals.

Our performance is substantially dependent on émopnance of our senior management, particuladju&V. Worthington, our
president and chief executive officer. Additionaliy expand our research and product developmémt®fwe need key scientists skilled in
areas such as molecular and cellular biology, adsaglopment, and manufacturing. We also need ighined technical support personnel
with the necessary scientific background and ghititunderstand our systems at a technical leveffectively support potential new customers
and the expanding needs of current customers. Ciititnpdor these people is intense. Because ottmplex and technical nature of our
systems and the dynamic market in which we compete failure to attract and retain a sufficient tnemof qualified employees could
materially harm our ability to develop and commalize our technology.

The loss of the services of any member of our senamagement or our scientific or technical supptatf might significantly delay or
prevent the development of our products or achiereraf other business objectives by diverting manaent’s attention to transition matters
and identification of suitable replacements, if aayd could have a material adverse effect on osiness. In addition, our research and prc
development efforts could be delayed or curtaifede are unable to attract, train and retain higtkifled employees, particularly, senior
scientists and engineers. We do not maintain fieeth employment contracts or significant key mémilisurance with any of our employees.

If we are unable to integrate future acquisitions gccessfully, our operating results and prospects atd be harmed.

In the future, we may make acquisitions to improue product offerings or expand into new marketst fDture acquisition strategy will
depend on our ability to identify, negotiate, coatp| and integrate acquisitions and, if necessambtain satisfactory debt or equity financing
to fund those acquisitions. Mergers and acquisstin@ inherently risky, and any transaction we detepmay not be successful. Any merger o
acquisition we may pursue would involve numerosksi including but not limited to the following:

» difficulties in integrating and managing the op#nas, technologies, and products of the compan&aasquire

» diversion of our managem¢'s attention from normal daily operation of our Imesis;

* our inability to maintain the key business relasibips and the reputations of the businesses werag

* our inability to retain key personnel of the acgdicompany

. uncga_rtainty of entry into markets in which we héiwgted or no prior experience and in which comfmet have stronger market
positions;
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» our dependence on unfamiliar affiliates and custgrméthe companies we acqui

» insufficient revenue to offset our increased expsrassociated with acquisitiol

» our responsibility for the liabilities of the busises we acquire, including those which we maynttipate; ant
e our inability to maintain internal standards, cofgr procedures, and policie

We may be unable to secure the equity or debt Agndecessary to finance future acquisitions ongetrat are acceptable to us. If we
finance acquisitions by issuing equity or convéetitbebt securities, our existing stockholders likily experience dilution, and if we finance
future acquisitions with debt funding, we will incimterest expense and may have to comply witmfire covenants and secure that debt
obligation with our assets.

Adverse conditions in the global economy and disrufn of financial markets may significantly harm ou revenue, profitability, and
results of operations.

The global credit and financial markets have begesencing volatility and disruptions, includingrdnished liquidity and credit
availability, increased concerns about inflatiod @eflation, and the downgrade of U.S. debt andsuge risks on other sovereign debts,
decreased consumer confidence, lower economic grawtatile energy costs, increased unemploymeasrand uncertainty about economic
stability. Volatility and disruption of financial ankets could limit our customers’ ability to obta@dequate financing or credit to purchase and
pay for our products in a timely manner or to maimbperations, which could result in a decreasmlas volume that could harm our result
operations. General concerns about the fundamsotaldness of domestic and international economagsalso cause our customers to reduc
their purchases. Changes in governmental bankinggetary, and fiscal policies to address liquiditgl éhcrease credit availability may not be
effective. Significant government investment arldcation of resources to assist the economic regasesectors which do not include our
customers may reduce the resources available f@rgment grants and related funding for life sceeng-Bio, and clinical research and
development. Continuation or further deterioratithese financial and macroeconomic conditiondasignificantly harm our sales,
profitability and results of operations.

We generate a substantial portion of our revenue ternationally and are subject to various risks relding to such international activities,
which could adversely affect our sales and operatinperformance. In addition, any disruption or delayin the shipping or off-loading of
our products, whether domestically or internationaly, may have an adverse effect on our financial calition and results of operations.

During the years 2012, 2011, and 2010, approxima®Ye, 47%, and 45%, respectively, of our prodaeenue was generated from s¢
to customers located outside of the United St&t&sbelieve that a significant percentage of owurfeirevenue will come from international
sources as we expand our overseas operations salbp@pportunities in other international areasg&ging in international business
inherently involves a number of difficulties andks, including:

» required compliance with existing and changingiffmeegulatory requirements and la

» required compliance with anti-bribery laws, suchhasU.S. Foreign Corrupt Practices Act and U.Kb&ny Act, data privacy
requirements, labor laws and -competition regulation:

* export or import restriction:

» laws and business practices favoring local comza

» longer payment cycles and difficulties in enforcagyeements and collecting receivables througlaiceforeign legal system
e unstable economic, political, and regulatory candg;
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» potentially adverse tax consequences, tariffsooastcharges, bureaucratic requirements, and ot barriers
» difficulties and costs of staffing and managingefgn operations; an
» difficulties protecting or procuring intellectualqperty rights

If one or more of these risks occurs, it could regjus to dedicate significant resources to remadd,if we are unsuccessful in finding a
solution, our financial results will suffer.

In addition, a majority of our product sales arerently denominated in U.S. dollars and fluctuasiamthe value of the U.S. dollar
relative to foreign currencies could decrease dehfianour products and adversely impact our finahgerformance. For example, if the value
of the U.S. dollar increases relative to foreigmencies, our products could become more costtigganternational consumer and therefore
competitive in international markets, or if thewalof the U.S. dollar decreases relative to thg&iore dollar, it would become more costly in
U.S. dollars for us to manufacture our productSiimgapore.

We rely on shipping providers to deliver product®tr customers globally. Labor, tariff or Worldatie Organization-related disputes,
piracy, physical damage to shipping facilities quipment caused by severe weather or terrorisiémts, congestion at shipping facilities,
inadequate equipment to load, dock and offloadppoducts, energy-related tie-ups, or other faatordd disrupt or delay shipping or off-
loading of our products domestically and internadilly. Such disruptions or delays may have an aveffect on our financial condition and
results of operations.

If we are unable to manage our anticipated growth féectively, our business could be harmed.

The rapid growth of our business has placed afsigni strain on our managerial, operational, andrfcial resources and systems. To
execute our anticipated growth successfully, wetroostinue to attract and retain qualified persommnel manage and train them effectively.
We must also upgrade our internal business prosesmkcapabilities to create the scalability thgtaaving business demands.

We believe our facilities located in Singapore &uwdith San Francisco, California, are sufficieninteet our short-term manufacturing
needs. The current leases for our facilities irg&pore expire at various times through October 20idour current lease for office and
laboratory space at our headquarters in South Barcisco expires in April 2015. In order to meetdeerm demand for our microfluidic
systems, we believe that we will need to add toexisting manufacturing space in Singapore or nalvef our manufacturing facilities to a
new location in Singapore in 2014. Such a moveimilblve significant expense in connection with gstablishment of new clean rooms, the
movement and installation of key manufacturing pqent, and modifications to our manufacturing pss¢@nd we cannot assure you that
such a move would not delay or otherwise advems#fct our manufacturing activities. We cannot jidevassurances that we will be able to
secure a lease on a new manufacturing facilitycoeptable terms, if at all.

Further, our anticipated growth will place additbstrain on our suppliers and manufacturing faesi resulting in an increased need for
us to carefully monitor quality assurance. Anydedl by us to manage our growth effectively couldenan adverse effect on our ability to
achieve our development and commercialization goals

Our products could have unknown defects or errorswhich may give rise to claims against us, adverseaffect market adoption of our
systems, and adversely affect our business, finaatcondition, and results of operations.

Our microfluidic systems utilize novel and compteghnology applied on a nanoliter scale and sustesys may develop or contain
undetected defects or errors. We cannot assuréhppmmaterial performance
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problems, defects, or errors will not arise, antvasncrease the density and integration of ouraflicidic systems, these risks may increase.
We generally provide warranties that our microfiaislystems will meet performance expectations aificdoes free from defects. We also
provide warranties relating to other parts of oierofluidic systems. The costs incurred in cornegtany defects or errors may be substantial
and could adversely affect our operating margins.

In manufacturing our products, including our sysetRCs, and assays, we depend upon third pacighd supply of various
components, many of which require a significantrdegf technical expertise to produce. In additiea purchase certain products from third-
party suppliers for resale. If our suppliers failroduce components to specification or providea®se products to us for resale and our
quality control tests and procedures fail to deseicth errors or defects, or if we or our suppliess defective materials or workmanship in the
manufacturing process, the reliability and perfano@of our products will be compromised.

If our products contain defects, we may experience:
» afailure to achieve market acceptance or exparfionr product sale:
» loss of customer orders and delay in order fulidht
» damage to our brand reputatic
» increased cost of our warranty program due to prockpair or replacemer
e product recalls or replacemen
« inability to attract new customei
» diversion of resources from our manufacturing aeskarch and development departments into our sediejgartment; an
» legal claims against us, including product lialilitaims, which could be costly and time consuntmgefend and result in
substantial damage

In addition, certain of our products are marketmduise with products sold by third parties. Formegke, our Access Array system is
marketed as compatible with all major next-generaBDNA sequencing instruments. If such third-pamyducts are not produced to
specification, are produced in accordance with fiedlispecifications, or are defective, they mayl®tompatible with our products. In such
case, the reliability and performance of our praslueay be compromised.

The occurrence of any one or more of the foregomgd negatively affect our business, financialditan, and results of operations.

To use our products, and our BioMark system in patricular, customers typically need to purchase spediaed reagents. Any interruption
in the availability of these reagents for use in auproducts could limit our ability to market our pr oducts.

Our products, and our BioMark system in particutaust be used in conjunction with one or more ratgyéesigned to produce or
facilitate the particular biological or chemicahotion desired by the user. Many of these reagarthiighly specialized and available to the
user only from a single supplier or a limited numbesuppliers. Although we sell reagents for uswertain of our products, our customers
may purchase these reagents directly from thirtiymarppliers, and we have no control over the suppthose materials. In addition, our
products are designed to work with these reagextisey are currently formulated. We have no cordvelr the formulation of reagents sold by
third-party suppliers, and the performance of aadpcts might be adversely affected if the formuolabf these reagents is changed. If one or
more of these reagents were to become unavailaber® reformulated, our ability to market and seli products could be materially and
adversely affected.
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In addition, the use of a reagent for a particptacess may be covered by one or more patentingelatthe reagent itself, the use of the
reagent for the particular process, the performafitieat process, or the equipment required toogpertthe process. Typically, reagent
suppliers, who are either the patent holders ar thehorized licensees, sell the reagents alortly avlicense or covenant not to sue with res
to such patents. The license accompanying theo$@eeagent often purports to restrict the purpdsewhich the reagent may be used. If a
patent holder or authorized licensee were to aag@ihst us or our customers that the license ar@nt relating to a reagent precluded its use
with our systems, our ability to sell and market products could be materially and adversely affécEor example, our BioMark system,
which represented 26% of our product revenue irR20iolves real-time quantitative PCR, or qPCRadliaeg suppliers of reagents for real-
time gPCR reactions include Life Technologies Coafion and Roche Applied Science, who are our tiztempetitors, and their licensees.
These real-time qPCR reagents are typically sotdyant to limited licenses or covenants not tovsitie respect to patents held by these
companies. We do not have any contractual suppleagents for these real-time qPCR reagents, armhmmot assure you that these reagents
will continue to be available to our customersudee with our systems, or that these patent holdiéreot seek to enforce their patents against
us, our customers, or suppliers.

We have limited experience in marketing, selling,rad distributing our products, and if we are unableto expand our direct sales and
marketing force or distribution capabilities to adequately address our customers’ needs, our businessy be adversely affected.

We have limited experience in marketing, sellingg distributing our products. Our BioMark and ER&tems for genomic analysis were
introduced for commercial sale in 2006 and 2008peetively. Our Access Array system for sample @rajon was introduced for commercial
sale in 2009, our BioMark HD system for genomiclgsia was introduced for commercial sale in 201&,began producing and selling assays
for use with our IFCs in May 2011, and we launchadC, Single-Cell Auto Prep system for single salinple preparation for single-cell
analysis in June 2012. We may not be able to maskéit and distribute our products effectively egb to support our planned growth. We sel
our products primarily through our own sales fagioe through distributors in certain territories.r@uture sales will depend in large part on
ability to develop and substantially expand oueclirsales force and to increase the scope of otietirag efforts. Our products are technically
complex and used for highly specialized applicatioks a result, we believe it is necessary to dgvaldirect sales force that includes people
with specific scientific backgrounds and experte®] a marketing group with technical sophisticgati@ompetition for such employees is
intense. We may not be able to attract and retaisgmnel or be able to build an efficient and éifecsales and marketing force, which could
negatively impact sales of our products and reduwceevenue and profitability.

In addition, we may continue to enlist one or meaies representatives and distributors to assiktsales, distribution, and customer
support globally or in certain regions of the wotfdve do seek to enter into such arrangementanase not be successful in attracting
desirable sales representatives and distributorgeanay not be able to enter into such arrangesrmmfavorable terms. If our sales and
marketing efforts, or those of any third-party salepresentatives and distributors, are not suitdeesr technologies and products may not
gain market acceptance, which would materially adhersely impact our business operations.

If we fail to maintain effective internal control over financial reporting in the future, the accuracyand timing of our financial reporting
may be impaired, which could adversely affect our tisiness and our stock price.

The Sarbanes-Oxley Act requires, among other thihgs we maintain effective internal control ofieancial reporting and disclosure
controls and procedures. In particular, we musfoper system and process evaluation and testingiofnternal control over financial reporti
to allow management to report on the effectivermésair internal control over financial reporting, @quired by Section 404 of the Sarbanes-
Oxley Act. Our testing may reveal deficiencies ur mternal control over financial reporting tha¢ @eemed to be material weaknesses. Our
compliance with Section 404 will require that weun substantial accounting expense
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and expend significant management time on compdiaatated issues. We currently do not have annatexudit group and we will evaluate
the need to hire additional accounting and findrsteff with appropriate public company experieaog technical accounting knowledge.
Moreover, if we are not able to comply with theuggments of Section 404 in a timely manner, avéfor our independent registered public
accounting firm identify deficiencies in our intatrcontrol over financial reporting that are deerteetle material weaknesses, the market pric
of our stock could decline and we could be suliigsanctions or investigations by the NASDAQ Gldidalrket, or NASDAQ, the SEC or
other regulatory authorities, which would requideligional financial and management resources.

Risks associated with a company-wide implementatioof an enterprise resource planning, or ERP, systemmay adversely affect our
business and results of operations or the effectimess of internal control over financial reporting.

We have been implementing a company-wide ERP sy&tdrandle the business and financial processésnour operations and
corporate functions. ERP implementations are cormatel time-consuming projects that involve subsahekpenditures on system software
and implementation activities that can continueskveral years. ERP implementations also requarestormation of business and financial
processes in order to reap the benefits of the §Rfem. Our business and results of operationstmagdversely affected if we experience
operating problems and/or cost overruns during2Re implementation process, or if the ERP systettlam associated process changes d
give rise to the benefits that we expect. Additlpndf we do not effectively implement the ERP ty1% as planned or if the system does not
operate as intended, it could adversely affeceffextiveness of our internal controls over finahceporting.

Our future capital needs are uncertain and we may eed to raise additional funds in the future, whichmay cause dilution to
stockholders or may be upon terms that are not favable to us.

We believe that our existing cash and cash equitalill be sufficient to meet our anticipated casuirements for at least the next 18
months. However, we may need to raise substardditianal capital for various purposes, including:

» expanding the commercialization of our produ

» funding our operation:

» furthering our research and development;

* acquiring other businesses or assets and licetsomgologies

Our future funding requirements will depend on méamtors, including:
» market acceptance of our produc
» the cost of our research and development actiy
» the cost of filing and prosecuting patent applmasi

» the cost of defending, in litigation or otherwis@y claims that we infringe third-party patentsimlate other intellectual property
rights;

» the cost and timing of regulatory clearances oraygls, if any;

» the cost and timing of establishing additional satearketing, and distribution capabilitir
» the cost and timing of establishing additional téchl support capabilitie:

» the effect of competing technological and marketdigpments; an

» the extent to which we acquire or invest in bussees products, and technologies, although we diyrieave no commitments or
agreements relating to any of these types of titioses.
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We cannot assure you that we will be able to otddulitional funds on acceptable terms, or at Bl raise additional funds by issuing
equity securities, our stockholders may experiglilcgion. Debt financing, if available, may invole®venants restricting our operations or out
ability to incur additional debt. Any debt or addital equity financing that we raise may contaimi® that are not favorable to us or our
stockholders. If we raise additional funds throegHhaboration and licensing arrangements with thiadties, it may be necessary to relinquish
some rights to our technologies or our productgrant licenses on terms that are not favorablestdf we are unable to raise adequate funds,
we may have to liquidate some or all of our assiEly development or commercialization of our pictd, or license to third parties the rights
to commercialize products or technologies that weld otherwise seek to commercialize. We also naaxeho reduce marketing, customer
support, or other resources devoted to our prodactsease operations. Any of these factors coaithtour operating results.

Our ability to use net operating losses to offsetifure taxable income may be subject to certain lintations.

In general, under Section 382 of the Internal ReeeBode, a corporation that undergoes an “ownerdidapge” is subject to limitations
on its ability to utilize its pre-change net opérgtlosses, or NOLs, to offset future taxable ineoiffiwe undergo ownership changes, our
ability to utilize NOLs could be limited by Secti@82 of the Internal Revenue Code. Future changeari stock ownership, some of which are
outside of our control, could result in an ownepstiiange under Section 382 of the Internal Rev€uge.

Risks Related to Intellectual Property

Our ability to protect our intellectual property an d proprietary technology through patents and othemmeans is uncertain.

Our commercial success depends in part on outyatiliprotect our intellectual property and profarg technologies. We rely on patent
protection, where appropriate and available, as agea combination of copyright, trade secret, mademark laws, and nondisclosure,
confidentiality, and other contractual restrictiagagprotect our proprietary technology. Howeveesth legal means afford only limited
protection and may not adequately protect our sightpermit us to gain or keep any competitive athge. We apply for patents covering our
products and technologies and uses thereof, asem dppropriate. However, we may fail to applydatents on important products and
technologies in a timely fashion or at all. Our gieig U.S. and foreign patent applications may ssti¢ as patents or may not issue in a form
that will be sufficient to protect our proprietaschnology and gain or keep our competitive adwgmtAny patents we have obtained or do
obtain may be subject to re-examination, reisspposition, or other administrative proceeding, @yrbe challenged in litigation, and such
challenges could result in a determination thatpient is invalid or unenforceable. In additioompetitors may be able to design alternative
methods or devices that avoid infringement of atepts. Both the patent application process angrieess of managing patent disputes can
be time consuming and expensive.

Furthermore, the laws of some foreign countries matyprotect our intellectual property rights te fame extent as do the laws of the
United States, and many companies have encourggpadicant problems in protecting and defendingtstights in foreign jurisdictions.
Proceedings to enforce our patent rights in for@igisdictions could result in substantial cost ainert our efforts and attention from other
aspects of our business. Changes in either thatdates or in interpretations of patent laws in tUr@ted States or other countries may dimil
the value of our intellectual property. We cannedict the breadth of claims that may be allowedrdorced in our patents or in third-party
patents. For example:

* We might not have been the first to make the ineastcovered by each of our pending patent apics
*  We might not have been the first to file patentlapgions for these invention
* The patents of others may have an adverse effeatiohusiness; ar
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» Others may independently develop similar or altéwegroducts and technologies or duplicate angusfproducts and
technologies

To the extent our intellectual property, includifmensed intellectual property, offers inadequatiextion, or is found to be invalid or
unenforceable, our competitive position and ouiiri®rss could be adversely affected.

We may be involved in lawsuits to protect or enfore our patents and proprietary rights, to determinethe scope, coverage and validity
others’ proprietary rights, or to defend against thrd party claims of intellectual property infringem ent, any of which could be time-
intensive and costly and may adversely impact ourusiness or stock price.

Litigation may be necessary for us to enforce @iept and proprietary rights and/or to determimesitope, coverage and validity of
others’ proprietary rights. Litigation could resintsubstantial legal fees and could adverselycatfee scope of our patent protection. The
outcome of any litigation or other proceeding isarently uncertain and might not be favorable tcamsl we might not be able to obtain
licenses to technology that we require. Even ihdicenses are obtainable, they may not be availabh reasonable cost. We could therefore
incur substantial costs related to royalty paymémtsicenses obtained from third parties, whicluldonegatively affect our gross margins.
Further, we could encounter delays in product ohigdions, or interruptions in product sales, asdeeelop alternative methods or products.

As we move into new markets and applications farpyoducts, incumbent participants in such markedy assert their patents and othel
proprietary rights against us as a means of imgedim entry into such markets or as a means taebgubstantial license and royalty paym
from us. Our commercial success may depend ingoeour non-infringement of the patents or proprietgghts of third parties. Numerous
significant intellectual property issues have bigated, and will likely continue to be litigatetletween existing and new participants in our
existing and targeted markets, and third partieg asaert that we are employing their proprietachit@logy without authorization. For
example, on June 4, 2008 we received a letter fkpplied Biosystems, Inc., now Life Technologies @anation, asserting that our BioMark
system for gene expression analysis infringes W& Patent No. 6,814,934, or the ‘934 patent,iefreign counterparts in Europe and
Canada. In June 2011, we resolved this disputent®riag into a license agreement with Life Techgas Corporation which, among other
matters, granted us a non-exclusive license @B patent and its foreign counterparts.

In addition, our agreements with some of our sgpplidistributors, customers, and other entitieh whom we do business may require
us to defend or indemnify these parties to thergxtteey become involved in infringement claims agaus, including the claims described
above. We could also voluntarily agree to defenshdemnify third parties in instances where werastobligated to do so if we determine it
would be important to our business relationshipae are required or agree to defend or indemnify @ these third parties in connection with
any infringement claims, we could incur significaots and expenses that could adversely affediuginess, operating results, or financial
condition.

We depend on certain technologies that are licenséd us. We do not control these technologies and wioss of our rights to them could
prevent us from selling our products, which would fave an adverse effect on our business.

We rely on licenses in order to be able to useouarproprietary technologies that are materiatobwsiness, including our core IFC and
multi-layer soft lithography technologies. In soneses, we do not control the prosecution, mainmar filing of the patents to which we
hold licenses, or the enforcement of these patagamst third parties.

Our rights to use the technology we license argestibo the negotiation and continuation of thaserises. Certain of our licenses con
provisions that allow the licensor to terminate libense upon specific
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conditions. Our rights under the licenses are stittgeour continued compliance with the terms eflibense, including the payment of royal
due under the license. Because of the complexibuoproducts and the patents we have licenseérdeting the scope of the license and
related royalty obligation can be difficult and dead to disputes between us and the licensor.ravorable resolution of such a dispute cc
lead to an increase in the royalties payable putsoahe license. If a licensor believed we wesepaying the royalties due under the licens
were otherwise not in compliance with the termtheflicense, the licensor might attempt to revdieelicense. If such an attempt were
successful and the license is terminated, we nlightarred from marketing, producing, and sellings®r all of our products, which would
have an adverse effect on our business.

We are subject to certain manufacturing restrictiors related to licensed technologies that were devpkd with the financial assistance of
U.S. governmental grants.

We are subject to certain U.S. government regulatimecause we have licensed technologies thatdeesdoped with U.S. government
grants. In accordance with these regulations, theseses provide that products embodying the teldyies are subject to domestic
manufacturing requirements. If this domestic maotufidng requirement is not met, the government agémat funded the relevant grant is
entitled to exercise specified rights, referred$¢d'march-in rights”, which if exercised would alldghe government agency to require the
licensors or us to grant a non-exclusive, partiakglusive, or exclusive license in any field oéus a third party designated by such agency.
All of our microfluidic systems revenue is depentd@mon the availability of our IFCs, which incorpte technology developed with U.S.
government grants. All of our instruments, inclgdmicrofluidic systems, and IFCs for commerciaksale manufactured at our facility in
Singapore. The federal regulations allow the fugdjovernment agency to grant, at the request dfdeesors of such technology, a waiver of
the domestic manufacturing requirement. Waivers bmayequested prior to any government notificatitie. have assisted the licensors of t
technologies with the analysis of the domestic nfecturing requirement, and, in December 2008, drikeolicensors applied for a waiver of
the domestic manufacturing requirement with resfeecertain patents. In July 2009, the funding gokeent agency granted the requested
waiver of the domestic manufacturing requirementfthree-year period commencing in July 2009uimeJ2012, the licensors requested a
continued waiver of the domestic manufacturing nesuent with respect to the relevant patents. thmfuture it were to be determined thai
are in violation of the domestic manufacturing rieggment and additional waivers of such requirenvesrte either not requested or not granted.
then the U.S. government could exercise its manaights. In addition, these licenses contain miovis relating to compliance with this
domestic manufacturing requirement. If it were daiaed that we are not in compliance with thesevisions and such non-compliance
constituted a material breach of the licenseslitkases could be terminated. Either the exerdigeamch-in rights or the termination of one or
more of our licenses could materially adverselgetfbur business, operations and financial corditio

We may be subject to damages resulting from clainthat we or our employees have wrongfully used or dclosed alleged trade secrets
our employees’ former employers.

Many of our employees were previously employednatersities or other life science or Ag-Bio compasjiincluding our competitors or
potential competitors. Although no claims agairstte currently pending, we may be subject to ddimat these employees or we have
inadvertently or otherwise used or disclosed tiset@ets or other proprietary information of theimier employers. Litigation may be
necessary to defend against these claims. If wenfdefending such claims, in addition to payingmatary damages, we may lose valuable
intellectual property rights. A loss of key resdapersonnel work product could hamper or preventbility to commercialize certain potent
products, which could severely harm our businessnkf we are successful in defending against tleksims, litigation could result in
substantial costs and be a distraction to managemen
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Risks Related to Our Common Stock

Our stock price may fluctuate significantly, particularly if holders of substantial amounts of our stak attempt to sell, and holders may
have difficulty selling their shares based on curnet trading volumes of our stock. In addition, numeious other factors could result in
substantial volatility in the trading price of our stock.

Our stock is currently traded on NASDAQ, but we paovide no assurance that we will be able to na&inan active trading market on
NASDAQ or any other exchange in the future. Thditrg volume of our stock tends to be low relativetr total outstanding shares, and
have several stockholders, including affiliateccktwlders, who hold substantial blocks of our stdck of December 31, 2012, we had
25,115,380 shares of common stock outstandingsenuttholders holding at least 5% of our stock,\itlially or with affiliated persons or
entities, collectively beneficially owned or corteal approximately 42% of such shares. Sales gkelamumbers of shares by any of our large
stockholders could adversely affect our tradingerparticularly given our relatively small hiswotrading volumes. If stockholders holding
shares of our common stock sell, indicate an irdarto sell, or if it is perceived that they wikls substantial amounts of their common stock
in the public market, the trading price of our coomstock could decline. Moreover, if there is ntwactrading market or if the volume of
trading is limited, holders of our common stock nhaye difficulty selling their shares.

In addition, the trading price of our common stocky be highly volatile and could be subject to widetuations in response to various
factors, some of which are beyond our control. €Hastors include:
e actual or anticipated quarterly variation in owsuiés of operations or the results of our competijt

e announcements or communications by us or our catopetelating to, among other things, new comnanaioducts, technologic
advances, significant contracts, commercial retetiips, capital commitments, acquisitions or safdsusinesses, and/or
misperceptions in or speculation by the marketndigg such announcements or communicati

» issuance of new or changed securities an¢ reports or recommendations for our stc
» developments or disputes concerning our intellégit@perty or other proprietary right
e commencement of, or our involvement in, litigati

» market conditions in the life science, -Bio, and clinical research secto

» failure to complete significant sale

» manufacturing disruptions that could occur if werevanable to successfully expand our productiosuincurrent or an alternative
facility;

» any future sales of our common stock or other sgéesiin connection with raising additional capitalotherwise

* any major change to the composition of our boardirgctors or management; a

» general economic conditions and slow or negatiesvtr of our markets

The stock market in general, and market priceshfersecurities of technology-based companies like m particular, have from time to
time experienced volatility that often has beerelated to the operating performance of the undeglgompanies. These broad market and
industry fluctuations may adversely affect the neaigirice of our common stock, regardless of ouraltieg performance. In several recent
situations where the market price of a stock has welatile, holders of that stock have institusedurities class action litigation against the
company that issued the stock. If any of our stotddrs were to bring a lawsuit against us, themkgeand disposition of the lawsuit could be
costly and divert the time and attention of our agement and harm our operating results.
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If securities or industry analysts publish unfavorale research about our business or cease to covardusiness, our stock price and
trading volume could decline.

The trading market for our common stock may retypart, on the research and reports that equigareh analysts publish about us and
our business. We do not have any control of théyatsaor the content and opinions included in thejrorts. The price of our stock could
decline if one or more equity research analystsrdpade our stock or issue other unfavorable comangior research. If one or more equity
research analysts ceases coverage of our compdaisdio publish reports on us regularly, demamddur stock could decrease, which in turn
could cause our stock price or trading volume tdide.

Our directors, executive officers, and large stockblders have substantial control over and could limiyour ability to influence the
outcome of key transactions, including changes obatrol.

As of December 31, 2012, our current executiveceff, directors, stockholders holding at least $%uo outstanding stock, and their
respective affiliates, collectively beneficially oed or controlled approximately 47% of the outstag&hares of our common
stock. Accordingly, these executive officers, dioes, large stockholders, and their respectivdiatifis, acting as a group, can have substantia
influence over the outcome of corporate actionsiirety stockholder approval, including the electafrdirectors, any merger, consolidation or
sale of all or substantially all of our assetsany other significant corporate transactions. Thssekholders may also delay or prevent a ch
of control of us, even if such a change of controlild benefit our other stockholders. The significeoncentration of stock ownership may
adversely affect the trading price of our commamktdue to investors’ perception that conflictsrérest may exist or arise.

Anti-takeover provisions in our charter documents ad under Delaware law could make an acquisition afis, which may be beneficial to
our stockholders, more difficult and may prevent atempts by our stockholders to replace or remove oucurrent management and limit
the market price of our common stock.

Provisions in our certificate of incorporation amdaws may have the effect of delaying or preveptirchange of control or changes in
our management, including provisions that:

» authorize our board of directors to issue, withouther action by the stockholders, up to 10,000,88ares of undesignated
preferred stock

* require that any action to be taken by our stodkéis be effected at a duly called annual or spewgating and not by written
consent

» specify that special meetings of our stockholderslze called only by our board of directors, thaichan of the board, the chief
executive officer or the preside!

» establish an advance notice procedure for stockhaldprovals to be brought before an annual meefingr stockholders,
including proposed nominations of persons for @ecto our board of director

» establish that our board of directors is dividei ithree classes, Class |, Class I, and Classith each class serving staggered
three year term:

e provide that our directors may be removed onlyciuse

» provide that vacancies on our board of directorg brefilled only by a majority of directors thenaffice, even though less than a
quorum;

» specify that no stockholder is permitted to cuneilaites at any election of directors; ¢
* require a sup-majority of votes to amend certain of the at-mentioned provisions

These provisions may frustrate or prevent any giterny our stockholders to replace or remove otnectt management by making it
more difficult for stockholders to replace membefreur board of directors, which is
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responsible for appointing the members of our mamaant. In addition, because we are incorporat&kiaware, we are governed by the
provisions of Section 203 of the Delaware GenembpGration Law, which limits the ability of stocklders owning in excess of 15% of our
outstanding voting stock to merge or combine with u

We have never paid dividends on our capital stoclgnd we do not anticipate paying any cash dividends the foreseeable future.

We have paid no cash dividends on any of our ckaskeapital stock to date, have contractual retgtns against paying cash dividends,
and currently intend to retain our future earnitmfund the development and growth of our busin&ssa result, capital appreciation, if any, of
our common stock will be stockholders’ sole sowtgain for the foreseeable future.

ITEM 1B. UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS
None.

ITEM 2. PROPERTIES

We lease approximately 30,000 square feet of offiwet laboratory space at our headquarters in Starthrancisco, California under a
lease that expires in April 2015, and approxima&0800 square feet of additional office space intB&an Francisco, California under a lease
that expires in September 2013. We also lease zrippately 28,000 square feet of manufacturing arfid@bpace at our facility in Singapore
under leases with varying expiration dates throDgtober 2014; office space in Paris, France undease that expires in April 2015; office
space in Tokyo, Japan under a lease that expifdsvember 2013; office space in Osaka, Japan umtsase that expires in September 2014;
and office space in Shanghai, China under a ldadeskpires in March 2016. We believe that ourtengsoffice, laboratory and manufacturing
space, together with additional space and fadliieailable on commercially reasonable terms, veilsufficient to meet our needs through
2013. In addition, we believe that our propertiesia good condition and are adequate and suifablieir purposes.

ITEM3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

On November 6, 2012, we filed a complaint agairesad®5tring Technologies, Inc., or NanoString, inltthiéted States District Court in
the Northern District of California (Civil Action & 12-5712), alleging claims of false advertisingfair competition, and unlawful trade
practice in violation of the Lanham Act and corm@sging sections of the California Business & Prsii@ss Code. Our complaint seeks to
enjoin NanoString from continuing to make or disgete any of the false and misleading claims, misgenting and/or exaggerating the
performance of its product in comparison with oimNBark system, to require NanoString to retraatmeoge, or correct the false and misleading
advertising claims, and to recover damages and otfief for harm caused to us by NanoString. Omuday 4, 2013, NanoString answered the
complaint, denying the allegations against it. Titigation is in the preliminary stages.

ITEM 4.  MINE SAFETY DISCLOSURE
Not applicable.
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PART II
ITEM 5. MARKET FOR REGISTRANT 'S COMMON EQUITY, RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS AND IS SUER
PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES
Market for Our Common Stock; Dividends

Our common stock began trading on the NASDAQ Globatket under the symbol “FLDM” on February 10, 20The following table
sets forth the range of high and low closing sphéses of our common stock for the periods indidate

Year ended December 31, 201 High Low

First Quarter $16.8¢ $12.2¢
Second Quarte $16.2¢ $12.5:
Third Quartel $17.22 $12.5¢
Fourth Quarte $17.2% $13.4:
Year ended December 31, 201 High Low

February 10, 2011 through March 31, 2011 $16.97 $13.1:%
Second Quarte $18.2¢ $13.5C
Third Quartel $20.2( $11.64
Fourth Quarte $15.0( $12.0¢

We had approximately 130 stockholders of recordfdebruary 28, 2013; however, because many obotgtanding shares are held in
accounts with brokers and other institutions, wieekie we have more beneficial owners. We have ndgelared or paid dividends on our
common stock and do not expect to pay dividendsusrcommon stock for the foreseeable future. Imkteg anticipate that all of our earnings
in the foreseeable future will be used for the apien and growth of our business.

Stock Performance Graph

The following performance graph shall not be deefseticiting material” or to be “filed” with the Smurities and Exchange Commission
for purposes of Section 18 of the Securities Exgbafiict of 1934, as amended, or the Exchange Adttt@mrwise subject to the liabilities unc
that Section, and shall not be deemed to be incatpd by reference into any filing of Fluidigm Coration under the Securities Act or the
Exchange Act.
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The following graph shows a comparison from Felyrdd), 2011 (the date our common stock commenceihgan the NASDAQ
Global Market) through December 31, 2012 of cunivgatotal return for our common stock, the NASDAQn3posite Index, and the
NASDAQ Biotechnology Index. Such returns are bamedistorical results and are not intended to ssigigeure performance. Data for t
NASDAQ Composite Index and the NASDAQ Biotechnoldgglex assume reinvestment of divider

COMPARISON OF CUMULATIVE TOTAL RETURN?
Among Fluidigm Corp, NASINAQ
Composite Index and NASDAQ Bistechnology Index
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[— -F::|I.i||.|_|zl-| Corp. = '\c’k"\f_'l-‘-."j Composite Index :f\:_.\‘-;l_]_.‘-,-e_] Baech Index |

* 5100 mvested on February 10, 2011, including remvestment of dividends

Sales of Unregistered Securities
None.

Use of Proceeds

On February 9, 2011, our registration statemerffam S-1 (File No. 333-170965) was declared eféecfor the initial public offering of
our common stock, or IPO. Through December 31, 202net proceeds from our IPO have been appéiddilaws: $5.0 million for the
repayment of promissory notes issued in Januar{,288.0 million for the repayment of our bank limfecredit, $29.3 million for research and
development expenses, $10.2 million for genergb@@te purposes including selling, general and adhtnative expenses, and litigation
settlement expense, and $4.1 million for capitplesxditures. On June 30, 2011, we paid $3.0 millioconnection with the settlement of
certain patent litigation with Life Technologies@oration, or Life. In July 2011, we paid Life additional $2.0 million in connection with o
exercise of an option under the terms of our agesgswith Life to limit or preclude certain patditigation between the parties over a period
of two to four years. Other than the aggregate patraf $5.0 million to Life, there has been no matehange in the planned use of proceeds
from our IPO from that described in the final presjus filed with the SEC pursuant to Rule 424(bfebruary 10, 2011.
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ITEM 6. SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA

The following selected financial data should bedriaconjunction with the consolidated financialtetnents and related notes thereto
appearing elsewhere in this Form 10-K. We havevddrthe consolidated statement of operations datthé years ended December 31, 2012,
2011, and 2010 and consolidated balance sheeagatDecember 31, 2012 and 2011 from audited diolased financial statements included
elsewhere in this Form 10-K. The consolidated stat# of operations data for the fiscal years erdecember 31, 2009 and December 27,
2008 and the consolidated balance sheet dataResoceimber 31, 2010, December 31, 2009, and Dece2ih@008 were derived from audited
consolidated financial statements that are notighed! in this Form 10-K.

Year Ended
December 31 December 31 December 31 December 31 December 27
2012 2011 2010 2009 2008

(in thousands, except per share amount:
Consolidated Statement of Operations Datz

Total revenue $ 52,33¢ $ 42,86¢ $ 33,56( $ 2541 $ 15,34
Loss from operation (18,079 (18,56¢) (24,577 (18,03 (29,547
Net loss attributed to common stockhold (19,029 (32,370) (16,907 (19,12%) (29,499
Net loss per share attributed to common stockhs):

basic and dilute (0.8¢) (1.8)) (8.99 (11.02) (17.8%)

Consolidated Balance Sheet Date
Cash, cash equivalents, and short and long-term

investments $ 83,67 $ 54,967 $ 5,72t $ 14,60: $ 17,79
Working capital 89,61« 49,86 2,36¢ 21,35¢ 20,70¢
Total asset 113,73. 79,32¢ 24,80: 32,15 32,35¢
Total lon¢-term debt — 10,13¢ 14,70( 14,46 15,21:
Convertible preferred stoc — — 184,55( 183,84! 167,53t
Total stockholder equity (deficit) 100,65 56,897 (189,16) (173,619 (158,339
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ITEM 7. MANAGEMENT 'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AN D RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

The following discussion and analysis should bel tegether with our consolidated financial statetseand the notes to those statem
included elsewhere in this Form 10-K. This disaussiontains forward-looking statements based oncourent expectations, assumptions,
estimates and projections about Fluidigm and oulustry. These forwartboking statements involve risks and uncertain@sr actual result:
could differ materially from those indicated in seeforward-looking statements as a result of carfattors, as more fully described in “Risk
factore” in Item 1A of this Form 10-K, in this Item 7, aetbewhere in this Form 10-K. We undertake no alilig to update publicly any
forward-looking statements for any reason, even if nearindtion becomes available or other events occuhénfuture.

Overview

We develop, manufacture, and market microfluidistesns for growth markets, such as single-cell gécmmapplied genotyping, and
sample preparation for targeted resequencing giifdnscience and agricultural biotechnology, @-Bio, industries. Our proprietary
microfluidic systems consist of instruments andstonables, including IFCs, assays, and other resg@uot systems are designed to
significantly simplify experimental workflow, incase throughput and reduce costs, while providiegetttellent data quality demanded by oul
customers. In addition, our proprietary technoleggbles genetic analysis that in many instanceveasously impractical. We actively
market four microfluidic systems, including 13 @ifént IFCs for nucleic acid analysis, and threelfamof assay chemistries, to leading
academic institutions, clinical laboratories, amdmpnaceutical, biotechnology, and Ag-Bio companite.have sold approximately 685
systems to customers in over 30 countries worldwide

We have launched several product lines, includimgBioMark system for gene expression analysisptygring, and digital polymerase
chain reaction, or digital PCR, in 2006, our EP4tesn for single nucleotide polymorphism, or SNRaigping, and digital PCR in 2008, our
Access Array system for target enrichment in 2@28,BioMark HD real-time PCR system for high-thrbpgt gene expression analysis,
targeted single-cell gene expression analysis, @\®typing, and digital PCR in 2011, and our C it©@ell Auto Prep system for single cell
sample preparation for single-cell analysis in JB@&2. In addition, in May 2011, we launched agmaylucts, including our DELTAgene
assays for gene expression, our SNPtype assagifdrgenotyping, and our Access Array Target-Spepiiimers for targeted next-generation
DNA sequencing. Our systems utilize one or moreslB€signed for particular applications and inclsgecialized instrumentation and
software, as well as assays and other reagenteff@in applications.

We distribute our microfluidic systems through direct sales force and support organizations lactdorth America, Europe, and
Asia-Pacific, and through distributors or salesragén several European, Latin American, MiddletBas and Asia-Pacific countries. Our
manufacturing operations are primarily located iimg&pore. Our facility in Singapore manufacturesinatruments and fabricates all of our
IFCs for commercial sale and for our research anidpment purposes. Our South San Franciscotfafaliricates IFCs for our research and
development purposes, and manufactures our assdyw@duces other reagents for commercial sale.

From 2002 through 2011, we have received reveram ffovernment grants. Our most significant gralatti@nship has been with the
Singapore Economic Development Board, or EDB. TB8Ean agency of the Government of Singapore, ptemesearch, development, and
manufacturing activities in Singapore and assodiataployment of Singapore nationals by providingeimtive grants to companies conducting
operations in Singapore that satisfy the requiremehEDB’s government programs. Under our agreéswith EDB, we were eligible to
receive incentive grant payments from EDB, providedsatisfied certain agreed upon targets. Oureageats with EDB provided for incenti
funding eligibility through May 2011. From Janudry2010 through December 31, 2011, we recognizediifllion of grant revenue from
EDB.
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We have grown our total revenue from $33.6 millier2010 to $52.3 million in 2012. We have incurgghificant net losses since our
inception in 1999 and, as of December 31, 2012acaumulated deficit was $240.8 million.

Critical Accounting Policies, Significant Judgmentsand Estimates

Our consolidated financial statements and theadlabtes included elsewhere in this Form 10-K agpared in accordance with
accounting principles generally accepted in thetd¢hStates. The preparation of these consolidataddial statements requires us to make
estimates and assumptions that affect the repartemints of assets, liabilities, revenue, costs expenses and related disclosures. We base
our estimates on historical experience and on uargiher assumptions that we believe to be reatmoabler the circumstances. Changes in
accounting estimates may occur from period to geracordingly, actual results could differ sign#intly from the estimates made by our
management. We evaluate our estimates and assmsiptican ongoing basis. To the extent that therenaterial differences between these
estimates and actual results, our future finarstatement presentation, financial condition, resodtoperations, and cash flows will be affec

We believe that the following critical accountinglipies involve a greater degree of judgment andpexity than our other accounting
policies. Accordingly, these are the policies whdwe are the most critical to understanding araleating our consolidated financial condition
and results of operations. Our accounting poliaiesmore fully described in Note 2 of the notesuoaudited consolidated financial
statements.

Revenue Recognition

We generate revenue from sales of our productndie and collaboration arrangements, and governgnants. Our products consist of
instruments and consumables, including IFCs, asmag®ther reagents, related to our microfluidistems. Product revenue includes services
for instrument installation, training, and custoreepport services.

We recognize revenue when persuasive evidence afrangement exists, delivery has occurred or sesviiave been rendered, the price
to the customer is fixed or determinable, and ctdleility is reasonably assured. Revenue from &hessof our products that are not part of
multiple element arrangements are recognized whbesignificant obligation remains undelivered antlesttion is reasonably assured, which is
generally when delivery has occurred. Delivery @sauhen there is a transfer of title and risk aslpasses to the customer. Payments receiv
in advance of revenue recognition are classifiededsrred revenue in the consolidated balance sheet

The evaluation of these revenue recognition categquires significant management judgment. Fdant®, we use judgment to assess
collectability based on factors such as the cust@meeditworthiness and past collection historggplicable. If we determine that collectior
not reasonably assured, revenue recognition igréefeintil receipt of payment. We also use judgnterstssess whether a price is fixed or
determinable, including, but not limited to, reviag contractual terms and conditions related tanpemt.

Certain of our sales contracts involve the delivarperformance of multiple products or servicagniicant contract interpretation is
sometimes required to determine the appropriatewating for revenue from multiple element arrangetseincluding whether the deliverab
should be treated as separate units of accourdmg¥enue recognition purposes, how the relatks saice should be allocated among the
elements, when to recognize revenue for each elgrmed the period over which revenue should begeized. Revenue recognition for
contracts with multiple deliverables is based amittdividual units of accounting determined to ekishe contract.

For sales contracts that include multiple delivigajowe allocate the contract consideration atrtbeption of the contract to each unit of
accounting based upon their relative selling prigde may use our best estimate
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of selling price for individual deliverables wheandor specific objective evidence or third-partidence is unavailable. A delivered item is
considered to be a separate unit of accounting \ithexs value to the customer on a stand-alonebasi

Our products, other than for service contractsdalivered within a short time frame, generallyhiitone to three months, of the conti
date. Service contracts are entered into for onedoyear terms, following the expiration of thervganty period.

For transactions entered into prior to 2011 theltite multiple elements, we allocated revenue th @mit of accounting based on its
relative fair value, and recognized revenue fohaaut of accounting when the applicable revenwegeition criteria were met. When
objective and reliable evidence of fair value eedstor the undelivered items but not for the delbekitems, the residual method was used to
allocate arrangement consideration. Under the waitiethod, the amount of arrangement considerallonated to the delivered items equi
the total arrangement consideration less the agtgdgir value of the undelivered items. When weenmable to establish stand-alone value
for delivered items or when fair value of undeligitems had not been established, revenue wasetbientil all elements were delivered and
services had been performed, or until fair valugldd@bjectively be determined for any remaining elhatred elements.

Our products are sold without the right of retukacruals for estimated warranty expenses are peavat the time the associated revenu
is recognized. We use judgment to estimate thesei@s and, if we were to experience an increaseimanty claims or if costs of servicing
our products under warranty were greater than stimates, our cost of product revenue could be raéWeaffected in future periods.

We have entered into license and collaborationeageats with third parties that generally provideuith upfront and periodic milestor
payments. Revenue from license agreements is rez@mbwhen received, upfront payments are generatiggnized over the term of the
underlying agreement and milestone payments arergiynrecognized based upon the achievement ahilestones as defined in the
agreement.

Revenue from government grants relates to the aefment of agreed upon milestones and expenditmetssaecognized in the period in
which the related costs are incurred, providedttmatconditions under which the government grarésaaarded have been substantially met
and only perfunctory obligations remain outstandiith respect to the EDB grants, upon satisfactibgrant conditions, we received
incentive grant payments equal to a portion of ifyiaf expenses we incurred in Singapore. Qualify@xpenses included salaries, overhead,
outsourcing and subcontracting expenses, operatipgnses, and raw material purchases. Royaltidsapainot qualifying expenses under the
incentive grant program. We submitted requesthedaDB for incentive grant payments on a quarteasis, which were subject to the EDB’s
review and our satisfaction of the grant conditidDar first grant agreement with the EDB was corgualen July 2010, at which time we
submitted our final progress report and evidencacbfevement of our development targets underetterlagreement. In October 2010, we
received confirmation from EDB that all of our aations under the first grant had been met an@ctober 2010, we received our final grant
payment relating thereto. Our second grant agreewigmthe EDB was completed in May 2011. Basec¢omespondence with EDB, we
believe we have satisfied our obligations applieablour EDB grant revenue through December 312201

Changes in judgments and estimates regarding apiplicof these revenue recognition guidelines dsasechanges in facts and
circumstances could result in a change in the inoinamount of revenue recognized in future periods

Stock-Based Compensation

We measure the cost of employee services receivexichange for an award of equity instrumentsuiticlg stock options and restricted
stock units, based on the grant date fair valub@fiward. The fair value of options on the graxieds estimated using the Black-Scholes
option-pricing model, which requires the use of
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certain subjective assumptions, including expetee, volatility, risk-free interest rate and tlaérfvalue of our common stock. These
assumptions generally require significant judgment.

Our board of directors sets the terms, conditiang, restrictions related to the grant of stockapstiand restricted stock units, including
the number of shares underlying the grants angdking criteria. With respect to performance-bastedk options, depending on the extent tc
which the vesting criteria are met, our board oécliors determines the number of shares that velgruhe grants.

The resulting costs of our equity awards, net tifreted forfeitures, are recognized over the pedodng which an employee is required
to provide service in exchange for the award, ugw@atime-based vesting period. We amortize theviaiue of stock-based compensation on a
straight-line basis over the requisite serviceqaii For performance-based stock options, we répegtock-based compensation over the
requisite service periods using the accelerateithation method.

Our common stock has a limited trading history liseaour common stock was not publicly traded unfilinitial public offering, or IPC
in February 2011. Accordingly, the expected valgtibf our common stock is derived from the histativolatilities of several unrelated public
companies within the life science industry. Wheleaing our industry peer companies, we considerstage of development, size, and
financial leverage. These historical volatilitiee aveighted based on certain qualitative factots@mbined to produce a single volatility
factor. The risk-free interest rate is based orll® Treasury yield in effect at the time of gréortzero coupon U.S. Treasury notes with
maturities approximately equal to each grant’s etgublife. We estimate the expected lives of em@dogptions using the “simplified” method
as the midpoint of the expected time-to-vest aedctintractual term.

The calculated fair value of our stock options dothiange significantly if we determine that anotimethod is more reasonable, or if
another method for calculating these input asswmptis prescribed by authoritative guidance. Higledatility and longer expected lives result
in an increase in stock-based compensation expkisemined at the date of grant. Stock-based cosapien expense affects our cost of
product revenue, research and development expandeselling, general and administrative expense.

We estimate our forfeiture rate based on an arsbfsbur actual forfeitures and we will continuest@luate the appropriateness of the
forfeiture rate based on actual forfeiture experggranalysis of employee turnover behavior, andrdictors. Quarterly changes in the
estimated forfeiture rate can have a significafgatfon reported stock-based compensation expasgbe cumulative effect of adjusting the
rate is recognized in the period the forfeituréneste is changed. If a revised forfeiture rateighbr than the previously estimated forfeiture
rate, an adjustment is made that will result ireerdase to the stock-based compensation expermmieed in the consolidated financial
statements. If a revised forfeiture rate is lovamt the previously estimated forfeiture rate, gnstchent is made that will result in an increase
to the stock-based compensation expense recognized consolidated financial statements. The effiéforfeiture adjustments was
insignificant during 2012, 2011, and 2010. We wihtinue to use judgment in evaluating the expetesd, volatility, and forfeiture rate
related to our stock-based compensation.

Also required to compute the fair value calculatidoptions is the fair value of the underlying aoon stock. We grant stock options at
exercise prices not less than the fair value ofoounmon stock at the date of grant. Prior to o@,|Bur board of directors obtained
contemporaneous valuations from an unrelated thairtly valuation firm to determine the estimated ¥@lue of common stock based on an
analysis of relevant metrics, such as the pridh®imost recent convertible preferred stock saleaitside investors, the rights, preferences
privileges of the convertible preferred stock, operating and financial performance, the hirinds@f personnel, the introduction of new
products, the lack of marketability of the commuwck, and additional factors relating to our busBi€l here is inherent uncertainty in these
estimates and if we or the valuation firm had mdifferent assumptions, the amount of our stbeked compensation expense, net loss, ar
loss per share amounts could have been significdifferent. Following the completion of our IPOkebruary 2011,
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the fair value of options granted is based on tbsireg price of our common stock on the date ohges quoted on the NASDAQ Global
Market.

Historically, certain of our stock options were mped to officers, with vesting acceleration feasupased upon the achievement of certail
performance milestones. The timing of the attainneéthese milestones affected the timing of expeesognition since we recognize
compensation expense only for the portion of stoutions that are expected to vest.

We recorded stock-based compensation of $4.1 mjl$@.8 million, and $1.6 million during 2012, 2Q0&hd 2010, respectively. As of
December 31, 2012, we had $10.5 million of unrecreghstock-based compensation costs, which arecteghéo be recognized over an
average period of three years.

Income Taxes

We use the asset and liability method to accouninflome taxes. Deferred tax assets and liabilgresrecognized for the future tax
consequences attributable to differences betweefirthncial statement carrying amounts of existingets and liabilities and their respective
tax basis. Deferred tax assets and liabilitiesvaasured using enacted tax rates expected to tpfExable income in the years in which those
temporary differences are expected to be recowaredttled. Significant management judgment isirequn determining our provision for
income taxes, our deferred tax assets and lias)iind any valuation allowance recorded againsdeferred tax assets. Our provision for
income taxes generally consists of tax expensefibeekated to current period earnings/losses. &g pf the process of preparing our
consolidated financial statements, we continuoasiyitor the circumstances impacting the expectatizagion of our deferred tax assets for
each jurisdiction. We consider all available eviderincluding historical operating results in epaisdiction, expectations and risks associatel
with estimates of future taxable income, and ong@rudent and feasible tax planning strategies&essing the need for a valuation allowa
To the extent a deferred tax asset cannot be rezafjra valuation allowance is established to redwr deferred tax assets to the amount tha
is more likely than not to be realized. We haverded a full valuation allowance on our deferredaasets due to uncertainties related to our
ability to utilize our deferred tax assets in theebeeable future. These deferred tax assets fsiroansist of net operating loss carryforwards
and research and development tax credits. We irttenmhintain this valuation allowance until suffiot evidence exists to support its reduct
We make estimates and judgments about our futdedlta income that are based on assumptions thabasistent with our plans and
estimates. Should the actual amounts differ fromestimates, the amount of our valuation allowaswmdd be materially impacted. Changes in
these estimates may result in significant increaseecreases to our tax provision in a periodliictv such estimates are changed, which in
turn would affect net income or loss.

We recognize the financial statement effects axapbsition when it is more likely than not, basedthe technical merits, that the
position will be sustained upon examination. Anteiest and penalties related to uncertain tax ipositwvill be reflected in income tax
provision.

Effective January 1, 2010, we obtained approvaPioneer Tax Status in Singapore. We do not expécstatus to have a material
impact on our business, operating results, or firdrtondition. We cannot predict whether Pioneax Btatus will have a material impact on
our business, operating results, or financial cioowlin future periods because the availabilityhe tax incentives will depend entirely on the
long-term development of our business.

Inventory Valuation

We record adjustments to inventory for potentiatkgess, obsolete, slow-moving, or impaired goodsder to state inventory at its net
realizable value. The business environment in whieloperate is subject to rapid changes in teclgyaddmd customer demand. We regularly
review inventory for excess and obsolete produstsamponents, taking into account product lifeleyd development plans, product
expiration and
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quality issues, historical experience, and ourentrinventory levels. If actual market conditioms kess favorable than anticipated, additional

inventory adjustments could be required.

Results of Operations
Revenue

We generate revenue from sales of our productndie and collaboration agreements, and governmamiisg Our product revenue

consists of sales of instruments and related sesy&nd consumables, including IFCs, assays aed iagents. We have entered into license

and collaboration agreements and have receivedigment grants to conduct research and developnetinities.

The following table presents our revenue by sofoceach period presented (in thousands):

Year Ended December 31

2012 2011 2010

Revenue
Instruments $29,15: $25,19( $20,70¢
Consumable 22,33t 15,39: 9,754
Product revenu 51,48¢ 40,58: 30,46:
License and collaboration reven 18t 1,71¢ 1,62¢
Grant revenu 661 56¢ 1,47:
Total revenu $52,33¢ $42,86: $33,56(

The following table presents our product revenugdgygraphy and as a percentage of total produehtevby geography based on the
billing address of our customers for each periasented (in thousands):

Year Ended December 31

2012 2011 2010
United States $27,32¢ 53%  $21,64¢ 53%  $16,61¢ 55%
Europe 13,08¢ 26% 10,49¢ 26% 7,571 25%
Japar 3,84( % 3,94: 10% 2,70C 9%
Asia Pacific 6,321 12% 3,69¢ 9% 2,80( 9%
Other 91¢€ 2% 79¢€ 2% 76€ 2%
Total $51,48¢ 100%  $40,58: 100%  $30,46: 100%

Grant revenue is received from our incentive gravitis the EDB and the California Institute of Regeative Medicine, or CIRM. Grant
revenue from CIRM is generated in the United Statesgrant revenue with the EDB was generatedrigeiore. License and collaboration
revenue is primarily generated in the United States

Our customers include academic research institsiticimical laboratories, and pharmaceutical, lwbi®logy and Ag-Bio companies
worldwide. Total revenue from our five largest amers in each of the periods presented compriség 18%, and 19% of revenue in 2012,
2011, and 2010, respectively.

Comparison of the Years Ended December 31, 2012 afkcember 31, 2011

Total Revenue
Total revenue increased by $9.4 million, or 22%$5%@.3 million for 2012 as compared to $42.9 millfor 2011.

48



Table of Contents

Product Revenue

Product revenue increased by $10.9 million, or 2@451.5 million for 2012 as compared to $40.6iomlfor 2011, reflecting increased
revenue from sales of instruments and consumaBassumables revenue increased by $6.9 million566,4rimarily due to increased sale:
genotyping and gene expression IFCs, and to arlezgent, Access Array IFCs and assays. IFC satestg was driven by increases in the
installed base of our instrument systems, analytiaip pull-through, and to a lesser extent, byheiglFC average selling prices. Instrument
revenue increased by $4.0 million, or 16%, prinyadile to the launch of our £ Single-Cell Auto Psgptem during the third quarter of 2012,
and increased sales of our service offerings atedrafrket instruments. This was partially offsetdegreased unit sales of the Access Array
system and, to a much lesser extent, decreasedal@d of our analytical systems.

We expect unit sales of both instruments and coablas to continue to increase in future periods@sontinue our efforts to grow our
customer base and expand our geographic marketagmeHowever, we expect the average selling pa€esir instruments to fluctuate over
time based on product mix.

License and Collaboration Revenue

License and collaboration revenue decreased byriillibn to $0.2 million for 2012 as compared to. $illion for 2011 due to the
termination of the collaboration agreement with Bidis Vaccines & Diagnostics, Inc. (Novartis V&D) day 1, 2012. The collaboration
agreement with Novartis V&D was entered into in MDA 0 to develop a new product and received arra-payment of $0.7 million.
Additionally, the collaboration agreement providedpayments to us upon the achievement of multieléned milestones related to the des
and development of product prototypes.

In March 2011, we entered into an amendment tedtlaboration agreement and received an additi$@a million. Under the
amendment, certain milestones were modified andhpay terms related to this agreement associatédsatisfaction of the milestones were
revised.

During 2011, we recognized $1.0 million of milestarvenue related to this agreement. All our perésrce obligations under this
agreement were satisfied at December 31, 2011hemd tvere no other agreements with potential futitestones.

Grant Revenue

Grant revenue consists of incentive grants fromegowment entities, including EDB and CIRM. Granterue increased $0.1 million to
$0.7 million for 2012, compared to $0.6 million 2011. The increase relates to our CIRM grant agthnt from the EDB was completed in
May 2011. Under our incentive grant agreements ®widB, we received incentive grant payments equal portion of qualifying expenses we
incurred in Singapore. We incurred $0.5 milliongofalifying expenses in 2011.

Our agreements with EDB provided that grants ex¢drtd us were subject to certain grant conditionsovided EDB with the right to
demand repayment of a portion of past grants irettemt that we did not meet our obligations unterapplicable agreements. Based on
correspondence with EDB, we believe we have satisfur obligations applicable to our EDB grant rexethrough December 31, 2012.

Our first CIRM grant was awarded in 2009 in the amtoof $0.8 million and was earned over a two-ygarod. Our second CIRM grant
was awarded in 2011 in the amount of $1.9 milliohé¢ earned over a three-year period. The CIRMtgesenue is recognized as the related
research and development services are performedastsl associated with the grants are recognizessaarch and development expense
during the period incurred.

We expect total grant revenue for 2013 to be ctersisvith 2012 as our grant revenue from CIRM tsigle and develop prototype
microfluidic systems for use in stem cell researchtinues.
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Cost of Product Revenue
The following table presents our cost of produgeraie and product margin for each period presgimatiousands).

Year Ended
December 31 December 31
2012 2011
Cost of product revenue $ 15,32 $ 13,19
Product margir 70% 67%

Cost of product revenue includes manufacturingsciosiurred in the production process, including porrent materials, assembly labor
and overhead, installation, packaging, and delicests. In addition, cost of product revenue inekitbyalty costs for licensed technologies
included in our products, warranty, service, privis for slow-moving and obsolete inventory, aratktbased compensation expense. Costs
related to license, collaboration and grant reveareancluded in research and development expense.

Cost of product revenue increased $2.1 milliorl.&%, to $15.3 million for 2012 from $13.2 millioorf2011 due to increased product
sales in 2012. Cost of product revenue as a pagerdf related revenue decreased to 30% for 20hpaeed to 33% for 2011. This
improvement was primarily due to a higher produt af higher margin consumables relative to instemts systems; lower consumables
manufacturing costs resulting from higher produttiolumes and yield improvements; a shift to highargin instruments within the
instrument systems product line; and lower produaterial costs for analytical systems and the Axdagsay system. These improvements
were offset in part by higher freight and distribatcosts.

Operating Expenses
The following table presents our operating expefsesach period presented (in thousands):

Year Ended
December 31 December 31
2012 2011
Research and development $ 16,60: $ 13,93¢
Selling, general and administrati 38,47¢ 31,30¢
Litigation settlemen — 3,00(
Total operating expens $ 55,08( $  48,24(

Research and Development

Research and development expense consists primaplgrsonnel costs, independent contractor cpeisptype and material expenses
and other allocated facilities and information tealogy expenses. We have made substantial investrireresearch and development since
inception. Our research and development effortg fiasused primarily on enhancing our technologresta support development and
commercialization of new and existing products sexvices.

Research and development expense increased $Hahor 19%, to $16.6 million for 2012, comparedi13.9 million for 2011. The
increase in research and development expense waarily due to an increase in compensation codlisralated expenses, including stock-
based compensation, of $1.3 million, lab supplie$equipment costs of $1.1 million, and outsideises of $0.1 million. These increased
costs were in support of our development and comiadération of new and existing products and searsic

We believe that our continued investment in redeard development is essential to our long-termpagditive position and we expect
these expenses to increase in future periods.
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Selling, General and Administrative

Selling, general and administrative expense canpistnarily of personnel costs for our sales andketing, business development,
finance, legal, human resources and general maregeas well as professional services, such as$ &gbaccounting services.

Selling, general and administrative expense ine@&3.2 million, or 23%, to $38.5 million for 201&mpared to $31.3 million for 2011.
The increase was primarily due to an increase inpemsation costs and related expenses, includicg-fiased compensation, of $4.7 million,
an increase in sales and marketing activities d #iillion, an increase in accounting and outsielwises of $0.6 million, and an increase in
facility expenses of $0.3 million. The increase wamarily driven by expansion of worldwide commiat@apabilities to support our growth
and compliance costs.

We expect selling, general and administrative egpéa increase in future periods as we continggdw our sales, technical support,
marketing, and administrative headcount, suppaeregmsed product sales, broaden our customer bab@aur additional costs to support our
expanding global footprint and the overall growttour business.

Litigation Settlement

On June 30, 2011, we settled certain litigation enigred into a series of patent license agreemesititing in a net $3.0 million payme
by us to Life Technologies Corporation and its AgglBiosystems, LLC subsidiary, referred to as Lifee payment was recognized as
litigation settlement expense in our consolidatatiesnent of operations because the amount pai@ yas principally attributable to resolving
Life’s litigation claims against us with respectaapecific expiring U.S. patent and its foreignm@rparts.

Under the terms of the agreements, each partyHeadtion, exercisable for thirty days from theedatt the agreements, to limit or
preclude certain patent litigation between theiparver a period of two to four years. These sgire subject to certain exceptions and
required an additional payment by the party exargithe option at the time of exercise. In July 20de exercised our option and paid Life
$2.0 million. As a result, subject to certain extaps, Life may not initiate litigation under iteignts existing as of June 30, 2011 against our
customers for two years and against us, with reégpemur current products and equivalent futuredpas, for four years. The additional
payment was recorded in other assets and is baiogtiaed to selling, general and administrativeenge over four years on a straight-line
basis beginning in July 2011. The additional payniebeing amortized to selling, general and adstiiative expense because it precludes Lif
from initiating litigation under its relevant patsrfor any alleged prior and future infringementusyfor four years, and because such prech
relates to our equivalent future products. Lifectdd not to exercise its option.

Litigation settlement expense was $3.0 million26d.1 as a result of the agreements entered intolwfit on June 30, 2011. We had no
similar agreement in 2012.
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I nterest Expense, I nterest Income and Other Income and Expense, Net

We receive interest income from our cash equivalant investments. Conversely, we incur, or havermed, interest expense from our
bank line of credit, long-term debt, convertiblemissory notes and the amortization of debt distoreiated to our long-term debt and
convertible promissory notes. Until the closingoaf IPO, we also recognized income or expenseresudt of changes in the fair value of
outstanding warrants to purchase shares of ourectible preferred stock. The following table presahese items for each period presente
thousands):

Year Ended
December 31 December 31
2012 2011
Interest expense $ (62€) $ (3,109
Loss from changes in the fair value of convertjirieferred
stock warrants, ne — (1,489
Gain from extinguishment of convertible preferréack
warrants — 765
Other (expense) income, r (189) 81
Deemed dividend related to the change in conversitmof
Series E convertible preferred stc — (9,900

Interest expense decreased $2.5 million, or 80%01t6 million for 2012, compared to $3.1 milliorr 2011. The decrease is primarily
due to $1.2 million of non-cash interest expenseimection with a $5.0 million note and warranteggnent entered into in January 2011. We
repaid all principal and interest outstanding urttiernote in February 2011 upon the closing ofIB@. There was no similar transaction or
recognition of expense in 2012. The decrease aldted from a reduction in the principal amounowf long-term debt beginning in March
2011, when we began making principal and interagtrents totaling $0.6 million per month. As reqditender our loan agreement, we made
an additional principal payment of $2.3 millionNfarch 2012. In June 2012, we elected to make aneptirecipal payment of $1.9 million
using proceeds from our line of credit. In Augustl &eptember 2012, we elected to pay the rema$fir®ymillion balance due under the loan
agreement.

Prior to our IPO, the fair value of the convertipleferred stock warrant liability increased resglin a loss of $1.5 million in 2011. We
did not have any outstanding convertible prefestedk warrants during 2012 as all convertible prefi stock warrants were either converted
into warrants to purchase common stock, or expiregkercised, or were exercised for shares of omnoon stock upon the closing of our IPO
in February 2011. Upon the closing of our IPO, ilitibs related to the expired warrants were regdrsesulting in a gain of $0.8 million duri
2011. Liabilities related to the warrants that weseverted into warrants to purchase common stodknaarrants that were exercised in
connection with our IPO were reclassified to additil paid-in-capital.

Deemed Dividend

In January 2011, we amended and restated ouricattifof incorporation to decrease the conversiaemf our Series E convertible
preferred stock from $24.22 to $18.63 per sharea Assult, we recognized a deemed dividend of 88ll#bn, reflecting the fair value of the
additional shares of common stock to be issuedrasudt of the change in conversion price of theeSeE convertible preferred stock. The
deemed dividend increased the net loss attribatedmmon stockholders in the calculation of basit diluted net loss per share.
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Comparison of the Years Ended December 31, 2011 afecember 31, 2010
Total Revenue
Total revenue increased by $9.3 million, or 28%%$4@&.9 million for 2011 as compared to $33.6 millfor 2010.

Product Revenue

Product revenue increased by $10.1 million, or 38%640.6 million for 2011 as compared to $30.5iomlfor 2010, reflecting increased
revenue from sales of instruments and consumaBtassumables revenue increased by $5.6 million8é6,5esulting from our higher install
base of instruments and the launch of our assasiadss in the first half of 2011. Instrument revemcreased by $4.5 million, or 22%,
resulting from an increase in instrument saleswmelwf 19%, primarily driven by sales of our Acc@sgy instrument. Average instrument
selling prices were higher for 2011 compared tol2@de to the launch of our BioMark HD system in fin&t quarter of 2011, which has a
higher average selling price than our other systemd increased sales in Japan and Europe, wheragevselling prices are higher, partially
offset by increased sales of our Access Array systevhich has a lower average selling price contpr®ur BioMark and EP1 systems.

License and Collaboration Revenue

License and collaboration revenue was $1.7 milfmr2011, compared to $1.6 million for 2010, priiharelated to a collaboration
agreement with Novartis V&D that we entered intdviay 2010. The collaboration agreement providedafoup-front payment of $0.7 million
that was recognized on a straight-line basis dweestimated period of performance under the aggaerin March 2011, we amended the
agreement and received an additional $0.3 millaynpent. Under the amendment, certain milestoneghengayment terms associated with
satisfaction of the milestones were modified. TBe&$nillion up-front payment and the $0.3 millioayment received in March 2011 were
being recognized on a straight-line basis througpt&nber 30, 2011, which was managensend'st estimate of its period of performance u
the amended agreement. During July 2011, we resexssdise period of performance and extended it givdlovember 2011. This change in
estimate did not have a material impact on thegeition of the remaining deferred revenue underatireement.

The arrangement also provided for milestone paysientthe design and development of product prgiegy which have been recogni:
as we achieved each milestone. During 2011, weeaetlithree milestones, submitted our final repoden the agreement, and recognized $1.
million of milestone revenue. During 2010, we agkig three milestones and recognized $1.25 millfamitestone revenue. All of our
performance obligations under the agreement wearghaied at December 31, 2011.

Grant Revenue

Grant revenue consists of incentive grants fromegowment entities, including EDB and CIRM. Granteeue decreased $0.9 million to
$0.6 million for 2011, compared to $1.5 million 2010. The decrease relates to a reduction inigctiader the EDB grant agreements as we
achieved certain milestones and reached the etit@frant periods, partially offset by new granereue from CIRM. Under our incentive
grant agreements with EDB, we received incentiamgpayments equal to a portion of qualifying exgeswe incurred in Singapore.
Qualifying expenses incurred by us in Singaporeavi€:.5 million in 2011 and $3.8 million in 2010.

Our agreements with EDB provided that grants ex¢drtd us were subject to certain grant conditionduding increasing our levels of
research, development and manufacturing in Singsaiwough the use of local service providers, thadrand training of personnel in
Singapore, the incurrence of research and developexpenses in Singapore, receipt of new investinemtir company and the achievemer
certain agreed upon milestones relating to theldpugent of our products. Development and manufaajumnilestones achieved include
completion of feasibility studies and prototype elepment, establishment of manufacturing lines,
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process automation and manufacturing yield imprcu@sifor our chips and related instruments. Thgseemnents further provided EDB with
the right to demand repayment of a portion of gaahts in the event that we did not meet our olibga under the applicable agreements. Ou
first grant agreement with the EDB was completeduily 2010. In October 2010, we received confirorafrom EDB that all of our obligatiol
under the first grant had been met and, in Oct2b&0, we received our final grant payment relath@yeto. Our second grant agreement with
the EDB was completed in May 2011. Based on coamdgnce with EDB, we believe we have satisfiedatligations applicable to our EDB
grant revenue through December 31, 2011.

Our first CIRM grant was awarded in 2009 in the anmtoof $0.8 million to be earned over a tyear period. Our second CIRM grant v
awarded in 2011 in the amount of $1.9 million toglaened over a three-year period. The CIRM grargmree is recognized as the related
research and development services are performedaatsl associated with the grants are recognizessaarch and development expense
during the period incurred.

Cost of Product Revenue
The following table presents our cost of produgeraie and product margin for each period presgimatiousands).

Year Ended
December 31 December 31
2011 2010
Cost of product revenue $ 13,19 $ 11,58
Product margir 67% 62%

Cost of product revenue includes manufacturingsciosiurred in the production process, including porrent materials, assembly labor
and overhead, installation, packaging, and delicests. In addition, cost of product revenue inekitbyalty costs for licensed technologies
included in our products, warranty, service, privis for slow-moving and obsolete inventory, aratktbased compensation expense. Costs
related to license, collaboration and grant reveareancluded in research and development expense.

Cost of product revenue increased $1.6 milliorl.4%, to $13.2 million for 2011 from $11.6 millionrf2010 due to increased product
sales in 2011. Cost of product revenue as a pagertf related revenue decreased to 33% for 20mpaeed to 38% for 2010. This decrease
was primarily due to lower instrument component&asd higher instrument average selling priced, tma lesser extent, lower IFC
manufacturing costs.

Operating Expenses
The following table presents our operating expeffi@esach period presented (in thousands):

Year Ended
December 31 December 31
2011 2010
Research and development $ 13,93¢ $ 13,007
Selling, general and administrati 31,30¢ 23,54t
Litigation settlemen 3,00( —
Total operating expens $  48,24( $ 36,55:

54



Table of Contents

Research and Development

Research and development expense consists priméplgrsonnel costs, independent contractor cpeisptype and material expenses
and other allocated facilities and information tealogy expenses. We have made substantial investriveresearch and development since
inception. Our research and development efforte li@eused primarily on enhancing our technologiesta support development and
commercialization of new and existing products sedlices.

Research and development expense increased $0c¢hirolr 7%, to $13.9 million for 2011, compared®b3.0 million for 2010. The
increase relates primarily to increased lab supplied consumables of $0.6 million, consulting amdgssional fees of $0.2 million to support
our new product development, and increased compiensand personnel related costs of $0.3 milliohjol include stock based compensal
partially offset by lower equipment and depreciatixpense of $0.2 million.

Selling, General and Administrative

Selling, general and administrative expense canpistnarily of personnel costs for our sales andketing, business development,
finance, legal, human resources and general marageas well as professional services, such as$ &gbaccounting services.

Selling, general and administrative expense ine@&3.8 million, or 33%, to $31.3 million for 201dgmpared to $23.5 million for 2010.
The increase was primarily due to increased congi@mscosts and related expenses, including staskd compensation, of $5.4 million,
resulting from increased headcount to support asimess and revenue growth, increased legal arffdgsional fees of $1.7 million, increased
other costs of $1.0 million to support our publ@rpany requirements, and increased advertisingeordotional costs of $0.4 million to
support our new product introductions and to inseemarket awareness of our products, partiallyebffy lower rent expense of $0.4 million
resulting from our lease renewal on more favorédlms for our headquarters facility in South SaanEisco, California and a decrease in our
provision for bad debt expense of $0.3 million.

Litigation Settlement

On June 30, 2011, we settled certain litigation enigred into a series of patent license agreemesititing in a net $3.0 million payme
by us to Life Technologies Corporation and its AgglBiosystems, LLC subsidiary, referred to as Lifee payment was recognized as
litigation settlement expense in our consolidatatiesnent of operations because the amount pai@ yas principally attributable to resolving
Life’s litigation claims against us with respectaapecific expiring U.S. patent and its foreignm@rparts.

Under the terms of the agreements, each partyHeadtion, exercisable for thirty days from theedatt the agreements, to limit or
preclude certain patent litigation between theiparver a period of two to four years. These sgire subject to certain exceptions and
required an additional payment by the party exargithe option at the time of exercise. In July 20de exercised our option and paid Life
$2.0 million. As a result, subject to certain extaps, Life may not initiate litigation under iteignts existing as of June 30, 2011 against our
customers for two years and against us, with reégpemur current products and equivalent futuredpas, for four years. The additional
payment was recorded in other assets and is baiogtiaed to selling, general and administrativeenge over four years on a straight-line
basis beginning in July 2011. The additional payniebeing amortized to selling, general and adstiiative expense because it precludes Lif
from initiating litigation under its relevant patsrfor any alleged prior and future infringementusyfor four years, and because such prech
relates to our equivalent future products. Lifectdd not to exercise its option.

Litigation settlement expense increased $3.0 milfar 2011 as a result of the agreements entetediith Life on June 30, 2011. We t
no similar agreement in 2010.
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I nterest Expense, I nterest Income and Other Income and Expense, Net

We receive interest income from our cash and cqsivalents and investments. Conversely, we inaunawe incurred, interest expense
from our longterm debt, bank line of credit and convertible pigsary notes, and the amortization of debt discouglated to these items. Ul
the completion of our IPO, we also recognized ine@nexpense as a result of changes in the faiewafl outstanding warrants to purchase
shares of our convertible preferred stock. Theofwihg table presents these items for each periesgmted (in thousands).

Year Ended
December 31 December 31
2011 2010
Interest expense $ (3,109 $ (2,159
Loss from changes in the fair value of convertjileferred
stock warrants, ne (1,489 (44%)
Gain from expiration of unexercised warra 765 —
Other income, ne 81 357
Deemed dividend related to the change in conversitnof
Series E convertible preferred stc (9,900 —

Interest expense increased $0.9 million, or 44983td million for 2011, compared to $2.2 milliorr 2010. The increase is primarily due
to $1.2 million of noreash interest expense in connection with a $5.0omihote and warrant purchase agreement entetedndanuary 201
We repaid all principal and interest outstandindenthe notes in February 2011 upon the completiaur IPO. There was no similar
transaction or recognition of expense in 2010.

Losses from changes in the fair value of prefestedk warrants increased $1.1 million to $1.5 willfor 2011 from $0.4 million for
2010 due to an increase in the warrant liability ¥alue through the completion of our IPO on Felbyul5, 2011. Upon completion of our IPO,
our outstanding preferred stock warrants convertedwarrants to purchase common stock or expiregkercised. A portion of the preferred
stock warrants that converted into warrants to pase common stock were net exercised in connegfitbrour IPO. Liabilities related to the
expired warrants were reversed and resulted inrergfiected in other income. Liabilities relatedthe warrants that were converted into
warrants to purchase common stock and warrantsviiag exercised for common stock were reclasstfieatiditional paid-in-capital.

Other income decreased from $0.4 million in 2018Qdl million for 2011, a decrease of 77%, to prifgalue to unfavorable changes in
foreign currency exchange gains and losses pgro#fdet by an increase in interest income dudéoiicrease in our cash, cash equivalents
investments during 2011.

Deemed Dividend

In January 2011, we amended and restated ouricatgifof incorporation to decrease the conversiaemf our Series E convertible
preferred stock from $24.22 to $18.63 per sharea Assult, we recognized a deemed dividend of 88ll#bn, reflecting the fair value of the
additional shares of common stock to be issuedrasudt of the change in conversion price of theeSeE convertible preferred stock. The
deemed dividend increased the net loss attribatedmmon stockholders in the calculation of basit diluted net loss per share.

Liquidity and Capital Resources
Sources of Liquidity
As of December 31, 2012, we had $58.6 million aficand cash equivalents and $25.0 million of stesrts and long-term investments.
As of December 31, 2012, our working capital tade#89.6 million. Our
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primary source of liquidity has been cash flowsrrproceeds from our IPO and secondary offerindgzdbruary 2011, we completed our IPO
which resulted in proceeds to us of approximat&ly.@ million, net of underwriting commissions asduance costs. Following the completion
of our IPO, we paid the balance on our bank lineredlit of $3.1 million, and paid $5.0 million tatsfy all outstanding principal and interest
on the notes we issued in January 2011.

In August 2012, we completed an underwritten puaifering which resulted in proceeds to us of agpmately $56.0 million, net of
underwriting commissions and issuance costs.

In December 2010, we entered into a bank line editagreement that was collateralized by our asse&tluding our intellectual
property, and provided us the ability to draw u7o0 million, subject to certain covenants andrieons.

In December 2012, we amended our bank line of ttedixtend the term for an additional two yeagt firovides us with the ability to
borrow up to $10.0 million, of which $6.0 millios available on a non-formula basis, subject taag®etovenants and other restrictions. The
balance of the $4.0 million of the line of creditavailable based on eligible receivables. At Ddmm31, 2012, there was no outstanding
balance on the bank line of credit.

The following table presents our cash flow sumnfaryeach period presented (in thousands):

Year Ended December 31

2012 2011 2010
Cash flow summar

Net cash used in operating activit $(17,479) $(17,547) $(11,509)
Net cash provided by (used in) investing activi 14,001 (45,110 (1,339
Net cash provided by financing activiti 48,521 70,36 3,79i
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equis 45,09¢ 7,83( (8,879

Net Cash Used in Operating Activities

We derive cash flows from operations primarily froash collected from the sale of our products abaltation and license agreements,
and grants from certain government entities. Oshdbws from operating activities are also sigrdfitly influenced by our use of cash for
operating expenses to support the growth of ouinkas. We have historically experienced negatish é@ws from operating activities as we
have expanded our business and built our infrastreclomestically and internationally and this noaptinue in the future.

Net cash used in operating activities was $17.5anjl$17.5 million, and $11.5 million in 2012, 20Jand 2010, respectively. Net cash
used in operating activities during 2012 primadbnsisted of our net loss of $19.0 million and demin our operating assets and liabilities in
the amount of $4.8 million, offset by non-cash exgeeitems, such as stock-based compensation, bh$ilion, and depreciation and
amortization of our property and equipment andnsseagreement rights of $2.2 million.

Net cash used in operating activities during 20drharily consisted of our net loss of $22.5 milliand changes in our operating assets
and liabilities in the amount of $1.3 million, oftsby non-cash expense items, such as stock-basgaensation, of $2.8 million, loss from
changes in the fair value of convertible prefestatk warrants of $1.5 million, depreciation andbatimation of our property and equipment
and license agreement rights of $1.4 million, woitfs of debt discounts of $1.2 million upon repaymof notes, amortization of debt discot
and issuance cost of $0.2 million, and a gain fexttinguishment of convertible preferred stock warsaf $0.8 million.
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Net cash used in operating activities of $11.5iamliduring 2010 primarily consisted of our net l0§$16.9 million, offset by changes in
our operating assets and liabilities in the amadi$1.9 million, and non-cash expense items, ssct@ck-based compensation, of $1.6
million, depreciation and amortization of our prageand equipment of $1.1 million, loss from chasgethe fair value of convertible prefen
stock warrants of $0.4 million, and amortizatiordebt discounts and issuance cost of $0.4 million.

Net Cash provided by (used in) I nvesting Activities

Our primary investing activities consisted of puashks, sales and maturities of our short-term amgHierm investments and capital
expenditures for manufacturing, laboratory and cat@pequipment and software to support our expaniifiastructure and work force. We
expect to continue to expand our manufacturing leéipa including improvements in manufacturing geectivity, and expect to incur
additional costs for capital expenditures relatethese efforts in future periods. In addition, expect to continue to incur costs for capital
expenditures for demonstration units and loaneipaa@nt to support our sales and service effortscamdputer equipment and software to
support our growth.

Net cash provided by investing activities was $Iillion in 2012 and net cash used in investingvitats was $45.1 million and $1.3
million in 2011 and 2010, respectively. Net casbvted by investing activities during 2012 primgrilonsisted of proceeds from sales and
maturities of short-term and long-term investmeit$51.8 million, partially offset by purchasesiofestments of $35.4 million and purchases
of capital equipment of $2.4 million to support@th in our commercial and manufacturing operations.

We used $45.1 million of cash in investing acteatiduring 2011 primarily consisting of purchasestuafrt-term and long-term
investments, net of maturities and sales, of $4iildon, purchase of capital equipment of $1.7 il to support our infrastructure, including
information technology, and manufacturing operatjand license agreement rights under our settlewiémLife of $2.0 million.

We used $1.3 million of cash in investing activstiduring 2010 for purchases of capital equipmesufgport our infrastructure and
manufacturing operations of $1.5 million, partiadiffset by the release of $0.2 million from regtit cash for a sulease that expired and frc
a lower restricted cash requirement on the nevel&asour headquarters facility in South San Frsewi California.

Net Cash Provided by Financing Activities

We generated $48.5 million of cash from financicgwaties during 2012 primarily from proceeds frauar underwritten public offering
completed in August 2012 of approximately $56.0diom| net of underwriting commissions and issuarmsts, proceeds from the exercise of
options to purchase our common stock of $2.7 nmilljgartially offset by repayment of principal orr dong-term debt of $10.2 million.

We generated $70.4 million of cash from financiegwties during 2011 primarily from proceeds of A3 million from our initial public
offering, net of underwriting commissions and isst&costs, and proceeds from the exercise of sfoitins of $1.3 million, partially offset by
principal payments on our long-term debt of $4.%iam and repayment of our bank line of credit Ivea of $3.1 million.

We generated $3.8 million of cash from financingwities during 2010 primarily from proceeds fromardine of credit of $3.1 million
and proceeds from exercises of preferred stockamtgrand stock options of $0.7 million.

Capital Resources

At December 31, 2012, December 31, 2011, and DeeeB1h 2010, our working capital was $89.6 milli&49.9 million, and
$2.4 million, respectively, including cash and cashivalents of $58.6 million, $13.6 million,
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and $5.7 million, respectively, and short-term &m-term investments of $25.0 million and $41.4liom at December 31, 2012 and
December 31, 2011, respectively. There were nostnvents at December 31, 2010. In January 2011laised $5.0 million through the
issuance of subordinated secured promissory nagksvarrants to our existing stockholders. In Felyraad March 2011, we repaid the $5.0
million in promissory notes issued by us in Jan20¥1.

Beginning in March 2011, we began making princip@yments on our long-term debt, following the ehthe interest-only period in
February 2011. Commencing in March 2011, monthlgnpents increased from interest payments of $0.Ramito principal and interest
payments of $0.6 million. During 2012, we paid temaining balance due on our long-term debt. Rsalggayments on our long-term debt
were $10.2 million and $4.7 million in 2012 and 20fespectively. During 2012, 2011, and 2010, @yital expenditures were $2.4 million,
$1.7 million, and $1.5 million, respectively. Weeastimating capital expenditures to be higheOibh3®primarily to continue our improvements
in manufacturing productivity, sales demonstraaon loaner equipment to service the growth in delpa customer base, and computer
equipment and software to support our growth.

We believe our existing cash, cash equivalents jmarestments will be sufficient to meet our workicapital and capital expenditure
needs for at least the next 18 months. Howevemas experience lower than expected cash genenaeddperating activities or greater than
expected capital expenditures, cost of revenugerating expenses, and we may need to raise atitapital to expand the
commercialization of our products, expand and faadoperations, further our research and developawivities, or acquire or invest in a
business. Our future funding requirements will degpen many factors, including market acceptancauofproducts, the cost of our research
and development activities, the cost of filing gmdsecuting patent applications, the cost assatiaith litigation or disputes relating to
intellectual property rights, or otherwise, thetcarsd timing of regulatory clearances or approvékny, the cost and timing of establishing
additional sales, marketing and distribution calitzs, the cost and timing of establishing additbtechnical support capabilities, and the
effect of competing technological and market depeients. In the future, we may acquire businesseéscbnologies from third parties, and we
may decide to raise additional capital through adel#quity financing to the extent we believe thisecessary to successfully complete these
acquisitions. We currently have no commitmentsgreaments relating to any such acquisitions.

If we require additional funds in the future, weynmmt be able to obtain such funds on acceptabhesteor at all. If we raise additional
funds by issuing equity securities, our stockhadaay experience dilution. Debt financing, if aghale, may involve covenants restricting our
operations or our ability to incur additional dehhy debt or additional equity financing that wéseamay contain terms that are not favorable
to us or our stockholders. If we raise additionads through collaboration and licensing arrangdsweith third parties, it may be necessary tc
relinquish some rights to our technologies or awdpcts, or grant licenses on terms that are natréble to us. If we are unable to raise
adequate funds, we may have to liquidate somd of alir assets, or delay, reduce the scope ofimirate some or all of our development
programs. If we do not have, or are not able taiobsufficient funds, we may have to delay develept or commercialization of our products
or license to third parties the rights to commdizéaproducts or technologies that we would otheerseek to commercialize. We also may
have to reduce marketing, customer support, relseard development, or other resources devotedrtproducts or cease operations.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

Since our inception, we have not had any off-badasteet arrangements as defined in Item 303(al) (heSecurities and Exchange
Commission’s Regulation S-K.
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Contractual Obligations and Commitments
The following summarizes our contractual obligati@s of December 31, 2012 (in thousands):

Payments Due by Perioc

Less than :
1- 3
Total Year 3 Years 5 Years Thereafter
Operating lease obligations $3,027 $ 1,48: $1,54¢ $— $ —
Purchase obligatior 3,87¢ 3,87¢ — — —
Total $6,90: $ 5,35¢ $1,54¢ $— $ —

Our operating lease obligations relate to a leasedr current headquarters and leases for offieeesfor our foreign subsidiaries.
Purchase obligations consist of contractual andlligtpinding commitments to purchase goods.

We have entered into several license and pateatamwnts. Under these agreements, we pay annuadiceaintenance fees,
nonrefundable license issuance fees, and royalsi@spercentage of net sales for the sale or suiskcof products using the licensed
technology. If we elect to maintain these licengeaments, we will pay aggregate annual fees afoappately $0.4 million per year until
2031. Future payments related to these licenseagnets have not been included in the contractUajaitons table above as the period of ti
over which the future license payments will be isgpito be made, and the amount of such paymeatsnideterminable.

On March 7, 2003, we entered into a Master Clogiggeement with Oculus Pharmaceuticals, Inc. andXAB Research Foundation, or
UAB, related to certain intellectual property aedhnology rights licensed by us from UAB. Pursuarthe agreement, we are obligated to
issue to UAB shares of our common stock with a@agual to $1.5 million upon the achievement oérain milestone and based upon the
market value of our common stock at the time thiestone is achieved. We currently do not anticipatgeving this milestone in the
foreseeable future and do not anticipate issuiegdlshares.

In September 2010, we entered into a new leaseufoheadquarters in South San Francisco, Califofitiia new lease expires in April
2015 and includes a renewal option for an addititmae years. We received a $0.4 million leasemtize which is being recognized as a
reduction of rent expense on a straight-line bagés the term of the new lease.

ITEM 7A.  QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES A BOUT MARKET RISK

Market risk represents the risk of loss that magant our financial position due to adverse chaimgésancial market prices and rates.
Our market risk exposure is primarily a resultlatfuations in foreign currency exchange ratesiatatest rates. We do not hold or issue
financial instruments for trading purposes.

Foreign Currency Exchange Risk

As we expand internationally our results of operadiand cash flows will become increasingly suleétuctuations due to changes in
foreign currency exchange rates. Our revenue isrgéip denominated in the local currency of thetcacting party. Historically, the substan
majority of our revenue has been denominated in dofars. Our expenses are generally denominatéuki currencies in which our operatic
are located, which is primarily in the United Stateith a portion of expenses incurred in Singapdnere our manufacturing facility is locat
Our results of operations and cash flows are, theresubject to fluctuations due to changes ieifpr currency exchange rates. Fluctuations il
currency exchange rates could harm our busines®ifuture. The effect of a 10% adverse changedhange rates on foreign currency
denominated cash, receivables and payables ascehideer 31, 2012 and December 31, 2011 would na heen material.
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To date, we have not entered into any materiaigareurrency hedging contracts although we mayalim $he future.

I nterest Rate Sensitivity

We had cash and cash equivalents of $58.6 millideaember 31, 2012. These amounts were held phynacash on deposit with
banks, money market funds, and U.S. governmentcggeecurities, which are shdgrm. We had $25.0 million in investments at Decengi
2012 held primarily in U.S. government agency sikiegt The contractual maturity periods of $22.9iom of our investments are within one
year from December 31, 2012. The contractual mgtpariods of our remaining investments are leas tfwo years. Cash and cash equival
and investments are held for working capital pugso®ue to the short-term nature of these invessnere believe that we do not have any
material exposure to changes in the fair valueuofitvestment portfolio as a result of changesiteriest rates. Declines in interest rates,
however, will reduce future investment income.vémll interest rates had decreased by 10% duniagériods presented, our interest income
would not have been materially affected.

Fair Value of Financial I nstruments

We do not have material exposure to market risk waspect to investments. We do not use derivéitiamcial instruments for
speculative or trading purposes. We may adopt Bpéedging strategies in the future.
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accountingrirm

The Board of Directors and Stockholders of FluidiGorporation

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balsineets of Fluidigm Corporation as of Decembef812 and 2011, and the
related consolidated statements of operations, celmepsive loss, convertible preferred stock anckstolders’ equity (deficit), and cash flows
for each of the three years in the period endecBber 31, 2012. Our audits also included the firstatement schedule listed in the Inde
Item 15(2). These financial statements and scheatel¢he responsibility of the Company’s managent@uat responsibility is to express an
opinion on these financial statements and schdzhded on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with thedstats of the Public Company Accounting OversighafBioUnited States). Those
standards require that we plan and perform thet &dndbtain reasonable assurance about whethdindrecial statements are free of material
misstatement. An audit includes examining, on tldasis, evidence supporting the amounts and digs in the financial statements. An a
also includes assessing the accounting princiged and significant estimates made by managenenelhas evaluating the overall financial
statement presentation. We believe that our apditgide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the financial statements refer@alove present fairly, in all material respedts, ¢onsolidated financial position of
Fluidigm Corporation at December 31, 2012 and 2and, the consolidated results of its operationsi@snthsh flows for each of the three ye
in the period ended December 31, 2012, in confgrmith U.S. generally accepted accounting princdpklso, in our opinion, the related
financial statement schedule, when consideredatioa to the basic financial statements takenabale, presents fairly in all material
respects the information set forth therein.

We also have audited, in accordance with the stasd# the Public Company Accounting Oversight Bo@snited States), Fluidigm
Corporation’s internal control over financial repog as of December 31, 2012, based on criter@béished in Internal Control-Integrated
Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoringa@mations of the Treadway Commission and our ttegetied March 12, 2013 expressed
an unqualified opinion thereon.

/sl Ernst & Young LLP

Redwood City, Californii
March 12, 201!
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accountingrirm

The Board of Directors and Stockholders of FluidiGorporation

We have audited Fluidigm Corporatigrinternal control over financial reporting as afdd@mber 31, 2012, based on criteria establish
Internal Control—Integrated Framework issued by@oenmittee of Sponsoring Organizations of the TweadCommission (the COSO
criteria). Fluidigm Corporation’s management ispassible for maintaining effective internal contosler financial reporting, and for its
assessment of the effectiveness of internal cootret financial reporting included in the accomgagyManagement’s Report on Internal
Control Over Financial Reporting. Our responsipiig to express an opinion on the company’s infezaatrol over financial reporting based
on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the stedwof the Public Company Accounting Oversighti@d&/nited States). Those
standards require that we plan and perform the &mdbtain reasonable assurance about whetheatigéfénternal control over financial
reporting was maintained in all material respe@is: audit included obtaining an understanding térimal control over financial reporting,
assessing the risk that a material weakness etasting and evaluating the design and operatifegtéfeness of internal control based on the
assessed risk, and performing such other procedsre®& considered necessary in the circumstancefeéliéve that our audit provides a
reasonable basis for our opinion.

A company'’s internal control over financial repodiis a process designed to provide reasonablesaesuregarding the reliability of
financial reporting and the preparation of finahstatements for external purposes in accordantiegeinerally accepted accounting princip
A company'’s internal control over financial repodiincludes those policies and procedures thai€ftpin to the maintenance of records that,
in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reftbettransactions and dispositions of the assdtseocfompany; (2) provide reasonable assuranc
that transactions are recorded as necessary tatg@aparation of financial statements in accor@anwith generally accepted accounting
principles, and that receipts and expenditureb®ttbmpany are being made only in accordance witioaizations of management and
directors of the company; and (3) provide reasanabburance regarding prevention or timely deteatfainauthorized acquisition, use, or
disposition of the company’s assets that could lzanweterial effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal cohtver financial reporting may not prevent or d¢taisstatements. Also, projections of
any evaluation of effectiveness to future periogssabject to the risk that controls may becomdeénaate because of changes in condition
that the degree of compliance with the policieprocedures may deteriorate.

In our opinion, Fluidigm Corporation maintained ath material respects, effective internal contreér financial reporting as of
December 31, 2012, based on the COSO criteria.

We also have audited, in accordance with the stasd# the Public Company Accounting Oversight Bo@nited States), the
consolidated balance sheets of Fluidigm Corpora®nf December 31, 2012 and 2011, and the retatesblidated statements of operations,
comprehensive loss, convertible preferred stocksaockholders’ equity (deficit), and cash flows &arch of the three years in the period ende
December 31, 2012 of Fluidigm Corporation and ewort dated March 12, 2013 expressed an unquatfi@don thereon.

/sl Ernst & Young LLP

Redwood City, Californii
March 12, 201!

64



Table of Contents

FLUIDIGM CORPORATION

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
(In thousands, except per share amounts)

December 31 December 31
2012 2011
ASSETS
Current assett
Cash and cash equivalel $ 58,64¢ $ 13,55
Shor-term investment 21,36: 39,91«
Accounts receivable (net of allowances of $448 %866 at December 31, 2012 and 2011,

respectively’ 12,90( 9,25:
Inventories 7,16¢ 5,97(
Prepaid expenses and other current a: 1,131 1,34:

Total current asse 101,21: 70,03:
Long-term investment 3,66¢ 1,50(
Property and equipment, r 4,97¢ 3,25¢
Other nor-current asset 3,881 4,53i
Total asset $ 113,73. $ 79,32¢
LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS ' EQUITY
Current liabilities:
Accounts payabl $ 2,65t $ 4,01
Accrued compensation and related ben: 2,871 2,44;
Other accrued liabilitie 4,27¢ 2,78
Deferred revenue, current porti 1,88¢ 2,011
Long-term debt, current portic 0 8,921
Total current liabilities 11,591 20,17:
Long-term debt, net of current portic 0 1,21
Deferred revenue, net of current port 1,241 667
Other nor-current liabilities 237 374
Total liabilities 13,07¢ 22,42¢
Commitments and contingenci
Stockholder' equity:
Preferred stock, $0.001 par value, 10,000 shart®ared, no shares issued and outstanding

December 31, 2012 and 2011, respecti' 0] 0]
Common stock: $0.001 par value, 200,000 shareoandid at December 31, 2012 and 2011,

25,115 and 20,321 shares issued and outstandidgcaimber 31, 2012 and 2011, respecti 25 20
Additional paic-in capital 342,22. 279,42¢
Accumulated other comprehensive | (769 (759
Accumulated defici (240,82) (221,79)

Total stockholder equity 100,65 56,89:
Total liabilities and stockholde’ equity $ 113,73 $ 79,32¢

See accompanying notes.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS
(In thousands, except per share amounts)

Revenue
Product revenu
License and collaboration reven
Grant revenu
Total revenue
Costs and expense
Cost of product revent
Research and developmt
Selling, general and administrati
Litigation settlemen
Total costs and expens
Loss from operation
Interest expens
Loss from changes in the fair value of convertjirieferred stock warrants, r
Gain from extinguishment of convertible preferréack warrants
Other (expense) income, r
Loss before income tax
Provision for income taxe
Net loss
Deemed dividend related to the change in conversitmof Series E convertible preferred st
Net loss attributed to common stockhold

Net loss per share attributed to common stockhs]dersic and dilute
Shares used in computing net loss per share a#dlio common stockholders, basic and dilt

See accompanying notes.
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Year Ended December 31

2012 2011 2010
$51,48¢  $40,58°  $30,46:
185 1,71€ 1,62t
661 56¢ 1,47¢
52,33 42,86 33,56(
15,32t 13,19: 11,58:
16,60: 13,93¢ 13,00°
38,47¢ 31,30« 23,54
0 3,00( 0
70,40¢ 61,43 48,13
(18,07) (18,566 (14,57
(628) (3,107) (2,15¢)
0 (1,487) (44F)
0 76¢ 0
(18 81 357
(18,889  (22,30) (16,819
(13€) (16€) (83)
(19,02) (22,470  (16,907)
0 (9,900) 0
$(19,029  $(32,370  $(16,90)
$ (0.8 $ (1.8) $ (8.99)
22,13¢ 17,84: 1,89(
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FLUIDIGM CORPORATION

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE LOSS
(In thousands)

Year Ended December 31

2012 2011 2010
Net loss $(19,029) $(22,47() $(16,907)
Other comprehensive loss, net of
Foreign currency translation adjustm: (29 10 (279
Unrealized gain on investments, | 4 14 0
Other comprehensive income (lo (15) 24 (279
Comprehensive los $(19,039  $(22,446)  $(17,17¢)

See accompanying notes.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CONVERTIBLE PREFERRED ST OCK AND STOCKHOLDERS'’ EQUITY (DEFICIT)
(In thousands, except per share amounts)

Accumulated

Convertible
Preferred Stock Common Stock Additi Comgrtgﬁénsiw Accumulated StocL?\tcE)iIlders’
itional
Paid-in
Shares Amount Shares  Amount Capital Loss Deficit Deficit
Balance as of December 31, 2009 10,23¢ $183,84! 1862 $ 2 $ 930t $ (504) $(182,42) $ (173,619
Issuance of common stock upon exercis
stock options for cash and for vesting of
stock options that were exercised e: 0 0 18 0 42 0 0 42
Stocl-based compensation expel 0 0 0 0 1,58¢ 0 0 1,58¢
Issuance of Series E€onvertible preferre
stock in connection with warrant
amendment and related exercise of
convertible preferred stock warrants, net
of issuance costs of $t 57 70% 0 0 0 0 0 0
Issuance of common stock upon exercis
convertible preferred stock warrai 0 0 57 0 0 0 0 0]
Net loss 0 0 0 0 0 0 (16,907 (16,907
Other comprehensive lo 0 0 ] 0 0 0 (279 0 (279
Balance as of December 31, 2( 10,29¢ $184,55! 193 $ 2 $ 1093 $ (778) $(199,32) $(189,16)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CONVERTIBLE PREFERRED ST OCK AND STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY (DEFICIT)—
(Continued)
(In thousands, except per share amounts)

Accumulated Total

Convertible ,
Preferred Stock Common Stock N Comgrtgﬁénsiw Accumulated Stockholders
Additional
Paid-in Equity
Shares Amount Shares  Amount Capital Loss Deficit (Deficit)
Balance as of December 31, 2010 10,29¢ $ 184,55( 1937 $ 2 $ 1093¢ $ (77¢) $(199,32) $(189,16)
Issuance of common stock from initial
public offering, net of issuance costs
of $9,346 0 0 6,397 6 76,94( 0 0 76,94¢
Change in conversion rate of Series E
convertible preferred stoc 0 9,90( 0 0 (9,900 0 0 (9,900
Conversion of convertible preferred
stock into common stock at initial
public offering (10,296 (194,45() [ 11,48( 12 194,43t 0 0 194,45(
Issuance of common stock upon exer
of warrants 0 0 174 0 1,392 0 0 1,392

Conversion of warrants from warrants
for preferred stock to warrants for
common stocl 0 0] 0 0] 1,53t 0 0 1,53t

Issuance of common stock upon exer
of stock options for cash and for
vesting of stock options that were

early exercise! 0 0 33¢ 0 1,28¢ 0 0 1,28¢
Stocl-based compensation expel 0 0 0 0 2,79¢ 0 0 2,79¢

Net loss 0 0 0 0 0 0 (22,47() (22,47()
Other comprehensive lo 0 0 | 0 0 0 24 0 24
Balance as of December 31, 2( 0% 0 |20,32: $ 2C $ 279,42 $ (754 $(221,79) $ 56,89
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CONVERTIBLE PREFERRED ST OCK AND STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY (DEFICIT)—

Balance as of December 31, 2011

Issuance of common stock, net of
issuance costs of $3,9

Issuance of common stock upon exerc
of stock options for cas

Stocl-based compensation expel

Net loss

Other comprehensive lo

Balance as of December 31, 2(

(Continued)
(In thousands, except per share amounts)

Accumulated

Convertible
Other Total
Preferred Stock Common Stock Additi Comprehensive  Accumulated  Stockholders’
itional
Paid-in
Shares Amount Shares  Amount Capital Loss Deficit Equity
0 $ O 20,32: $ 2C $27942¢ $ (754 $(221,79) $ 56,89:
0 0 4,20¢ 4 56,00 0 0 56,00¢
0 0 58t 1 2,70z 0 0 2,70%
0 0 0 0 4,08¢ 0 0 4,08¢
0 0 0 0 0 0 (19,02 (19,029
0 0 0 0 0 (15) 0 (15)
0 $ 0 | 2511f $ 25 $342,22. $ (769 $(240,82) $ 100,65

=

See accompanying notes.
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FLUIDIGM CORPORATION

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
(In thousands)

Year Ended December 31

2012 2011 2010

Operating activities
Net loss $(19,02¢9  $(22,470)  $(16,907)
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash usegerating activities
Depreciation and amortizatic 2,13¢ 1,41( 1,14(
Stocl-based compensation expel 4,08¢ 2,79¢ 1,58¢
Loss from changes in the fair value of convertjinleferred stock warrants, r 0 1,48: 44t
Loss (gain) on disposal of property and equipn 2€ 0 (20)
Gain from extinguishment of convertible preferréatk warrants 0 (765) 0
Write-off of debt discount upon note repaym 0 1,157 0
Amortization of debt discount and issuance « 52 182 364
Changes in assets and liabiliti

Accounts receivabl (3,702 (1,227) 20¢

Inventories (1,687) (2,077) (961)

Prepaid expenses and other as 201 (471) (1,019

Accounts payabl (1,815 54( 932

Deferred revenu 44¢ 91€ 74¢€

Other liabilities 1,79( (29 1,95¢
Net cash used in operating activit (17,479 (17,547 (11,509
Investing activities
Purchases of investmer (35,38Y) (71,379 0
Proceeds from sales and maturities of investrr 51,77( 29,96¢ 0
Purchases of property and equipm (2,389 (1,67¢) (1,539
License agreement righ 0 (2,000 0
Proceeds from disposal of property and equipr 0 0 1C
(Increase) decrease in restricted ¢ 0 (21) 19€
Net cash provided by (used in) investing activi 14,00: (45,11() (1,339
Financing activities
Proceeds from issuance of common stock, net ofigsicost 56,00¢ 76,94¢ 0
Proceeds from exercise of stock opti 2,70¢ 1,28¢ 3¢
Proceeds from exercise of convertible preferredistearrants and issuance of convertible prefertecks net of issuance cos 0 0 63%
Proceeds from not 0 5,00( 0
Repayment of not 0 (5,000 0
Repayment of lor-term debt (10,190 (4,747) 0
Proceeds from line of crec 1,87¢ 0 3,12¢
Repayment of line of crec (1,87¢ (3,12%) 0
Net cash provided by financing activiti 48,52: 70,36° 3,797
Effect of foreign exchange rate fluctuations orhcaisd cash equivaler 52 11¢ 165
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equis 45,09¢ 7,83( (8,879
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of pe 13,55 5,72% 14,60:
Cash and cash equivalents at end of pe $ 58,64¢ $ 13,55! $ 5,72¢

Supplemental disclosures of cash flow informatiol
Cash paid for intere: $ 57¢ $ 1,71 $ 1,777

Non-cash investing and financing activities

Conversion of convertible preferred stock to comrstmtk upon initial public offerin $ 0 $184,55( $ 0
Conversion of convertible preferred stock warrdaotsommon stock warran $ Q $ 153 $ Q
Issuance of convertible preferred stock warrantoimection with note and warrant agreement ang-term debr $ 0 $ 1,15% $ 63
Issuance of common stock in connection with net@se of convertible preferred stock warra $ 0 $ 1,39 $ 0
Extinguishment of convertible preferred stock watsaupon initial public offerin $ 0 $ 76t $ 0
Extinguishment of convertible preferred stock watsaas part of preferred stock warrant exchangesaartise $ 0 $ 0 $ 72

See accompanying notes.
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FLUIDIGM CORPORATION

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
December 31, 2012

1. Description of Busines:

Fluidigm Corporation (we, our, or us) was incorgiedain the state of California on May 19, 1999 ¢onmercialize microfluidic
technology initially developed at the Californiastitute of Technology. In July 2007, we were reiparated in Delaware. Our headquarters
located in South San Francisco, California.

We develop, manufacture, and market microfluidistesns consisting of instruments and consumablelsidimg integrated fluidic
circuits (IFCs), assays, and other reagents, tlilgaacademic institutions, clinical laboratoriaad pharmaceutical, biotechnology, and
agricultural biotechnology (Ag-Bio) companies. Quoprietary microfluidic systems are designed toify experimental workflow, increase
throughput, reduce costs, and provide quality data.

Initial Public Offering

On February 9, 2011, our registration statemerffam S-1 relating to an initial public offering @ of our common stock was declared
effective by the Securities and Exchange Commisg&cC). Upon the closing of the IPO on February?l8,1, we sold 6,392,083 shares of
common stock and received cash proceeds of appatedyn$77.0 million, net of underwriting commisssoand issuance costs. Concurrently,
all outstanding shares of convertible preferredistmnverted by their terms into approximately 80,800 shares of common stock and the
related carrying value of approximately $184.6 imnil| plus $9.9 million of deemed dividend (see N®tewas reclassified to common stock
and additional paid-in capital.

Secondary Offering

On August 21, 2012, we closed an underwritten pulffiering of 4,209,000 shares of our common stmut received cash proceeds of
approximately $56.0 million, net of underwritingramissions and issuance costs. The shares werel ipsoguant to a registration statemen
Form S-3 declared effective by the SEC on May 00,22

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
Basis of Presentation and Consolidation

The accompanying consolidated financial statemieae been prepared in conformity with U.S. gengiadlcepted accounting principles
(US GAAP) and include the accounts of our whollyrad subsidiaries. We have wholly-owned subsidianesingapore, the Netherlands,
Japan, France, the United Kingdom, and China. kgiaries, except for Singapore, use their looalency as their functional currency. The
Singapore subsidiary uses the U.S. dollar as itstional currency. All intercompany transactions dalances have been eliminated in
consolidation.

Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation

In February 2011, we amended and restated ourfiCatdi of Incorporation to increase the total numifeshares of stock authorized for
issuance from 29,595,999 to 210,000,000, consistiram increase in the number of shares of comrtaok sauthorized for issuance from
18,327,000 to 200,000,000 and a decrease in théerof shares of preferred stock authorized faraese from 11,268,999 to 10,000,000.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Continu ed)
December 31, 2012

In January 2011, we amended and restated our iCatifof Incorporation to decrease the conversiare f our Series E convertible
preferred stock from $24.22 to $18.63 per sharea Assult, we recognized a deemed dividend of 88ll#bn, reflecting the fair value of the
additional shares of common stock to be issuedrasudt of the change in conversion price of theeSeE convertible preferred stock. The
deemed dividend increased the net loss attribatedmmon stockholders in the calculation of basit diluted net loss per share.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in accardamith US GAAP requires management to make estisnand assumptions that affect
the amounts reported in the consolidated finarst@tements and accompanying notes. We base ommagssi on historical experience and on
various other assumptions believed to be reasonahbleh together form the basis for making judgrsatiout the carrying values of assets
liabilities. Actual results could differ materialfyom these estimates and could have a materiarad\effect on our consolidated financial
statements.

Reclassifications

Certain items previously reported in the consoédattatement of cash flows have been reclassiiedrform to the current period
presentation. Such reclassifications do not impe&tiously reported net cash used in operatingiies, net cash used in investing activities,
net cash provided by financing activities, or metréase in cash and cash equivalents.

Foreign Currency

Assets and liabilities of non-U.S. subsidiaried thee the local currency as their functional curyeare translated into U.S. dollars at
exchange rates in effect on the balance sheet™ateadjustments resulting from the foreign curyetnanslations are recorded in accumulated
other comprehensive loss, a separate componetdaifwlders’ equity (deficit). Income and expenseaants are translated at monthly
average exchange rates during the year. Transagaios and losses have not been material.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

We consider all highly liquid financial instrumentith maturities at the time of purchase of threanths or less to be cash equivalents.
Cash and cash equivalents may consist of cashpwsilevith banks, money market funds, and notes fgovernment-sponsored agencies.

Investments

Short and long-term investments are comprised tdsnfvom government-sponsored agencies. All investmare recorded at estimated
fair value. Any unrealized gains and losses fromegtments are reported in accumulated other coraps@fe loss, a separate component of
stockholders’ equity (deficit). We evaluate ouréstments to assess whether investments with uneddbss positions are other than
temporarily impaired. An investment is consideredbé other than temporarily impaired if the impa#ntis related to deterioration in credit
risk or if it is likely that we will sell the secities before the recovery of their cost basis. NM@stment has been assessed as other than
temporarily impaired, and realized gains and logsgs® immaterial during the years presented. Tlsé @iosecurities sold or the amount
reclassified out of accumulated other compreherisis@me into earnings is based on the specifictifieation method.
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Fair Value of Financial Instruments

Our financial instruments consist primarily of casid cash equivalents, investments, accounts geivaccounts payable, and long-
term debt. Our cash equivalents, investments, axtsgaceivable, and accounts payable have shourityadr repayment periods. Accordingly,
their carrying values approximated their fair valae December 31, 2012 and 2011. Our long-term détich was fully repaid in September
2012, had a fair value of approximately $10.6 millat December 31, 2011. The fair value of our {@rg1 debt was determined using a mode
that discounted the contractual cash flows based apmarket rate of interest for an equivalentdwing at the reporting date. As a basis for
considering fair value, we follow a three-tier valhierarchy, which prioritizes the inputs used pasuring fair value as follows:

Level I: observable inputs such as quoted pricesfive markets;
Level II: inputs other than quoted prices in activarkets that are observable either directly orréudly; and
Level lll: unobservable inputs in which there isléi or no market data, which requires us to dgvelar own assumptions.

This hierarchy requires us to use observable mai&tet, when available, and to minimize the usenobsgervable inputs when
determining fair value. Our cash equivalents, whichude money market funds, are classified as Lelvecause they are valued using quoted
market prices. Our investments are generally diagsas Level Il because their value is based dmatimns using significant inputs derived
from or corroborated by observable market data.eldmg on the security, the income and market amires are used in the model driven
valuations. Inputs of these models include recesgcuted transaction prices in securities ofsbaer or comparable issuers and yield curves
Our convertible preferred stock warrants were véluging Level Ill inputs, the valuation of whichdscussed in Note 9.

The following table sets forth our financial instrants that were measured at fair value by levdliwithe fair value hierarchy (in
thousands):

December 31, 201 December 31, 201
Level | Level Il Level llI Total Level | Level Il Level llI Total
Assets
Money market funds (See Note $17 % 0 $ 0 $ 17 $1,79¢ ¢ 0 $ 0 $1,79¢
U.S. government and agency securi 0 26,57¢ 0 26,57¢ 0 41,414 0 41,41
Total assets measured at fair valu $ 17 $26,57¢ $ 0 $26,59¢ $1,79¢ $4141¢ $ 0 $43,21:
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Upon the closing of our IPO, then outstanding cotitvie preferred stock warrants were net exercisedyerted into warrants to purchi
common stock, or expired unexercised. We did neéfzny outstanding convertible preferred stock arats in 2012. Changes in the value of
convertible preferred stock warrants as of Decer3ieP011 were as follows (in thousands):

Balance, beginning of peric $ 1,052
Issuance: 1,157
Exercises (1,397)
Changes in fair valu 1,48:
Expiration of warrant: (765)
Conversion to common stock warra (1,539

Balance, end of peric $ 0

The following is a summary of investments and caghivalents at December 31, 2012 (in thousands):

Gross Gross
Amortized Unrealizec Unrealized Estimated
Cost Gains Losses Fair Value
U.S. government and agency securities $26,57¢ $ 8 $ (4) $26,57¢

The contractual maturity periods of $22.9 millidnoar investments are within one year from Decen®igr2012. The contractual
maturity periods of our remaining securities asslthan two years from December 31, 2012.

Accounts Receivable

Trade accounts receivable are recorded at netdawailue. We review our exposure to accounts rabtdvand reserve specific amoun
collectability is no longer reasonably assured Basehistorical experience and specific customéection issues. We evaluate such reserves
on a regular basis and adjust our reserves as theede

Concentrations of Business and Credit Risk

Financial instruments that potentially subjectasredit risk consist of cash, cash equivalentggstments, and accounts receivable. Our
cash, cash equivalents, and investments may carigisposits held with banks, money market funds, @her highly liquid investments that
may at times exceed federally insured limits. Caghivalents and investments are financial instrum#irat potentially subject us to
concentrations of risk. Under our investment pgligg invest primarily in securities issued by th&ljovernment. The goals of our
investment policy, in order of priority, are asléols: preservation of capital, meet liquidity neeaisd optimize returns.

We generally do not require collateral to suppoetld sales. To reduce credit risk, we perform itregaluations of our customers. No
single customer represented more than 10% of tev&nue for 2012, 2011, or 2010, and no singleocost represented more than 10% of tots
accounts receivable at December 31, 2012, or 2011.
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Our products include components that are currgarthgured from a single source or a limited numberonrces. We believe that other
vendors would be able to provide similar compondmsvever, the qualification of such vendors mayuiee start-up time. In order to mitigate
any adverse impacts from a disruption of supplyattempt to maintain an adequate supply of crifioaited-source components.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost (dins& i, first-out basis) or market. Inventorieglude raw materials, work-in-process, and
finished goods. Finished goods that are used &warch and development are expensed as consurdegdreciated over period of use.
Provisions for slow-moving, excess, and obsoletentories are recorded when required to reduceniove values to their estimated net
realizable values based on product life cycle, bigraent plans, product expiration, and quality éssu

Property and Equipment

Property and equipment, including leasehold impnosets, are stated at cost less accumulated defwaciAccumulated depreciation is
calculated using the straight-line method overetstimated useful lives of the assets, which ranga three to five years. Leasehold
improvements are amortized using the straight#ii¢hod over the estimated useful lives of the asmethe remaining term of the lease,
whichever is shorter.

We evaluate our long-lived assets for indicatorpaxsible impairment when events or changes imgistances indicate the carrying
amount of an asset may not be recoverable. If aaigator of impairment exists, we assess the reatil@y of the affected londjved assets b
determining whether the carrying value of the asaatbe recovered through undiscounted future @ipgreash flows. If impairment is
indicated, we estimate the asset'’s fair value ugihge discounted cash flows associated with #&af the asset, and adjust the carrying valu
of the asset accordingly. We did not recognizeiarpairment of long-lived assets for any of the pdsi presented herein.

Investment, at Cost

We have a minority equity investment in Verinataakde, Inc. (Verinata), a privately-held companyattls accounted for under the cost
method of accounting. Under the cost method of @eting, the investment is carried at cost and jesadd only for other than temporary
declines in value. No such declines have beeniftEhand the carrying value of the investment at®mber 31, 2012 was $1.3 million.

In January 2013, lllumina, Inc. entered into areagnent to acquire Verinata for $350 million in caBased upon this acquisition
agreement, which closed on February 21, 2013, tima&ted the fair value of our investment to be $8illion at December 31, 2012. lllumina,
Inc. also agreed to pay an additional $100 miltmiVerinata shareholders upon achievement of noitet related to the acquired business
through 2015; however, we did not factor these stalees into our determination of fair value sineede not have the ability to assess the
probability or timing of any payments therefrom.eMair value of this investment was measured useg! Il inputs.

Reserve for Product Warranties

We generally provide a one-year warranty on ourumsents. We review our exposure to estimated wéyrexpense associated with
instrument sales and establish an accrual basedtmnical product failure
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rates and actual warranty costs incurred. Thisesg@és recorded as a component of cost of prodwenue in the consolidated statements of
operations. Warranty accrual balance was $0.3anilit December 31, 2012 and 2011.

Revenue Recognition

We generate revenue from sales of our productsndie and collaboration agreements, and governmamisg Our products consist of
instruments and consumables, including IFCs, assaigbother reagents, related to our microfluigitems. Product revenue includes service:
for instrument installation, training, and custoreepport services.

We recognize revenue when persuasive evidence afrangement exists, delivery has occurred or sesviave been rendered, the price
to the customer is fixed or determinable, and ctdleility is reasonably assured. We assess cafldityebased on factors such as the customel
creditworthiness and past collection history, ipligable. If collection is not reasonably assuredenue recognition is deferred until receipt of
payment. We also assess whether a price is fixe@t@rminable by, among other things, reviewingit@mual terms and conditions related to
payment. Delivery occurs when there is a trandf¢itle and risk of loss passes to the customer.

Product Revenue

Certain of our sales contracts involve the delivarynultiple products and services within contradigibinding arrangements. Significant
judgment is sometimes required to determine theaiate accounting for such arrangements, inclydihether the deliverables specified i
multiple element arrangement should be treate@garate units of accounting for revenue recognjpiarposes and, if so, how the related sale
price should be allocated among the elements, wWhegcognize revenue for each element, and thegesier which revenue should be
recognized.

For sales contracts that include multiple deliverajowe allocate the contract consideration atrtbeption of the contract to each unit of
accounting based upon its relative selling priés.may use our best estimate of selling pricerfdividual deliverables when vendor specific
objective evidence or third-party evidence is uilabée. A delivered item is considered to be a safgaunit of accounting when it has value to
the customer on a stand-alone basis.

Our products, other than service contracts, aigeteld within a short time frame, generally witline to three months, of the contract
date. Service contracts are entered into for oeadeyear terms, following the expiration of theremty period.

For transactions entered into prior to 2011 theluided multiple elements, we allocated revenuatheinit of accounting based on its
relative fair value, and recognized revenue fohaatt of accounting when the applicable revenwegaition criteria were met. When
objective and reliable evidence of fair value esdstor the undelivered items but not for the deldekitems, the residual method was used to
allocate arrangement consideration. Under the waitiethod, the amount of arrangement consideratlonated to the delivered items equi
the total arrangement consideration less the agtgdgir value of the undelivered items. When weenmmable to establish stand-alone value
for delivered items or when fair value of undelegitems had not been established, revenue wasetientil all elements were delivered and
services had been performed, or until fair valugld¢d@bjectively be determined for any remaining elhatred elements.
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Our products are sold without the right of retukacruals are provided for estimated warranty expera the time the associated revenu
is recognized. Amounts received before revenuegrdtion criteria are met are classified as defersxeénue in the consolidated balance sh

License Revenue

License and royalty revenue from license agreemnismexognized when received, which is generallthenquarter following the quarter
in which the corresponding sales occur.

Collaboration Revenue

We have entered into collaboration agreements thitll parties that provided us with up-front andipgic milestone payments. Upfront
payments are generally recognized over the tertheofinderlying agreement. Revenue associated wiitstantive at-risk milestones is
recognized based upon the achievement of the milestas defined in the agreement.

Grant Revenue

We receive grants from various governmental estfiie research and related activities. Grants giuis with payments for certain types
of research and development activities performeat awcontractually defined period. Grant revenued®gnized in the period during which
related costs are incurred, provided that the ¢ under which the grants were provided have loeet and we have only perfunctory
obligations outstanding. Amounts received in adeasfcrevenue recognition are classified as defaeednue in the consolidated balance
sheets. Costs associated with grants are includezsearch and development expenses in the coatealidtatements of operations.

Shipping and Handling Costs

Shipping and handling costs incurred for produgirsients are included within cost of product reveimuihe consolidated statements of
operations.

Research and Development

We recognize research and development expensks petiod incurred. Research and development egpamsist of personnel costs,
independent contractor costs, prototype and mégazigenses, allocated facilities and informat@rhhology expenses, and related overhead
expenses.

Advertising Costs

We expense advertising costs as incurred. We iadwadvertising costs of $1.3 million, $0.7 milli@nd $0.5 million during 2012, 2011,
and 2010, respectively.

Income Taxes

We use the asset and liability method to accouninflome taxes, whereby deferred income taxesatetie impact of temporary
differences for items recognized for financial rdppg purposes over different periods than for meatax purposes. Valuation allowances are
provided when the expected realization of defetagdassets does not meet a “more likely than ndtigrgon.
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We recognize the financial statement effects @fxapbsition when it is more likely than not, basedthe technical merits, that the
position will be sustained upon examination. Anteiest and penalties related to uncertain taxipositare reflected in income tax provision.

Stock-Based Compensation

We account for stock options granted to employéiesctors, and consultants based on the fair vafltee award. We recognize stock-
based compensation expense on a straight-line tdasighe requisite service periods. For performedmased stock options, we recognize stoc
based compensation expense over the requisitesgeriod using the accelerated attribution method.

Comprehensive Loss

Comprehensive loss is comprised of net loss aner @imprehensive income (loss). Other comprehemsdzgne (loss) consists of
unrealized gains and losses on our investment$omein currency translation adjustments. Total poghensive loss for all periods presented
has been disclosed in the consolidated stateméntsnprehensive loss.

Net Loss per Share Attributed to Common Stockholdes

Our basic net loss per share attributed to comrntawkkolders is calculated by dividing net lossilattied to common stockholders by the
weighted-average number of shares of common stotshanding for the period. Shares subject to rdyasge rights due to the early exercise of
unvested stock options are excluded from the wetjiterage number of shares of common stock calcualai® such shares are not deeme
be issued for accounting purposes until the re@sehights lapse. Diluted net loss per share atatbto common stockholders is computed by
dividing net loss attributed to common stockhold®grshe weighted-average number of potential cometmres outstanding for the period as
determined using the treasury-stock method. Fgogses of this calculation, convertible preferrextkt options to purchase common stock,
and warrants to purchase convertible preferredksioe excluded from the calculation of diluted lests per share attributed to common
stockholders, as their effect is anti-dilutive &lrperiods presented.

The following potential common shares were exclulenh the computations of net loss per share aiteithto common stockholders for
the periods presented because including them waaud been anti-dilutive (in thousands):

December 31

2012 2011 2010
Convertible preferred stock 0 0 10,29¢
Options to purchase common st¢ 2,94t 2,491 1,77¢
Warrants to purchase convertible preferred s 0 0 387

3. License, Development, Collaboration, and Grant greements
License Agreements

On June 30, 2011, we settled certain litigation @migéred into a series of patent license agreemétitd ife Technologies Corporation
and its subsidiary, Applied Biosystems, LLC (calieely, Life). These
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agreements settled litigation filed by us agairit# bn June 29, 2011 in United States District €émrthe Northern District of California and
litigation filed by Life against us on June 29, 20& United States District Court for the DistraftDelaware. The agreements resulted in a net
$3.0 million payment by us to Life, which was rengd as a litigation settlement expense in ousolidated statement of operations becaus
the amount paid by us was principally attributableesolving Life’s litigation claims with respettt a specific expiring U.S. patent and its
foreign counterparts. The agreements also prowdedrious royalty payments on future sales ofatenproducts by each of the parties. Such
royalty payments or receipts have not been andatrexpected to be material to us.

Under the terms of the agreements, each partyrHeadtion, exercisable for 30 days from the dathefagreements, to limit or preclude
certain patent litigation between the parties fpedod of two to four years. These rights wergetitto certain exceptions and required an
additional payment by the party exercising themptt the time of exercise. In July 2011, we exeatiour option and paid Life $2.0 million.
As a result, subject to certain exceptions, Lifeymat initiate litigation under its patents exigtias of June 30, 2011 against our customers
period of two years, and against us, with respedstcurrent products and equivalent future préesluor a period of four years. The additional
payment was included in other assets and is beirggtezed to selling, general and administrativeesge over four years on a straight-line
basis beginning in July 2011. The additional payniebeing amortized to selling, general and adstiative expense because it precludes Lif
from initiating litigation for a period of four yesaunder its relevant patents for any alleged mrat future infringement by us, and because
such preclusion relates to our equivalent futugalpcts. Life elected not to exercise its option. M@ognized $0.5 million and $0.3 million of
amortization expense during 2012 and 2011, respadgti

In May 2011, we entered into an agreement withp@allLife Sciences, Inc. which subsequently becaferkinElmer company (Calipe
to license Caliper’s existing patent portfolio irtain fields, including non-invasive prenatal diagtics, and obtained an option to extend this
license to cover additional fields. Additional pagmbs are due if we exercise our option to exterditense. Under this agreement, we mac
up-front payment of $0.6 million and our obligatitmpay royalties to Caliper commenced in Janu@22In August 2011, we entered into an
amendment to the agreement with Caliper and madelditional up-front payment of $0.5 million. Puasti to the amendment, the rates for
royalties payable to Caliper were substantiallyuced! and the period for which we are obligated axeroyalty payments was shortened, with
the last payment due in mid-2018 for our existingdoicts at the time of amendment and their futguewalents. If any of our future products
are determined to infringe Caliper’s patents, #me reduced royalty rates will apply until the exdjve patents expire. The aggregate $1.1
million of payments to Caliper are being amortiteadost of product revenue on a straight-line bésisugh July 2018, when our royalty
payment obligations are expected to terminate baped our current products. We recognized $0.3anilhnd $0.1 million in cost of product
revenue during 2012 and 2011, respectively. Owréutoyalty payments are not expected to be méateria

In March 2003, we entered into a license agreereeoibtain an exclusive worldwide license for certgchnology regarding nanovolui
crystallization arrays. Unless canceled by us ®ilifdays’notice, as may be determined by us in our solaelisn, the license terminates at
end of the life of the last licensed patent to expgiUnder the terms of this agreement, we are atad@jto issue $1.5 million worth of shares of
our common stock if a certain milestone is achievedof December 31, 2012, the milestone has nen laehieved.

In December 2003, we entered into a license agreeto®btain a nonexclusive worldwide license fertain technology regarding
submicroliter protein crystallization. We made dady payments in the amount of $25,000 throughebager 31, 2010 that were recorded as
research and development expense. In March 201fenweénated the license agreement.
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Collaboration Agreement

In May 2010, we entered into a collaboration agrestmvith Novartis Vaccines & Diagnostics, Inc. (Notis V&D) to develop a new
product and received an up-front payment of $0Iiani Additionally, the collaboration agreemenbpided for payments to us upon the
achievement of multiple defined milestones relatethe design and development of product prototyphe agreement set forth a detailed
scope of work, tasks, and metrics for each milestdihese product prototypes had not been previguslyuced by us and the achievement of
these and other future milestones was uncertdhlreatme we entered into the collaboration agreém#ie considered each of the milestone
be substantive and, accordingly, we recognized paysreceived from meeting such milestones as teyavhen each milestone was achie

In March 2011, we entered into an amendment tedtiaboration agreement and received an additi$@a million. Under the
amendment, certain milestones were modified andhpay terms related to this agreement associatédsatisfaction of the milestones were
revised.

During 2011 and 2010, we recognized $1.0 milliod $h.3 million, respectively, of milestone revemakated to this agreement. All our
performance obligations under this agreement wetisfed at December 31, 2011 and there are na afreements with potential future
milestone. The collaboration agreement terminategttordance with its terms, effective May 1, 2012.

Grants
California I nstitute for Regenerative Medicine

In April 2009, we were awarded a grant from theifaiia Institute for Regenerative Medicine (CIRM)the amount of $0.8 million to
be earned over a two-year period. Under this gramtiesigned and developed prototype microfluigigtesns for use in stem cell research. Th
final payment under this grant was received in &apier 2011. In May 2011, we were awarded a secard ffom CIRM in the amount of
$1.9 million to be earned over a three-year pefigritier this grant, we continue to design and devplototype microfluidic systems for use in
stem cell research. The CIRM grant revenue is ngiced as the related research and developmentssrare performed and costs associated
with this grant were recognized as research andldpment expense during the period incurred. Du2io2 and 2011, we recognized total
CIRM grant revenue of $0.6 million and $0.5 milljgrspectively.

Singapore Economic Development Board

In October 2005, we entered into a letter agreementiding for up to SG$10.0 million (approximatéhs5$8.2 million using the
December 31, 2012 exchange rate) in grants fronsimgapore Economic Development Board (EDB). Thaty were payable from August 1,
2005 through July 31, 2010 in connection with teabklishment and operation by Fluidigm Singapoeelfd. (Fluidigm Singapore), our
wholly-owned subsidiary, of a research, developmamt manufacturing center for IFCs in Singapareldnuary 2006, Fluidigm Singapore
and EDB entered into a supplement to the Octob@b R&ter agreement to create a process whereligidgitu Singapore and EDB would agree
on new quarterly development targets at the starhioch year. Grant payments were calculated astmpof qualifying expenses incurred in
Singapore relating to salaries, overhead, outsogrand subcontracting expenses, operating expessgsaw material purchases. In July 2(
Fluidigm Singapore submitted its final progressor¢énd evidence of achievement of its developrtangiets under the letter agreement. In
October 2010, we received confirmation from EDB @lhof our obligations under the letter agreemead been met and, received our final
grant payment.

81



Table of Contents

FLUIDIGM CORPORATION

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Continu ed)
December 31, 2012

In February 2007, Fluidigm Singapore entered inse@ond letter agreement with EDB which providedufmto an additional SG$3.7
million (approximately US$3.0 million using the Dmuber 31, 2012 exchange rate) in grants. The tandonditions of this letter agreement
are substantially the same as the October 2005 Egreement with the exception of the size ofitential grant, the term of the agreement,
and the specific levels of research, developmertt,naanufacturing activities required to maintaigieility for such grants. The primary focus
of this letter agreement was the ongoing developraed manufacture in Singapore of certain instrumién. This letter agreement applied to
research, development, and manufacturing activitiFlnidigm Singapore in Singapore from June 1, 2006ugh May 31, 2011. We believe
that all of our obligations under the letter agreatrhave been met. We received our final grant geymander the letter agreement in July
2011.

Fluidigm Singapore’s continued eligibility for grtarfrom the EDB is subject to its compliance whk following conditions: increasing
levels of research; continuing development and rfamuring activity in Singapore, including employmef specified numbers of research
scientists and engineers; its incurrence of sptigvels of research and development expensaaga®re over the course of each calendar
year; its use of local service providers; its mawctdre in Singapore of the products developednig&iore; and its achievement of cer
targets relating to new product development or detign of specific manufacturing process objectivlsese required levels of research,
development, and manufacturing activity in Singapand the associated increases from one yeae toetkt, are the result of negotiations
between the parties and are generally consistehtour business strategy for our Singapore operstiall ownership rights in the intellectual
property developed by us in Singapore remain witidigm Singapore, and no such rights are convegdtDB under the agreements.

These agreements further provided EDB with thetrigldemand repayment of a portion of past granteé event we did not meet our
obligations under the agreements. Based on comesgpae with EDB, we believe that we have fulfilad obligations under the grants and
will, therefore, not have to repay any of the gramiceeds received through December 31, 2011.

We recognized revenue of $46,000 and $1.1 mill@ated to EDB grants during 2011 and 2010, respegti
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4. Balance Sheet Dat:
Cash and Cash Equivalents
The following are summaries of cash and cash etgnt&(in thousands):

Amortized Cost

and
Estimated Fair
Value
As of December 31, 201
Cash $ 57,08
U.S. government and agency secu 1,55(
Money market fund 17
$  58,64¢
As of December 31, 201
Cash $  11,75¢
Money market fund 1,79¢
$ 13,55

Inventories
Inventories consist of the following (in thousands)of:

December 31

2012

December 31

2011

Raw Materials $ 2,84¢ $ 2,39¢
Work-in-process 1,36¢ 1,00¢
Finished Good 2,95¢ 2,56¢

$ 7,16¢ $ 5,97(

Property and Equipment

Property and equipment consists of the followimgtfiousands) as of:

2012 2011
Computer equipment and software $ 2,37 $ 1,67¢
Laboratory and manufacturing equipm 12,84¢ 10,72¢
Leasehold improvemen 991 98¢
Office furniture and fixture 577 491

16,78¢ 13,88(
Less accumulated depreciation and amortize (12,957 (11,587
Constructiorin-progress 1,141 95¢
Property and equipment, r $ 4,97« $ 3,25¢
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5. Long-Term Debt

We entered into a long-term loan agreement in M2 that was subsequently amended in 2006, 2008, and 2010 (as amended,
the Loan Agreement). In connection with the Loanmegnent, we issued warrants to purchase a to209060 shares of our convertible
preferred stock to the lender. Upon the closingwfIPO in February 2011, the warrants to purct2@%£960 shares of our convertible prefe
stock that were held by the lender were convedesarrants to purchase shares of common stockuly2011, the lender net exercised these
warrants at an exercise price of $12.11 per shadenas issued 70,731 shares of common stock.

Commencing in March 2011, we made principal aneregt payments of $0.6 million per month and, gsired under the Loan
Agreement, we made an additional principal paynoé®.3 million in March 2012. Using the effectivgerest method, a majority of the
March 2012 payment was accrued as interest expemsziods prior to 2010 with the remainder beiagagnized through the maturity date. In
June 2012, we elected to make an additional prah@ayment in the amount of $1.9 million using meds from our Line of Credit (see Note
6) and we paid the remaining balance due of $2lllomin September 2012.

6. Line of Credit

In December 2010, we entered into a two-year bigwekdf credit agreement (as amended, the Line efli@rthat provided us with the
ability to borrow up to $7.0 million, subject tortain covenants and other restrictions, and bdrrest at a rate equal to the greater of (i) 4.
or (ii) the prime rate plus 1.00% per year. In Deber 2012, the Line of Credit was amended to exteaderm for an additional two years and
provide us with the ability to borrow up to $10.@lion, of which $6.0 million is available on a ndarmula basis, subject to certain covenants
and other restrictions. The balance of $4.0 milloavailable based on eligible receivables. Theelaf Credit is collateralized by our assets,
excluding our intellectual property, and bearsneséat a rate equal to the greater of (i) 3.75%i)the prime rate plus 0.50% per year. At
December 31, 2012, there was no outstanding batamtiee Line of Credit and we were in compliancthwaill applicable covenants.

7. Commitments and Contingencie:
Operating Leases

We have entered into various long-term non-cand¢elaperating leases for equipment and facilities: I@ase for our headquarters in
South San Francisco, California, expires in Ap@il2. The lease agreement includes a renewal offtagrprovides us with the ability to extend
the lease term for an additional three years. Ugtaring into this agreement in September 2010eeeived a $0.4 million lease incentive
payment that is being recognized as a reductigrrdfexpense on a straight-line basis over the tdrtine lease. We also lease office and
manufacturing space under non-cancelable leasgimgapore, Japan, China, and France, with varigpisagion dates through March 2016.
Certain facility leases also contain rent escafatiauses. We also have operating leases for affjcépment, with various expiration dates
through November 2015. Future minimum lease paysn@mder non-cancelable operating leases as of Dewedi, 2012 are as follows (in
thousands):

Years ending December

2013 $1,48:
2014 1,15¢
2015 377
2016 13
Total minimum payment $3,02i
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Our lease payments are expensed on a straightdisis over the life of the lease. Rental expenseoperating leases, net of
amortization of lease incentive, totaled $1.9 mifli$1.6 million, and $1.9 million for 2012, 20&Ehd 2010, respectively.

Other Commitments

In the normal course of business, we enter int@uarcontractual and legally binding purchase commints primarily related to certain
inventory related items. As of December 31, 20k@sé commitments for the next year were approxim&&9 million.

Indemnifications

From time to time, we have entered into indemnifaraprovisions under certain of our agreementhé@ordinary course of business,
typically with business partners, customers, ampbers. Pursuant to these agreements, we may inifigrhold harmless, and agree to
reimburse the indemnified parties on a casedwe basis for losses suffered or incurred byrttiemnified parties in connection with any pa
or other intellectual property infringement claimy dny third party with respect to our products. Téren of these indemnification provisions is
generally perpetual from the time of the executibthe agreement. The maximum potential amountiiré payments we could be required tc
make under these indemnification provisions isdglly not limited to a specific amount. In additjame have entered into indemnification
agreements with our officers and directors. We hatencurred material costs to defend lawsuitsadtle claims related to these
indemnification provisions. As of December 31, 2042 had no accrued liabilities for these indengatfion provisions.

Contingencies

From time to time, we may be subject to variouslggoceedings and claims arising in the ordinayrse of business. We assess
contingencies to determine the degree of probglzlid range of possible loss for potential acciualr financial statements. An estimated
loss contingency is accrued in the financial statesif it is probable that a liability has beeaurred and the amount of the loss can be
reasonably estimated. No such amounts are acctugecamber 31, 2012.

8. Promissory Notes
Note and Warrant Purchase Agreement

In January 2011, we entered into a note and wapathase agreement (the Note Agreement) withiegistockholders, including
certain of our officers and directors, under whighissued subordinated secured promissory notesNghes) with an aggregate principal
amount of $5.0 million bearing interest at a reft8% per year. Our obligations under the Notes veexired by our assets, excluding
intellectual property, and were subordinated ta@andebtedness under the Loan Agreement (see Baad the Line of Credit (see Note 6).
Notes issued under the Note Agreement maturedeoadHiest to occur of the closing of the nextficiag in which we issued and sold she
of capital stock of at least $25.0 million, a chard control as defined in the Note Agreementamuary 6, 2012 (the maturity date). In
connection with the Note Agreement, we issued wasrtd acquire a total of 103,182 shares of Sé&rigsonvertible preferred stock at $0.02
per share. The fair value of these warrants, baseadlcontemporaneous valuation, was $1.2 millichwaas
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recognized as an original issue discount amortizalker the expected life of the borrowing. As ailtesf our IPO in February 2011, the
warrants were net exercised for 103,182 sharesrof@mmon stock and we repaid all principal andriest outstanding under these Notes in
February and March 2011. Upon repayment of the $\dbe unamortized discount of $1.2 million was iediately recognized as interest
expense.

9. Convertible Preferred Stock Warrants

On February 10, 2011, we had outstanding warrangsitchase 489,880 shares of our convertible pasfestock that had been granted at
various times since 2001. Warrants to purchaseawvertible preferred stock were recognized atvalue using the Black-Scholes option
pricing model and classified as liabilities becatisewarrants may have conditionally obligatedaisansfer assets at some point in the future
The warrants were subject to remeasurement todhie at each balance sheet date, and any chaffgje walue was recognized in the
condensed consolidated statements of operatiolessafrom changes in the fair value of convertjileferred stock warrants. The fair value of
these warrants was approximately $3.7 million drkary 10, 2011, which was an increase in fair @fiapproximately $1.5 million since
December 31, 2010. Upon the closing of our IPOyards for approximately 103,182 shares of our cdible preferred stock were net
exercised and the related liability of $1.4 millimas reclassified to additional paid-in capitalrsaats to purchase 209,960 shares of our
convertible preferred stock were converted intoramts to purchase common stock and the relatetitljadf $1.5 million was reclassified to
additional paid-in capital; and the remaining watsao purchase 176,738 shares of our convertilgffieped stock expired unexercised and the
related liability of $0.8 million was recognized gain from extinguishment of convertible preferstdck warrants.

10. Convertible Preferred Stock

As of December 31, 2011, there were no sharesrofeztible preferred stock issued or outstandinglieshares of preferred stock
converted to shares of common stock upon completiaur IPO. All outstanding shares of convertipteferred stock converted by their ter
into approximately 11,480,000 shares of commonksamel the related carrying value of approximatdl@46 million, plus $9.9 million of
deemed dividend (see Note 2), was reclassifiednaonton stock and additional paid-in capital.

Each share of convertible preferred stock conveartedcommon stock based upon a conversion rat@efshare of common stock for
each share of convertible preferred stock regasdiéthe series, except for Series E convertibddgpred stock which converted at a rate of
approximately 1.3 shares of common stock for eaehesof Series E convertible preferred stock.

No dividends on the convertible preferred stockenlagen declared or paid from our inception thratighconversion of the preferred
stock into common stock.

11. Stock-Based Compensatiot
2011 Equity Incentive Plan

On January 28, 2011, our board of directors adaofite@011 Equity Incentive Plan (the 2011 Plan)anwhich incentive stock options,
nonstatutory stock options, restricted stock usitsck appreciation rights, performance units, peidormance shares (collectively, Awards)
may be granted to our employees, directors, anduitamts.
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Incentive stock options and nonstatutory stockargtigranted under the 2011 Plan have a term ofare than ten years from the date of
grant and an exercise price of at least 100% ofainenarket value of the underlying common stooktlee date of grant. If a participant owns
stock representing more than 10% of the voting pavell classes of our stock on the grant datdneentive stock option awarded to the
participant will have a term of no more than fiveays from the date of grant and an exercise pfietleast 110% of the fair market value of
the underlying common stock on the date of graehégally, outstanding options vest at a rate dieei25% on the first anniversary of the

option grant date and ratably each month overg¢hwming 36 month period, or ratably each monthr @8emonths. We may grant options v
different vesting terms from time to time.

Our board of directors sets the terms, conditiang, restrictions related to the grant of restrictetk units, including the number of
restricted stock units to grant. Our board of divexalso sets vesting criteria and, dependinderektent to which the criteria are met, our
board of directors will determine the number otnieted stock units to be paid out.

The exercise price of any stock appreciation rijtall be determined by our board of directors billtbg no less than 100% of the fair
market value of the underlying common stock ondae of grant. The stock appreciation rights exppen the date determined by our board
of directors but no later than ten years from tae af grant.

Our board of directors sets the performance oljestand other vesting provisions in determiningriheber of shares or value of
performance units and performance shares thabwiflaid out. Such payout will be a function of #xéent to which performance objectives or
other vesting provisions have been achieved.

As of December 31, 2012, the 2011 Plan had a¢6tal222,000 awards authorized for issuance.

2009 Equity Incentive Plan and 1999 Stock Option Bh

Our 2009 Equity Incentive Plan (the 2009 Plan) teated on the date the 2011 Plan was adopted antP®0 Stock Option Plan (the
1999 Plan) expired in 2009. Options granted oreshasued under the 2009 Plan and the 1999 Plawéha outstanding on the date the 2011
Plan became effective remained subject to the tefrtteeir respective plans.

Activity under the 2011 Plan, the 2009 Plan, ared1899 Plan is as follows (in thousands, excepspare amounts):

Outstanding Options

Weighted-

Average

Shares Available Number of Exercise

Price

for Grant Shares per Share

Balance as of December 31, 2011 671 2,491 $ 7.6
Additional shares authorize 81¢< 0

Options grante (1,119 1,11¢ $ 14.8¢

Options exercise 0 (585) $ 4.9

Options cancele 79 (79 $ 11.5¢

Balance as of December 31, 2( 44t 2,94t $ 10.8¢
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We determine stock-based compensation expense th&igjack-Scholes option-pricing model and théofeing weighted-average
assumptions:

Year Ended December 31

2012 2011 2010
Expected volatility 57.€% 57.€% 59.5%
Expected life 5.9 year 5.9 year 5.8 year
Risk-free interest rat 1.1% 1.9% 2.1%
Dividend yield 0% 0% 0%
Weighte-average fair value of options grani $ 7.9C $ 6.44 $  3.4¢

Expected volatility is derived from the historisalatilities of several unrelated public companigthin the life sciences industry. Each
company’s historical volatility is weighted basedaertain qualitative factors, and combined to poedthe single volatility factor used by us.
The risk-free interest rate is based on the U.8a3urry yield curve in effect at the time of gramtZero coupon U.S. Treasury notes with
maturities approximately equal to the option’s extpd life. Given our limited history as a publicgpany, we used the “simplified” method to
estimate expected lives of options granted to #reous employee groups. The “simplified” methodcotdtes the expected life of an option as
the average of the time-to-vesting and the conieddife of the options. Forfeitures were estimateded on an analysis of actual forfeitures.
We periodically evaluate the adequacy of our foufei rate based on actual forfeiture experiencalyais of employee turnover, and other
factors. Each of these inputs is subjective anaégdly requires significant judgment by us.

Also required to compute the fair value calculatidroptions is the fair value of the underlying aoon stock. We grant stock options at
exercise prices not less than the fair value ofomunmon stock at the date of grant. Prior to o@,|Bur board of directors obtained
contemporaneous valuations from an unrelated thairtly valuation firm to determine the estimated falue of common stock based on an
analysis of relevant metrics, such as the prigh@imost recent convertible preferred stock salesitside investors, the rights, preferences
privileges of the convertible preferred stock, operating and financial performance, the hirinds@f personnel, the introduction of new
products, the lack of marketability of the commuwck, and additional factors relating to our busBi€l here is inherent uncertainty in these
estimates and if we or the valuation firm had maifferent assumptions, the amount of our stbelked compensation expense, net loss, ar
loss per share amounts could have been significdifterent. Following the completion of our IPO kebruary 2011, the fair value of options
granted is based on the closing price of our comstock on the date of grant as quoted on the NASAGhal Market.

Additional information regarding our stock optiomststanding and exercisable as of December 31, B0diZnmarized in the following
table:

Options Outstanding

Weighted-

Average

Remaining

Number of Contractual Options
Exercise Price Per Shar¢ Shares Life Exercisable

(In Thousands, (In Years) (In Thousands,
$1.82- $3.39 9t 1.¢ 95
$4.08- $4.08 14¢ 6.S 134
$4.45- $5.03 614 7.1 53¢
$8.23- $8.37 33¢ 8.C 194
$13.01- $13.98 36¢& 9.C 147
$14.00- $14.90 87t 8.¢ 25¢
$15.04- $21.98 507 9.1 113
2,94¢ 8.1 1,48(
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Options exercisable as of December 31, 2012 haeighted-average remaining contractual life of #drg, a weighted-average exercise
price per share of $8.37, and an aggregate intriradue of $9.1 million.

Options outstanding that have vested as of DeceBhet012 or are expected to vest in the futuresanemarized as follows:

Weighted- Weighted-
Average Average
Exercise Remaining Aggregate
Number of Price Contractual Intrinsic
shares per Share Life Value (1)
(In Thousands; (In Years) (In Thousands;
Vested 1,48( $ 831 7.4 $ 9,05¢
Expected to vest, net of forfeitur 1,40¢ $ 13.41 8.8 1,86¢
Total vested and expected to vest, net of
forfeitures 2,88¢ $ 10.8¢ 8.1 $ 10,92!

(1) Aggregate intrinsic value was calculated asdifference between the closing stock price ondketrading day of 2012, which was
$14.31, and the exercise price of the options,ipligt by the number of -the-money options

The total intrinsic value of options exercised dgr2012, 2011, and 2010 was $5.5 million, $3.1iami|land $0.1 million, respectively.

There were no stock-based compensation tax benefitgnized during 2012, 2011, or 2010. Capitalstedk-based compensation costs
were insignificant at December 31, 2012, 2011, 201D.

As of December 31, 2012, there was $10.5 milliototd] unrecognized compensation cost relatedockdbased compensation
arrangements that is expected to be recognizedamvaverage period of three years.

In February and April 2008, we granted 94,133 penmnce-based options (the 2008 performance awsr@gytain executives. These
awards vest over an approximately four-year pepiaged on continuing service and were subject tel@@ted vesting if specified corporate
and departmental performance goals were met fdiigbal year ended December 27, 2008. Based updeamnent of 2008 departmental
performance goals, vesting for 34,846 options veaglarated. In March 2009, the compensation coramitf our board of directors acceler:
the vesting of 28,240 options based upon the aehient of 2008 corporate performance goals. Shaded compensation expense for the .
performance awards is recognized as expense aveeduisite performance periods using an accetéettabution method. We recognized
$6,000, $41,000, and $66,000 of stock-based comaiensexpense during 2012, 2011, and 2010, resdygtirelating to these 2008
performance options.

In November 2009, we granted 89,017 performance¢baptions (the 2009 performance awards) to ceeteautives with performance
conditions substantially similar to the 2008 pemiance options. Based on achievement of 2009 depatatngoals, vesting for 25,723 options
was accelerated in December 2009. Based on acheateyh2009 corporate goals, vesting for 27,15@o0stwas accelerated in December
2009. We recognized $5,000, $15,000, and $32,08tbck-based compensation expense during 2012, 204112010, respectively, relating to
these 2009 performance options.
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In January 2011, we granted 94,972 performancedoasigons (the 2010 performance awards) to cegaféitutives with performance
conditions substantially similar to the 2008 an@2@erformance options. Based on achievement d 8@partmental and corporate goals,
vesting for 66,480 options was accelerated in M&@hl. We recognized $20,000 and $0.4 million otkstbased compensation expense
during 2012 and 2011, respectively, relating ts¢h2010 performance options.

12. Income Taxes
Our loss before income taxes consists of the faligviin thousands):

Year Ended December 31

2012 2011 2010
Domestic $(18,01) $(20,81%) $(18,547)
Internationa (871) (1,489 1,72¢
Loss before income tax $(18,88¢) $(22,304) $(16,819)

Significant components of our provision for incotages are as follows (in thousands):

Year Ended December 31

2012 2011 2010
Current

State $ (12 $ (9 $(10)

Foreign (129 (162) (73

Total provision for income taxe $(13€) $(16€) $(83)

Reconciliation of income taxes at the statutorg tatthe provision for income taxes recorded insttaégements of operations is as follows:

Year Ended December 31

2012 2011 2010
Tax benefit at federal statutory rate 34.(% 34.(% 34.(%
Foreign rate differenc (0.9 (3.0 (0.9
Change in valuation allowan (28.0 (32.2) (34.7)
Other, ne (5.9 0.4 0.C
Effective tax rate (0.9% (0.8% (0.5%
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Significant components of our deferred tax assadisliabilities are as follows (in thousands):

December 31 December 31
2012 2011

Deferred tax asset
Net operating loss carryforwar $ 79,79 $ 75,673
Reserves and accrus 1,672 1,69¢
Depreciation and amortizatic 35E 36€
Tax credit carryforward 6,63¢ 6,23t
Stoclk-based compensatic 2,14¢ 1,34¢
Total deferred tax asse 90,61: 85,32:
Valuation allowanct (90,619 (85,329
Net deferred tax asse $ 0 $ 0

We evaluate a number of factors to determine takizability of our deferred tax assets. Recognitibuleferred tax assets is appropriate
when realization of these assets is more likely that. Assessing the realizability of deferredadasets is dependent upon several factors
including historical financial results. The net eieéd tax assets have been fully offset by a vanallowance because we have incurred losse
since our inception. The valuation allowance insesbby $5.3 million and $7.2 million during 201212011, respectively. The change in
valuation allowance is mainly due to the currerdgngetaxable loss and the current year’s researdrdavelopment credit.

As of December 31, 2012, we had net operatingdaayforwards for U.S. federal income tax purpase$221.4 million, which expire i
the years 2020 through 2033, and U.S. federal relseand development tax credits of $4.3 millionjekhexpire in the years 2020 through
2032. As of December 31, 2012, we had net operatsgycarryforwards for California state income paxposes of $143.1 million, which
expire in the years 2013 through 2033, and statareh and development tax credits of $5.5 milamich do not expire. In addition, we have
approximately $20.1 million in other state net @ierg loss carryovers which have various expiratiates from 2013 through 2033. As of
December 31, 2012, we had foreign net operating dasryforwards of $2.6 million, which expire iretjears 2015 through 2022.

Utilization of the net operating loss carryforwaai®d credits may be subject to a substantial ariimightion due to the ownership chai
limitations provided by Section 382 of the InterRalvenue Code of 1986, as amended (Section 382xianilar state provisions. The annual
limitation may result in the expiration of net ogting losses and credits before utilization. Wevjmesly completed a Section 382 analysis for
the period from our inception in May 1999 througimd 30, 2011, and determined that an ownershipgehas defined under Section 382
occurred in November 2001, which resulted in a ctida to our U.S. federal and California net opiagtosses by $1.2 million and $0.7
million, respectively. We completed a subsequewti&e 382 analysis for the period from July 1, 2@itbugh December 31, 2012 and
determined that an ownership change did not ocering such period.

We have not provided for U.S. federal and staterime taxes on all of our non-U.S. subsidiaries’ stiiuted earnings as of
December 31, 2012 because such earnings are idtémée indefinitely reinvested. Upon distributioithose earnings in the form of
dividends or otherwise, we may be subject to Ue8efal and state income taxes, the determinatiovhimh is not practical as it is dependent
on the amount of U.S. tax losses or other taxtaiteis available at the time of the repatriationdismibuted earnings of our foreign subsidiarie:
amounted to approximately $0.9 million at Decengier2012.
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Effective January 1, 2010, we obtained approvaPioneer Tax Status in Singapore. The Pioneer TauSallows a full exemption fro
Singapore corporate tax related to contract matwfiag activities through the effective period sdijto the achievement of certain milestone:
which will be reviewed by the Singapore governménite continue to meet or exceed the negotiatddstanes, we will maintain Pioneer Tax
Status until December 31, 2019. Due to availabpitaballowances, we have not benefited from tixeeteemption through December 31, 2012
and may never benefit if we do not achieve theiregumilestones.

On January 2, 2013, the American Taxpayer Reli¢foh012 (H.R.8) was signed into law. This lawoettively extended the federal
research and development credits (R&D creditspfoounts incurred from January 1, 2012 through Déeer81, 2013. As a result of the
retroactive extension, we estimate that our tagitfer 2012 would have been approximately $0.dioril which we will recognize as a
discrete benefit that will be fully offset by a wation allowance in the first quarter of 2013.

In February 2009, the California 2009-2010 budggtdlation was signed into law allowing compan@slect single sales factor
apportionment for fiscal years 2012 and 2013. Tdmspge of California Proposition 39 in November28ikes this apportionment method
mandatory for fiscal years beginning on or aftetuday 1, 2013. The application of the single stdetor is expected to lower our future
allocable California taxable losses and income.

Uncertain Tax Positions
The aggregate changes in the balance of our grossagnized tax benefits during 2012, 2011, and2@dre as follows (in thousands):

December 31, 200 $4,751
Increases in balances related to tax positionsitdkeing prior perioc 5
Increases in balances related to tax positionsitdkeing current perio 873
Decreases in balances related to tax position® tdlgng prior perioc (839

December 31, 201 4,79¢
Increases in balances related to tax positionsitdkeing current perio 652

December 31, 201 5,44¢
Increases in balances related to tax positionsitdkeing current perio 903

December 31, 201 $6,351

Accrued interest and penalties related to unreaaghiax benefits were included in the income tawision and were immaterial.

As of December 31, 2012, the total amount of urgataed tax benefits that, if recognized, would eiffeur effective tax rate is zero. We
do not anticipate that our existing unrecognizedb@nefits will significantly increase or decreagthin the next 12 months.

We file income tax returns in the United Statesjotes states, and certain foreign jurisdictions.aA®sult of net operating loss
carryforwards, all of our tax years are open tefatiand state examination in the United States.y€ars from 2010 are open to examinatic
Singapore.
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13. Employee Benefit Plans

We sponsor a 401(k) savings plan for our employe#ise United States that stipulates that eligévtgployees may elect to contribute to
the plan, subject to certain limitations, up to léser of 60% of eligible compensation or the mmaxin amount allowed by the U.S. Internal
Revenue Service. We have not made contributiotisidglan since its inception.

14. Information About Geographic Areas

We operate in one reporting segment, which is thelbpment, manufacturing, and commercializatiomifrofluidic systems for the lif
science and Ag-Bio industries. Our chief executiffecer manages our operations and evaluates panéial performance on a consolidated
basis. For purposes of allocating resources anldatiag regional financial performance, our chiréeutive officer reviews separate sales
information for the different regions of the worldur general and administrative expenses and seareh and development expenses are no
allocated to any specific region. Most of our pijzat operations, other than manufacturing, anddaaisionmaking functions are located at
corporate headquarters in the United States.

The following table represents our product revelmpgeography based on the billing address of ostocners for each year presented (in
thousands):

Year Ended December 31

2012 2011 2010
United States $27,32¢ $21,64¢ $16,61¢
Europe 13,08¢ 10,49¢ 7,57
Asia-Pacific 6,321 3,69¢ 2,80(
Japar 3,84( 3,94: 2,70C
Other 91¢€ 79¢ 76€
Total $51,48¢ $40,58: $30,46:

Our grant revenue is generated in Singapore anditited States and license and collaboration resénprimarily generated in the
United States.

We had long-lived assets consisting of property @saipment, net of accumulated depreciation, ifdlewing geographic areas (in
thousands) as of:

December 31 December 31

2012 2011
United States $ 1,96¢ $ 1,50:
Singapore 2,961 1,72(
Japar 18 23
Europe 27 11
Total $ 4,97 $ 3,25¢
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15. Quarterly Results of Operations (Unaudited)

Selected quarterly results of operations for treryended December 31, 2012 and 2011 are as foliowsousands, except for per share
amounts):

First Second Third Fourth
2012 Quarter Quarter Quarter Quarter
Total revenue $ 10,94¢ $12,94¢ $12,78: $15,65¢
Net loss attributed to common stockhold $ (6,690 $(4,58() $(4,157) $(3,607)
Net loss per share attributed to common stockhs]dersic and dilute $ (0.39 $ (0.29) $ (0.1%) $ (0.19

First Second Third Fourth
2011 Quarter Quarter Quarter Quarter
Total revenue $ 8,697 $10,57¢ $10,59¢ $12,99¢
Net loss attributed to common stockhold $(17,23¢)  $(7,18¢)  $(4,489)  $(3,45)
Net loss per share attributed to common stockhs]dersic and dilute $ (1.60 $ (0.3¢) $ (0.29 $ (0.17)
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ITEM 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON AC COUNTING AND FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE
None

ITEM 9A. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES
Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

Our management, with the participation of our Cliirécutive Officer and our Chief Financial Officexaluated the effectiveness of our
disclosure controls and procedures as of Decenthe2® 2. The term “disclosure controls and procesitiras defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and
15d-15(e) under the Exchange Act, means controls amer grocedures of a company that are designedstoreithat information required to
disclosed by a company in the reports that it filesubmits under the Exchange Act is recorded;gs®ed, summarized and reported, within
the time periods specified in the SEC's rules amthk. Disclosure controls and procedures includtiowt limitation, controls and procedures
designed to ensure that information required tdibelosed by a company in the reports that it filesubmits under the Exchange Act is
accumulated and communicated to the company’s neaneugt, including its principal executive and prpatifinancial officers, as appropriate
to allow timely decisions regarding required distice. Management recognizes that any controls sowegures, no matter how well designed
and operated, can provide only reasonable assuddiraahieving their objectives and management regaég applies its judgment in evaluat
the cost-benefit relationship of possible contesis procedures. Based on the evaluation of oulodisie controls and procedures as of
December 31, 2012, our Chief Executive Officer @mikf Financial Officer concluded that, as of sdelte, our disclosure controls and
procedures were effective at the reasonable asstavel.

Management's Report on Internal Control Over Finah&eporting

Our management is responsible for establishingnaaidtaining adequate internal control over finah@aorting to provide reasonable
assurance regarding the reliability of our finahoégorting and the preparation of financial stagets for external purposes in accordance witt
GAAP. Management assessed our internal control fivancial reporting as of December 31, 2012. M@&magnt based its assessment on
criteria established imternal Control—Integrated Frameworgsued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizatidribe Treadway
Commission. Based on our assessment, managemeeai@sded that our internal control over financegorting was effective as of
December 31, 2012. The certifications of our ppatiexecutive officer and principal financial officattached as Exhibits 31.1 and 31.2 to thit
report include, in paragraph 4 of such certificagioinformation concerning our disclosure contesid procedures and internal controls over
financial reporting.

The effectiveness of our internal control over fio@l reporting as of December 31, 2012 has beditegliby Ernst & Young LLP, an
independent registered public accounting firm,tated in its report included in this Annual RepmmtForm 10-K.

Changes in Internal Control Over Financial Repogin

There were no changes in our internal control éwancial reporting that occurred during the thneenths ended December 31, 2012
have materially affected, or are reasonably likelynaterially affect, our internal control overdimcial reporting.

Limitations on the Effectiveness of Controls

Control systems, no matter how well conceived gperated, are designed to provide a reasonabl@dbain absolute, level of assurance
that the objectives of the control system are mefther, the design of a control system must reflee fact that there are resource constraints,
and the benefits of controls must be considered
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relative to their costs. Because of the inherenitéitions in all control systems, no evaluatiorcofntrols can provide absolute assurance that a

control issues and instances of fraud, if any, H#en detected. Because of the inherent limitafioasiy control system, misstatements due tc
error or fraud may occur and not be detected.

ITEM9B. OTHER INFORMATION
Not applicable.

96



Table of Contents

PART IlI

ITEM 10. DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND CORPORATE GOVERNA NCE

Pursuant to General Instruction G(3) of Form 1GH€, information required by this Iltem 10 relatiogour executive officers is included
under the caption “Executive Officers” in Part Itbfs Form 10-K.

The other information required by this Item 10nsarporated by reference to our Proxy Statemernth®2013 Annual Meeting of
Stockholders (to be filed with the Securities axdliange Commission within 120 days of our Decen3tieR012 fiscal year end) under the
headings “Corporate Governance and Board of DirsgttElection of Class Ill Directors,” “Executiv®fficers” and “Related Person
Transactions and Section 16(a) Beneficial OwnerBlgporting Compliance.”

ITEM 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

The information required by this Item 11 is incogted by reference to our Proxy Statement for BE82Annual Meeting of Stockholde
(to be filed with the Securities and Exchange Cossinn within 120 days of our December 31, 2012afigear end) under the headings
“Corporate Governance and Board of Directors” aBdecutive Compensation.”

ITEM 12, SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT AND RELATED
STOCKHOLDER MATTERS

The information required by this Iltem 12 is incorgted by reference to our Proxy Statement for 882Annual Meeting of Stockholde
(to be filed with the Securities and Exchange Cossinn within 120 days of our December 31, 2012afigear end) under the headings
“Executive Compensation” and “Security Ownership.”

ITEM 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACT IONS, AND DIRECTOR INDEPENDENCE

The information required by this Item 13 is incogted by reference to our Proxy Statement for B82Annual Meeting of Stockholde
(to be filed with the Securities and Exchange Cossinn within 120 days of our December 31, 201 2afigear end) under the headings
“Corporate Governance and Board of Directors” aRdlated Person Transactions and Section 16(a) Beléwnership Reporting
Compliance.”

ITEM 14, PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTANT FEES AND SERVICES

The information required by this Iltem 14 is incogted by reference to our Proxy Statement for B82Annual Meeting of Stockholde
(to be filed with the Securities and Exchange Cossion within 120 days of our December 31, 2012afigear end) under the heading
“Ratification of Appointment of Independent Regisig Public Accounting Firm.”
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PART IV

ITEM 15. EXHIBITS, FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES
1. Financial Statements See“Index to Consolidated Financial Statem” in Part I, ltem 8 of this Form -K.

2. Financial Statement scheduleSee"Schedule —Valuation and Qualifying Account and Rese¢’ in this section of this Form -K.

3.  Exhibits. The exhibits set forth below are filed herewithaoe incorporated by reference to exhibits previpiikd with the U.S.
Securities and Exchange Commissi
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SCHEDULE II—VALUATION AND QUALIFYING ACCOUNT AND RE SERVE

In thousands

Balance at Additions/ Balance a
Beginning of Charged tc End of
Period Expense Deductions Period
Year ended December 31, 2C
Accounts receivable allowan $ 36€ $ 97 $ (@15 $ 44¢
Year ended December 31, 2C
Accounts receivable allowan $ 467 $ 12 $ (119 $ 36€
Year ended December 31, 2C
Accounts receivable allowan $ 103 $ 364 $ — $ 467
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Exhibit
Number

3.1
3.2

4.1
4.2
4.3
4.4
45

4.6
4.7
4.8

4.8A

4.8B

10.1

10.2#
10.2A%
10.3#
10.3A%
10.4#
10.4A%

EXHIBITS
Incorporated
Incorporated by Reference
by Reference  From Exhibit
Description From Form Number

Eighth Amended and Restated Certificate of Incapon of Fluidigm 10-K 3.1
Corporation filed on February 15, 20:
Amended and Restated Bylaws of Fluidigm Corporatiffactive as of 10-K 3.2
February 9, 2011
Specimen Common Stock Certificate of Fluidigm Cogpion. S-1/A 4.1
Reserved
Reserved
Reserved
Ninth Amended and Restated Investor Rights Agree¢inetween thi S-1 4.t
registrant and certain holders of the registracdisital stock named
therein, including amendments No. 1, No. 2 and3\
Reserved
Reserved
Business Financing Agreement between the regisarathBridge Bank S-1/A 4.
National Association, dated as of December 16, 2
Business Financing Modification Agreement datedda81, 2011, by 8-K 4.8A
and between Bridge Bank, National Association, thedregistrant
Business Financing Modification Agreement dateddbelger 21, 2012, 8-K 4.8AB
by and between Bridge Bank, National Associatioth Bluidigm
Corporation
Form of Indemnification Agreement between the riegig and its S-1/A 10.1
directors and officer:
1999 Stock Option Plan of the registrant, as amer S 10.z
Forms of agreements under the 1999 Stock Optiam S-1 10.2A
2009 Equity Incentive Plan of the registrant, asaded S 10.z
Forms of agreements under the 2009 Equity Inceftiaa. S-1 10.3A
2011 Equity Incentive Plan of the registre S-1/A 10.4
Forms of agreements under the 2011 Equity Incefitiaa. S-1/A 10.4A
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Date Filed

03/28/1:

03/28/1:

02/07/1:

12/03/1(

01/28/1:

04/04/1:

12/27/1:

01/28/1:

12/03/1(
12/03/1(
12/03/1(
12/03/1(
01/28/1:
01/28/1:
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Exhibit
Number

10.5t

10.5At

10.6%

10.6AT

10.7t

10.8f

10.9%

10.10
10.11
10.12t

10.12A1

10.13t

Incorporated
Incorporated by Reference
by Reference From Exhibit
Description From Form Number
Second Amended and Restated License Agreementdigedween S4 10.t
California Institute of Technology and the registraffective as of
May 1, 2004
First Addendum, effective as of March 29, 2007S&zond Amended S4 10.5A
and Restated License Agreement by and betweero@aéfinstitute of
Technology and the registrant effective as of MagaDA4.
Co-Exclusive License Agreement between PresidesthFatows of S4 10.€
Harvard College and the registrant effective a®ctober 15, 200(
First Amendment to Co-Exclusive License Agreemeativeen S4 10.6A
President and Fellows of Harvard College and thésteant effective €
of October 15, 200(
Co-Exclusive License Agreement between PresideshFatiows of S4 10.7
Harvard College and the registrant effective a®aober 15, 200(
Co-Exclusive License Agreement between PresideshFatiows of S4 10.¢
Harvard College and the registrant effective a®ctober 15, 200(
Letter Agreement between President and Fellowsanfé&td College S4 10.¢
and the registrant dated December 22, 2
Reserved
Reserved
Amended and Restated Letter Agreement Regardindjdspion for sS4 10.1z2
Incentives Under the Research Incentive Schem€&danpanies
(RISC) dated March 27, 2008 (originally dated Oetob, 2005), by
and between Singapore Economic Development Boatd-anidigm
Singapore Pte. Lt
Supplement, dated January 11, 2006, to Letter Ageeé Relating to S4 10.124
Application for Incentives under the Research ItieenScheme for
Companies (RISC), dated October 7, 2005 betweegafore
Economic Development Board and Fluidigm Singapdee I&d.
Amended and Restated Letter Agreement Regardindjdspion for S4 10.13

Incentives Under the Research Incentive Schem€&danpanies
(RISC) dated March 27, 2008 (originally dated Felyul2, 2007), by
and between Singapore Economic Development Boatd-anidigm
Singapore Pte. Lt
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12/03/1(
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12/03/1(

12/03/1(
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Exhibit
Number

10.144#

10.15
10.16
10.17#
10.18#

10.19

10.20

10.21
10.22
10.23
10.24
10.25#
10.26t

21.1
23.1
24.1

311

31.2

32.1~

Incorporated
Incorporated by Reference
by Reference From Exhibit
Description From Form Number Date Filed
Form of Amended and Restated Employment and Seseran 8-K 10.1¢ 12/11/1:
Agreement between the registrant and each of dswdive
officers.
Reserved
Reserved
Offer Letter to Vikram Jog dated January 29, 2( S-1 10.15 12/03/1(
Offer Letter dated May 3, 2010 to Fredric Walded &udendum 8-K 10.1¢ 04/04/1.:
thereto dated November 8, 20
Lease Agreement between ARE - San Francisco NbLC7and S-1/A 10.1¢ 01/07/1:
the registrant, dated September 14, 2010, as amende
September 22, 201
Tenancy for Flatted Factory Space in Singapore &éetwTC S-1 10.2( 12/03/1(
Corporation and the registrant dated July 27, 2@6%mended
August 12, 2008 and May 31, 20:
Reserved
Reserved
Reserved
Reserved
Executive Bonus Plal 10-K 10.2¢t 03/28/1:
Acceptance Letter re Pioneer Incentive dated A%jl2011 8-K 10.1 08/05/1:

between Singapore Economic Development Board and th
registrant

Subsidiaries of the registral
Consent of Independent Registered Public Accourfing.

Power of Attorney (contained in the signature pagghis
Form 1(-K).

Certification Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350Adopted
Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley A2002 of
Chief Executive Officer

Certification Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350Adopted
Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley A2002 of
Chief Financial Officer

Certification Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350Adopted
Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley A2002 of
Chief Executive Officer
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Incorporated

by Reference

Incorporated From Exhibit

Exhibit by Reference
Number Description From Form Number Date Filec
32.2~ Certification Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350Adopted Furnished herewi

Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley A2002 of

Chief Financial Officer
101.INS** XBRL Instance Documet Furnished herewi
101.SCH** XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Docum Furnished herewi
101.CAL** XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Docuntr Furnished herewi
101.DEF** XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Docurh Furnished herewi
101.LAB** XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Docume Furnished herewi
101.PRE** XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Docun Furnished herewi

#  Management contracts or compensation plans orgenaents in which directors or executive officems @ligible to participate

t Portions of the exhibit have been omitted purst@man order granted by the Securities and Exobh&@wagmmission for confidential
treatment

~ In accordance with Item 601(b)(32)(ii) of RegidatS-K and SEC Release No. 33-8238 and 34-47986] Rule: Managemerg’Report
on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting andtffieation of Disclosure in Exchange Act PeriodReports, the certifications furnisr
in Exhibits 32.1 and 32.2 hereto are deemed torapaay this Form 10-K and will not be deemed “filédt purposes of Section 18 of 1
Exchange Act. Such certifications will not be dedrnt@be incorporated by reference into any filingsler the Securities Act or the
Exchange Act, except to the extent that the remistspecifically incorporates it by referen

**  XBRL (eXtensible Business Reporting Languagdpmmation is furnished and not filed or a part akgistration statement or prospectus
for purposes of sections 11 or 12 of the Securiietsof 1933, is deemed not filed for purposesetft®on 18 of the Securities Exchange
Act of 1934, and otherwise is not subject to lidpilinder these section
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 1&f(the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the regigthas duly caused this report to be
signed on its behalf by the undersigned, theredatyp authorized.

FLUIDIGM CORPORATION

Dated: March 12, 2013 By: /s/ Gajus V. Worthingto

Gajus V. Worthington
President and Chief Executive Officer

POWER OF ATTORNEY

KNOW ALL PERSONS BY THESE PRESENTS, that each persbose signature appears below constitutes anuirgpGajus V.
Worthington and Vikram Jog, jointly and severalg, his or her true and lawful attorneys-in-fact agdnts, with full power of substitution and
resubstitution, for him or her and in his or hemea place and stead, in any and all capacitiesigtothis Form 10-K, and to file the same, with
all exhibits thereto, and other documents in cotiardherewith, with the Securities and Exchangen@ussion, granting unto said attorneys-
in-fact and agents full power and authority to dd perform each and every act and thing requisiteeoessary to be done in and about the
premises hereby ratifying and confirming all thailsattorneys-in-fact and agents, or his or thalissitute or substitutes, may lawfully do or
cause to be done by virtue hereof.

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities &xgé Act of 1934, this report has been signed bélpthe following persons on behalf
of the registrant and in the capacities and ord#tes indicated.

Signature Title Date
/sl Gajus V. Worthington President and Chief Executive Officer (Principal March 12, 2013
Gajus V. Worthington Executive Officer); Directo
/sl Vikram Jog Chief Financial Officer (Principal Financial and March 12, 2013
Vikram Jog Accounting Officer)
/s/ Samuel Colella Chairman of the Board of Directors March 12, 2013
Samuel Colella
/s/ Gerhard F. Burbach Director March 8, 2013
Gerhard F. Burbach
/s/ Evan Jones Director March 12, 2013
Evan Jones
/s/ Patrick S. Jones Director March 9, 2013

Patrick S. Jones

/s/ John A. Young Director March 12, 2013
John A. Young
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Exhibit
Number

3.1
3.2

4.1
4.2
4.3
4.4
4.5

4.6
4.7
4.8

4.8A
4.8B
10.1

10.2#
10.2A%
10.3#
10.3A%
10.4#
10.4A%

INDEX TO EXHIBITS

Description
Eighth Amended and Restated Certificate of Incapon of Fluidigm

Corporation filed on February 15, 20:

Amended and Restated Bylaws of Fluidigm Corporatifiective as of
February 9, 2011

Specimen Common Stock Certificate of Fluidigm Caogpion.
Reserved
Reserved
Reserved

Ninth Amended and Restated Investor Rights Agre¢ineiwveen the registre
and certain holders of the registrant’s capitatisteamed therein, including
amendments No. 1, No. 2 and No

Reserved
Reserved

Business Financing Agreement between the registrachBridge Bank,
National Association, dated as of December 16, 2

Business Financing Modification Agreement datedda31, 2011, by and
between Bridge Bank, National Association, andréggstrant.

Business Financing Modification Agreement datedddetzer 21, 2012, by and
between Bridge Bank, National Association and kgidCorporation

Form of Indemnification Agreement between the regigt and its directors a
officers.

1999 Stock Option Plan of the registrant, as amer
Forms of agreements under the 1999 Stock Optiam
2009 Equity Incentive Plan of the registrant, agaded
Forms of agreements under the 2009 Equity Inceftiga.
2011 Equity Incentive Plan of the registre

Forms of agreements under the 2011 Equity Incefftiga.
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Incorporated

Incorporated by Reference

by Reference  From Exhibit
From Form Number Date Filed
10-K 3.1 03/28/1.
10-K 3.2 03/28/1:
S-1/A 4.1 02/07/1:
S-1 4.5 12/03/1(
S-1/A 4.8 01/28/1.
8-K 4.8A 04/04/1.
8-K 4.8AB 12/27/1.
S-1/A 101 01/28/1:
S-1 10.2 12/03/1(
S1 10.2A 12/03/1(
S1 10.3 12/03/1(
S1 10.3A 12/03/1(
S-1/A 104 01/28/1.
S-1/A 10.4A 01/28/1.:
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Exhibit
Number

10.5t

10.5A%

10.61

10.6At

10.7%

10.8%

10.9t

10.10t

10.10A1

10.11
10.12%

10.12A1

Description
Second Amended and Restated License Agreementoblyetween

California Institute of Technology and the registraffective as of May 1,
2004.

First Addendum, effective as of March 29, 2007Sézond Amended and
Restated License Agreement by and between Calidnstitute of
Technology and the registrant effective as of Magd0D4.

Co-Exclusive License Agreement between PresideshFafiows of
Harvard College and the registrant effective a®cbber 15, 200(

First Amendment to Co-Exclusive License Agreemeatiieen President
and Fellows of Harvard College and the registréfiecéve as of
October 15, 200(

Co-Exclusive License Agreement between Presideshafiows of
Harvard College and the registrant effective a®ctiober 15, 200(

Co-Exclusive License Agreement between PresideshFafiows of
Harvard College and the registrant effective a®cbber 15, 200(

Letter Agreement between President and Fellowsas¥&td College and
the registrant dated December 22, 2(

Patent License Agreement by and between Gyros ABlanregistrant
dated January 9, 20C

Amendment No. 1 dated January 9, 2005 to Pateenkie Agreement by
and between Gyros AB and the registrant dated 3a®,2003.

Reserved

Amended and Restated Letter Agreement Regardindjegpion for
Incentives Under the Research Incentive Schem€&danpanies (RISC)
dated March 27, 2008 (originally dated October(Q5), by and between
Singapore Economic Development Board and Fluidigmg&pore Pte.
Ltd.

Supplement, dated January 11, 2006, to Letter Ageeé Relating to
Application for Incentives under the Research ItieenScheme for
Companies (RISC), dated October 7, 2005 betweagafore Economic
Development Board and Fluidigm Singapore Pte.
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Incorporated

Incorporated by Reference

by Reference  From Exhibit
From Form Number Date Filed
S-1 10.5 12/03/1(
S-1 10.5A 12/03/1(
S-1 10.6 12/03/1(
S-1 10.6A 12/03/1(
S-1 10.7 12/03/1(
S-1 10.8 12/03/1(
S-1 10.9 12/03/1(
S-1 10.10 12/03/1(
S-1 10.10A 12/03/1(
S-1 10.12 12/03/1(
S-1 10.12A 12/03/1(
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Exhibit
Number

10.13%

10.14#

10.15
10.16
10.17#
10.18#

10.19

10.20

10.21
10.22
10.23
10.24
10.25#
10.26%

21.1
23.1
24.1
311

Description
Amended and Restated Letter Agreement Regardindjidgpipn for

Incentives Under the Research Incentive Schem€&danpanies (RISC)
dated March 27, 2008 (originally dated February2l®)7), by and
between Singapore Economic Development Board amdifin
Singapore Pte. Ltc

Form of Amended and Restated Employment and Seseragreement
between the registrant and each of its executifrecn$.

Reserved
Reserved
Offer Letter to Vikram Jog dated January 29, 2(

Offer Letter dated May 3, 2010 to Fredric Walded &uddendum thereto
dated November 8, 201

Lease Agreement between ARE - San Francisco NbLC7and the
registrant, dated September 14, 2010, as amengedrSzer 22, 201(

Tenancy for Flatted Factory Space in Singapore éetwTC
Corporation and the registrant dated July 27, 2@6%mended
August 12, 2008 and May 31, 20:

Reserved
Reserved
Reserved
Reserved
Executive Bonus Plai

Acceptance Letter re Pioneer Incentive dated A%jl2011 between
Singapore Economic Development Board and the regis

Subsidiaries of the registral
Consent of Independent Registered Public Accouriing.
Power of Attorney (contained in the signature piagehis Form 1-K).

Certification Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350Adopted Pursuant to
Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 aeCBxecutive
Officer.
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Incorporated
Incorporated by Reference
by Reference From Exhibit
From Form Number Date Filed
S-1 10.13 12/03/1(
8-K 10.14 12/11/1:
S-1 10.17 12/03/1(
8-K 10.18 04/04/1:
S-1/A 10.19 01/07/1:
S-1 10.20 12/03/1(
1C-K 10.25 03/28/1:
8-K 10.1 08/05/1:

Filed herewitt
Filed herewitt
Filed herewitt

Filed herewitt
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Incorporated

by Reference

Incorporated From Exhibit

Exhibit by Reference
Number Description From Form Number Date Filec
31.2 Certification Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350Adopted

Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley B2002 of

Chief Financial Officer Filed herewitr
32.1~ Certification Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350Adopted

Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley A2002 of

Chief Executive Officer Furnished herewi
32.2~ Certification Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350Adopted

Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley B2002 of

Chief Financial Officer Furnished herewi
101.INS** XBRL Instance Documet Furnished herewi
101.SCH** XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Docum Furnished herewi
101.CAL** XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Docutr Furnished herewi
101.DEF** XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Docurh Furnished herewi
101.LAB** XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Docume Furnished herewi
101.PRE** XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Docun Furnished herewi

#  Management contracts or compensation plans orgenaents in which directors or executive officems @ligible to participate

T Portions of the exhibit have been omitted purstman order granted by the Securities and Exoh&@wmnmission for confidential
treatment

~ In accordance with Item 601(b)(32)(ii) of RegidatS-K and SEC Release No. 33-8238 and 34-47986] Rule: Managemerg’'Report
on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting andtffieation of Disclosure in Exchange Act PeriodReports, the certifications furnisr
in Exhibits 32.1 and 32.2 hereto are deemed torapaay this Form 10-K and will not be deemed “filédf' purposes of Section 18 of 1
Exchange Act. Such certifications will not be dedrt®be incorporated by reference into any filingsler the Securities Act or the
Exchange Act, except to the extent that the remistspecifically incorporates it by referen

**  XBRL (eXtensible Business Reporting Languagdpmmation is furnished and not filed or a part akgistration statement or prospectus
for purposes of sections 11 or 12 of the Securiietsof 1933, is deemed not filed for purposesetft®on 18 of the Securities Exchange
Act of 1934, and otherwise is not subject to lidpiinder these section
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Exhibit 21.1

SUBSIDIARIES OF FLUIDIGM CORPORATION

Subsidiaries of Fluidigm Corporation (Delaware):

Fluidigm K.K. (Japan

Fluidigm Europe, B.V. (Netherland

Fluidigm Singapore Pte. Ltd. (Singapo

Fluidigm (Shanghai) Instrument Technology Compaiited (China)
Subsidiaries of Fluidigm Europe, BV (Netherlands):

Fluidigm France SARL (Franci

Fluidigm UK Limited (United Kingdom



Exhibit 23.1

Consent of Independent Registered Public Accourking

We consent to the incorporation by reference ifdllewing Registration Statements:
(1) Registration Statement (Forn-3 No. 33:-180550) of Fluidigm Corporatiol

(2) Registration Statement (Form S-8 No. 333-172p@étaining to the 1999 Stock Option Plan, 2009igqncentive Plan, and 2011
Equity Incentive Plan of Fluidigm Corporation, &

(3) Registration Statement (Forn-8 No. 33-180363) pertaining to the 2011 Equity IncentivenRd& Fluidigm Corporation

of our reports dated March 12, 2013, with respethé consolidated financial statements and sckeafufluidigm Corporation and the
effectiveness of internal control over financighoeting of Fluidigm Corporation included in this Amal Report (Form 10-K) of Fluidigm
Corporation for the year ended December 31, 2012.

/sl Ernst & Young LLP

Redwood City, California
March 12, 2013



Exhibit 31.1

CERTIFICATION OF THE PRESIDENT AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER
PURSUANT TO SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT RULES 13a-14(a) AND 15d-14(a),
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANESOXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Gajus V. Worthington, certify that:

1. I have reviewed this annual report on Forr-K of Fluidigm Corporation

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does notaiorany untrue statement of a material fact or eéonditate a material fact necessar
to make the statements made, in light of the cistances under which such statements were madmisieading with respect to
the period covered by this repc

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statementsodimer financial information included in this repdairly present in all materi
respects the financial condition, results of operstand cash flows of the registrant as of, angtfie periods presented in this
report;

4.  The registrant’s other certifying officer andre responsible for establishing and maintainirsgldsure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15&))}%(nd internal control over financial reportirag defined in Exchange Act
Rules 13-15(f) and 15-15(f)) for the registrant and hav
a. Designed such disclosure controls and proceduregused such disclosure controls and procedures tiesigned under ¢

supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the registrant, including its consolidhtubsidiaries, is made
known to us by others within those entities, pattdy during the period in which this report isfg prepared

b. Designed such internal control over financial réipgr;, or caused such internal control over finah@aorting to be designe
under our supervision, to provide reasonable assareegarding the reliability of financial repodiand the preparation of
financial statements for external purposes in ataoce with generally accepted accounting princiy

C. Evaluated the effectiveness of the registradisslosure controls and procedures and presentiisineport our conclusions
about the effectiveness of the disclosure contintsprocedures, as of the end of the period cousyeldis report based on
such evaluation; an

d. Disclosed in this report any change in the tegid's internal control over financial reportirtat occurred during the
registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the regists fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an aimaport) that has materially
affected, or is reasonably likely to materiallyeadtf, the registra’s internal control over financial reporting; &

5.  The registrant’s other certifying officer anddve disclosed, based on our most recent evaluatimternal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and theitacmmmittee of the registrant’s board of direct(@spersons performing the
equivalent functions)

a. All significant deficiencies and material weagses in the design or operation of internal cortvelr financial reporting
which are reasonably likely to adversely affectrdgistrant’s ability to record, process, summaaizd report financial
information; anc

b. Any fraud, whether or not material, that invalvaanagement or other employees who have a signifiole in the
registran’'s internal control over financial reportir

Date: March 12, 2013 By: /s/ Gajus V. Worthingto

Gajus V. Worthingtor
President and Chief Executive Offic



Exhibit 31.2

CERTIFICATION OF THE CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER
PURSUANT TO SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT RULES 13a-14(a)AND 15d-14(a),
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANESOXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Vikram Jog, certify that:
1. I have reviewed this annual report on Forr-K of Fluidigm Corporation

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does notaiorany untrue statement of a material fact or eonditate a material fact necessan
to make the statements made, in light of the cistarnces under which such statements were madmisieading with respect to
the period covered by this repc

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statementsoéimer financial information included in this repdairly present in all materi
respects the financial condition, results of operatand cash flows of the registrant as of, amdtfe periods presented in this
report;

4.  The registrant’s other certifying officer andrke responsible for establishing and maintainiisgldsure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15&))%nd internal control over financial reportirag defined in Exchange Act
Rules 13-15(f) and 15-15(f)) for the registrant and hav

a. Designed such disclosure controls and proceduresiused such disclosure controls and procedures tiesigned under ¢
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the registrant, including its consolidhtibsidiaries, is made
known to us by others within those entities, pattidy during the period in which this report isifge prepared

b. Designed such internal control over financial réipgr, or caused such internal control over finahi@gorting to be designe
under our supervision, to provide reasonable assareegarding the reliability of financial repogiand the preparation of
financial statements for external purposes in atauce with generally accepted accounting princijy

C. Evaluated the effectiveness of the registratisslosure controls and procedures and presenteisineport our conclusions
about the effectiveness of the disclosure contints procedures, as of the end of the period coveyehis report based on
such evaluation; an

d. Disclosed in this report any change in the tegig's internal control over financial reportirgat occurred during the
registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the regigts fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an aimaport) that has materially
affected, or is reasonably likely to materiallyeaft, the registra’s internal control over financial reporting; &

5.  The registrant’s other certifying officer anddve disclosed, based on our most recent evaluatimernal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and theitacmmmittee of the registrant’s board of direct@spersons performing the
equivalent functions)

a. All significant deficiencies and material weagses in the design or operation of internal corttvelr financial reporting
which are reasonably likely to adversely affectrigistrant’s ability to record, process, summasiad report financial
information; anc

b. Any fraud, whether or not material, that invaweanagement or other employees who have a signifiole in the
registran’s internal control over financial reportir

Date: March 12, 2013 By: /s/ Vikram Jog
Vikram Jog
Chief Financial Office




Exhibit 32.1
CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. § 1350, AS ADOPTED PURSUANTO SECTION 906
OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Gajus V. Worthington, the chief executive offied Fluidigm Corporation (the “Company”), certifgr the purposes of 18 U.S.C.
Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 9€¢&dBarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that, to the bésty knowledge,

(i) the Annual Report of the Company on Form 10eKthe fiscal year ended December 31, 2012 (th@o6R®, fully complies
with the requirements of section 13(a) or 15(djhef Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amendeat]; an

(ii) the information contained in the Report faigyesents, in all material respects, the finanmaldition and results of operations
the Company.
By: /s/ Gajus V. Worthington
Gajus V. Worthingtor
President and Chief Executive Officer

Date: March 12, 201



Exhibit 32.2

CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER
PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. § 1350, AS ADOPTED PURSUANTO SECTION 906
OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Vikram Jog, the chief financial officer of Flugin Corporation (the “Company”), certify for therposes of 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as
adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanesy@dt of 2002, that, to the best of my knowledge,

(i) the Annual Report of the Company on Form 10eKthe fiscal year ended December 31, 2012 (th@o6R®, fully complies
with the requirements of section 13(a) or 15(djhef Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amendet]; an

(ii) the information contained in the Report faigyesents, in all material respects, the finanmaldition and results of operations
the Company.
By: /s/ Vikram Jog
Vikram Jog
Chief Financial Office

Date: March 12, 201



